
4 January 2019

Dear Sir/Madam

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Meeting of the Council at which your attendance is 
requested, will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, FORDE HOUSE, BRUNEL 
ROAD, NEWTON ABBOT, TQ12 4XX on Monday, 14th January, 2019 at 10.30 am 
(or on the rising of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, if later) in the Council 
Chamber to transact business specified in the Agenda as set out.

Phil Shears
Head of Paid Service

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination or interests in 
items on this Agenda, please contact the Monitoring Officer in advance of the 

meeting

To: The Chairman and Members of Teignbridge District Council

A G E N D A 

Part I
(Open to the Public)

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)
To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the previous Council 
meeting. 

Public Document Pack



3. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - Exclusion of Press and Public 
It is considered that the Committee would be unlikely to exclude the press and 
public during consideration of any of the items on the agenda, but if it should wish to 
do so, the following resolution should be passed:-

RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of the 
particular item(s) on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 
the Act

4. Chairman's announcements 

5. Declarations of interest 

6. Public questions session under Council Procedure Rule 4.5(j) (if any) 

7. Councillor questions under Council Procedure Rule 4.5(k) (if any) 

8. Notices of motion under Council Procedure Rule 4.5(l) (if any) 

9. Call-in of Executive decision Public Spaces Protection Order for Dog Control in 
Teignbridge (Pages 5 - 14)
To consider the call in of the Executive Decision 4 December, Public Spaces 
Protection Order for Dog Control in Teignbridge by Councillor Dewhirst, and 
supported by Councillors Connett, Cook, Cox, Eden, Evans, Hayes, Hocking, G 
Hook, J Hook, Keeling, Morgan, Nutley, Parker, Rollason and Wrigley.

To examine the decision to have only four as the maximum number of dogs on a 
lead in the light of the decision by East Devon District Council, the comments from 
the Kennel Club, the Dogs Trust and the Peoples Dispensary for Sick Animals and 
numerous disparaging comments from dog walkers across the Teignbridge District.

10. Heart of the South West Joint Committee (Pages 15 - 30)
To consider the Heart of the South West – Joint Committee – update report.

11. Council Tax Base 2019/20 (Pages 31 - 34)
To consider the Council Tax Base 2019/20 report.

12. Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2019/20 (Pages 35 - 54)
To consider the Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2019/20.

13. Council Tax Premium for long term empty (Pages 55 - 64)
To consider the Council Tax Premium for long term empty report.



14. Wolborough Development Plan Document (Pages 65 - 160)
To consider the Wolborough Development Plan Document report.

15. Scheme of Members' Allowances and Members' IT (Pages 161 - 174)
To consider the Scheme of Members’ Allowances and Members’ IT report.

16. The Chairman will announce: 
“That the Common Seal of the Council be affixed to any document or documents 
necessary to give effect to the resolutions passed by the Council at this meeting.”



This page is intentionally left blank



155

FULL COUNCIL

19 NOVEMBER 2018

Present:

Councillors Kerswell (Chairman), Keeling (Vice-Chairman), Austen, Bullivant, 
Christophers, Clarance, Clemens, Connett, Cook, Cox, Dennis, Dewhirst, Eden, 
Evans, Fusco, Golder, Goodey, Gribble, Haines, Hayes, Hocking, 
J Hook (was Brodie), G Hook, Jeffery, Lake, Matthews, Mayne, Morgan, Nutley, 
Orme, Parker, Peart, Prowse, Rollason, Russell, Smith, Thorne, Winsor and Wrigley

Apologies:
Councillors Barker, Bromell, Colclough, Hockin, Jones and Pilkington

Officers in Attendance:
Phil Shears, Managing Director
Sarah Selway, Democratic Services Manager (Exeter City Council)

232.  MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 October 2018 were received, and subject 
to the inclusion of Councillor J Hook as in attendance and the following 
amendment to minute 200

‘Councillor Clemens read out a press article from Councillor Connett regarding 
the size of the Country Park planned at Exminster in which Councillor Connett 
had stated that it was the Council’s intention to cut back the size of the park and 
open space.

Councillor Clemens refuted this claim and stated that the decisions regarding the 
size of Country Park were made when the Local Plan was adopted and, 
subsequently in 2014, when the South West Exeter master plan was approved 
safeguarding 70 hectares of which 39 are needed currently to mitigate the 
impact of current development plans.’

It was proposed by Councillor Cox, seconded by Councillor Hook that the 
minutes were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

233.  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Chairman commented how well supported the Remembrance Parade and 
Service in Newton Abbot had been.

1

Agenda Item 2



Full Council (19.11.2018)

156

234.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

235.  COUNCILLOR MIKE PILKINGTON 

The Council wished Councillor Mike Pilkington a speedy recovery.

236.  COUNCILLOR QUESTIONS UNDER COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 4.5(K) 

Question submitted by Councillor J Hook:-

I refer to the recent decision of the Ombudsman, in favour of MR X, relating 
to the enforcement action taken against the unauthorised junction at 
Larkspur Drive with Mile End Rd.

The Ombudsman concluded that "the Council's delay and lack of 
incisiveness in dealing with the unauthorised access amounts to fault", 
and the Council has let the matter "drift". I have also been chasing for the 
last couple of years for action on this and other matters relating to the 
discharge of a condition to ensure the management of open space and the 
provision of allotments, on the Persimmon's part of the Hele Park 
development. Can the PH for Planning and Housing tell us what action 
he has taken as a result of the Ombudsman decision to ensure these 2 
outstanding matters are now resolved in a prompt manner? We are seeing 
more and more houses built and our Enforcement staff resource is clearly 
stretched. Is not the Ombudsman decision a further indication that we 
need another full time Enforcement Officer in order to fulfil our statutory 
duties.
 
Answer by the Portfolio Holder for Housing & Planning 

We acknowledge that the combined enforcement and planning process led to 
delays in the Mile End Road case, however the Team does not expect these 
circumstances to be repeated as we are trying to take a more pro-active 
approach to resolving enforcement cases.

Our Planning Enforcement Policy is published online.  

We cannot take enforcement action in relation to cases where planning 
applications remain undecided as this would be unreasonable.
We can only take action where it is expedient and/ or in the public interest to do 
so.

Since the Ombudsman’s decision planning permission has been refused for the 
retention of the access and an Enforcement Notice has been issued. However, 
an appeal has been submitted against the Enforcement Notice which means it is 
currently pending the outcome of the appeal. We are waiting for a start date for 
the appeal.

2



Full Council (19.11.2018)

157

The final pieces of information in relation to the provision of the allotments at 
Hele Park have been submitted and we hope to agree the details shortly.  I 
understand an overarching management company is in place for the open 
spaces and the spaces are being regularly maintained.

To overcome the particular problems of major development sites the Council 
amended its adopted Planning Enforcement Policy to include monitoring visits to 
the larger sites. These include the Case Officer, the Developer and the Ward 
Councillor and have started taking place in relation to the Linden Homes scheme 
at Whitehill. These visits should spot concerns early so that remedies can be 
agreed before development has proceeded too far. It is hoped that this will help 
prevent long delays in dealing with any issues. 

Resources and Benchmarking

Whilst I am sure the team would welcome additional resources, I do not consider 
that this was the reason for the delay in dealing with the Mile End case. 

The Enforcement Team deal with between 450 and 500 complaints each year 
and the vast majority of these are dealt with quickly. However, one or two 
complaints may take longer than we would all hope. 

Two years ago, the previous Business Manager undertook some benchmarking 
work in relation to the size and capacity of the enforcement team.

This showed a remarkably consistent number of cases being received each 
year.  It also showed that, compared to nearby authorities, our Officers deal with 
a similar number of cases each, each year.  

There is not considered to be a need for additional resource at this time however 
it is critical to the effectiveness of the team that decisions continue to be made in 
a timely manner and that the twin principles of expediency and acting in the 
public interest are upheld.

Supplementary question
In response Councillor J Hook asked a supplementary question regarding the 
lack of resources in the enforcement team, the Portfolio Holder for Planning & 
Housing commented that he would encourage Members to get involved and visit 
those major planning developments in their areas. 

237.  GAMBLING ACT 2005 - REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 

The Portfolio Holder for Health & Well-Being presented the report to consider the 
recommendation from the Executive to approve the Gambling Act 2005 – 
Statement of Principles. She stated that the Council was required to prepare and 
keep under review a statement of the principles which it proposed to apply when 
exercising its functions every three years. The additions included the 

3



Full Council (19.11.2018)

158

safeguarding of children and adaptation of premises to ensure that there was no 
direct access for gambling.  

It was proposed by the Portfolio Holder for Health & Well-Being, Councillor 
Russell and seconded by the Leader, Councillor Christophers. The proposal was 
carried by 38 votes for, with one abstention. 

RESOLVED the Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles be approved.

238.  COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 

The Leader referred to the report circulated regarding the updating of the Committee 
political balance figures following the resignation of a Councillor. 

It was proposed by the Leader, Councillor Christophers and seconded by Councillor 
G Hook and unanimously

RESOLVED that the allocation of seats for the committee places be approved as 
set out in the circulated report and that appointments and substitute Members be 
approved as advised by the Group Leaders. 

239.  THE CHAIRMAN WILL ANNOUNCE: 

RESOLVED

That the Common Seal of the Council be affixed to any document(s) necessary to give 
effect to the resolutions passed by the Council at this meeting.

Chairman

4



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

COUNCIL
CHAIRMAN: Cllr Avril Kerswell

DATE: 14th January 2019

REPORT OF: David Eaton, Environmental Protection Manager
and Cllr Sylvia Russell Portfolio Holder for Health and 
Wellbeing

SUBJECT: Call In - Implementation of a Public Spaces Protection 
Order for responsible dog ownership

PART I 

RECOMMENDATION

That the Council is recommended to consider the call in and 

(1) Consider and approve the implementation of a Public Space Protection 
Order (PSPO) for Responsible Dog Ownership under ss59 to 75 of the Anti-
Social Crime and Policing Act 2014 taking into account the call in; 

(2) Authorise the Council’s Solicitor to draft and make the order. 

(3) Authorise the Council’s Environmental Protection Manager to issue fixed 
penalty notices under the PSPO.

1. PURPOSE

On the 4th December 2018 the Executive considered the recommendations of 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and resolved to approve the 
implementation of a Public Spaces Protection Order for responsible dog 
ownership.  In particular the Executive decided to limit the number of dogs 
walked by one individual to four dogs in a public open space.

2. BACKGROUND

The reason for the call in of the Executive decision is;

To examine the decision to have only four as the maximum number of dogs on 
a lead in the light of the decision by East Devon District Council, the 
comments from the Kennel Club, the Dogs Trust and the Peoples Dispensary 
for Sick Animals and numerous disparaging comments from dog walkers 
across the Teignbridge District. 

5

Agenda Item 9



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

3. IMPLICATIONS 

A PSPO would introduce a clear and simple set of rules that all dog owners 
would need to comply with across the Teignbridge district. Enforcement would 
be targeted and graduated to ensure that the irresponsible dog owner is dealt 
with.

4. TIME-SCALE

The order lasts for not more than three years. It can be extended under s60 
(2) by the Council if it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that it is necessary to 
extend the order to prevent:
 Occurrence or recurrence after that time of the activities identified in the 

order, or
 An increase in the frequency or seriousness of those activities after that 

time.
The PSPO can also be discharged and varied by the Council.

5. JUSTIFICATION

The order is required to effectively tackle irresponsible dog ownership within 
the Teignbridge District.

6. DATE OF IMPLEMENTATION 

1 April 2019.

David Eaton
Environmental Protection Manager

Cllr Sylvia Russell
Portfolio Holder for Health and
Wellbeing

BELOW TO BE FILLED IN BY THE REPORT AUTHOR:

Wards affected All
Contact for any more information David Eaton 01626 215064
Background Papers (For Part I reports only) None
Key Decision Y 
In Forward Plan Y 
In O&S Work Programme Y Part of the Council Strategy
Community Impact Assessment attached: N Completed for the Council Strategy and the 

proposed controls prior to the consultation
Appendices attached: A:  Executive Report 4th December 2018

B:  Draft Executive Minutes 4th December 2018

6



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE
LEADER:  Cllr Jeremy Christophers                                                PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  Cllr Sylvia Russell

DATE: 4th December 2018

REPORT OF: David Eaton
Environmental Protection Manager

SUBJECT: Call In - Implementation of a Public Spaces Protection 
Order for responsible dog ownership

PART I 

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is asked to resolve the following recommendations:- 

(1) Consider and approve the implementation of a Public Space Protection 
Order (PSPO) for Responsible Dog Ownership under ss59 to 75 of the Anti-
Social Crime and Policing Act 2014, taking into account the recommendations 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 19th November 2018 below;

(a) That the number of dogs that any one individual can walk at any one 
time be a maximum of six.

(b) That the annual period of restriction on beaches be reconsidered. 

(2) Authorise the Council’s Solicitor to draft and make the order. 

(3) Authorise the Council’s Environmental Protection Manager to issue fixed 
penalty notices under the PSPO.

1. PURPOSE

Reconsider the Executive Decision on 30 October 2018 on the Public Spaces 
Protection Order for Dog Control in Teignbridge which was called in by Councillor 
Cox and supported by Councillors Connett, Dewhirst, Eden, Nutley and Wrigley.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Minutes of Executive 30th October 2018

The Environmental Protection Manager presented the report on the Implementation
of a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for responsible dog ownership.  
Members were advised on the purpose of a PSPO and of the two conditions that

7



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

the local authority must be satisfied on reasonable grounds that are met. An officer
working group had reviewed the project and there had been an extensive
consultation. The eight suggested controls were outlined, these included existing
control, improvements on existing controls and new controls. Members were
advised that there was no specific statutory guidance to assist when setting a
restriction on the number of dogs that could be walked by a single individual on or
off a lead. Members were asked to recommend setting the restriction on the
number of dogs and attention was brought to the comments in the consultation on
this matter and the responses from interested organisations.

During discussion, Members raised the following points:-
 Should the seasonal dog exclusion date commence from 1 April on

beaches? Not just Dawlish Warren Beach
 The majority of dog owners were responsible it was just those few

irresponsible owners that caused the issues
 How would enforcement be undertaken and by whom?
 How would public evidence of an offence be acted on?
 There was an issue with dogs being left to roam
 Dog fouling was a real issue in the parishes across the District
 Concerns about working dogs in rural areas; these should be excluded
 What about the existing bye laws?
 How were children play areas defined?
 There was an issue with dog walkers putting dog faeces in bags and

hanging on hedges in rural areas
 The maximum number of dogs on a lead should be four.

The Environmental Protection Manager clarified the following:-
 cycle paths, both those adjacent and not adjacent to a Highway, would be

covered by the PSPO
 The three Community Environment Wardens would undertake the role of

enforcement
 Complaints could be reported on-line
 Hotspots would be targeted
 Walking patterns of offenders would be identified
 Recording of car number plates would help to trace offenders - this would be

a non-confrontational way of reporting an offence
 The existing bye laws would remain in place
 Would investigate if Dawlish Town Council Water Fowl Wardens would be

able to enforce the PSPO
 There would be a publicity plan to make the public aware of the order and its

contents
 The Community Environment Wardens work patterns do vary to cover

different times of the day to address issues.

Executive Members discussed the seasonal dog exclusion dates on the beaches,
the needs for signage to be clear and the number of dogs that could be walked by a
single individual.

8



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

RESOLVED that the:-
(1) implementation of a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) for Responsible
Dog Ownership under ss59 to 75 of the Anti-Social Crime and Policing Act
2014 be approved subject to the inclusion of:-

 Cycle paths to be added as a highway
 working dogs to be added to the existing list of exemptions - farm dogs

moving livestock on the highway are not expected to be on a lead
 the maximum number of dogs permissible on or off a lead with a single

individual to be four;
(2) Council’s Solicitor be authorised to draft and make the Order;
(3) Council’s Environmental Protection Manager be authorised to issue fixed
penalty notices under the PSPO; and
(4) seasonal dog exclusion areas on beaches from 1 April to 30 September be
approved. This to be reviewed in 12 months.

2.2 Minutes of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 19th November 2018

Consideration was given to the call-in of an Executive decision made on 30 October 
2018 relating to the Public Spaces Protection Order for Dog Control in Teignbridge. 
The decision seeks the implementation of a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) 
for Responsible Dog Ownership under ss59 to 75 of the Anti-Social Crime and 
Policing Act 2014.

The decision has been called in by Councillor Cox and supported by Councillors 
Connett, Dewhirst, Eden, Nutley and Wrigley.  Councillor Cox’s reasons for call-in 
are: 

1. To clarify the Executive’s proposals to extend the dog ban on Ness Beach and 
Holcombe Beach as it now seems they were included in error. 
 
2. To examine the decision to have only four as the maximum number of dogs on a 
lead in the light of the decision by East Devon District Council and the comments 
from the Kennel Club, the Dogs Trust and the Peoples Dispensary for Sick Animals.

Since the Executive meeting on 30 October 2018 there has been a large
public response to the decision. Members in considering the call-in should note the 
number of responses to the decision balanced with the number of people who 
responded to the consultation. The Environmental Protection Manager gave an 
update of the number of correspondence received which amounted to approximately 
180, and a summary of the key points.   

The consultation with the public covered maintaining the existing seasonal dog 
exclusion areas. The Ness Beach and Holcombe Beach are not covered by the 
existing seasonal dog ban. It was not the intention that the PSPO restricted access to 
these beaches. 
                
The Executive report detailed the outcome of the public consultation and included a 
number of comments from interested organisations. Overall the consultation results 
did not provide a consensus on the number of dogs a single individual should walk.  

9



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

In support of the call-in, Councillor Cox submitted that six was an acceptable number 
of dogs for any one individual to walk. The support for this was that this would be 
consistent with East Devon District Council, public liability insurance covers six dogs, 
for many dog walking businesses this is their only income and limiting the number of 
dogs to four could result in their businesses folding. He added that a Review Group 
should be set up to work with responsible dog owners/walkers, to identify volunteers 
to assist the Council wardens in engaging with offending and irresponsible dog 
owners/walkers to become more responsible, keep their dogs under control, and 
always clear up dog faeces from the dogs for which they have responsibility. 

The period of the dog ban on beaches for inclusion in the PSPO was not part of the 
call-in. However the Chairman agreed that this issue could be discussed. 

In response to a question on the details of the PSPO at agenda page 14, the 
Environmental Protection Manager advised that the ‘reasonable excuse’ under (i) of 
the heading No more than ‘x’ dogs, would be at the officer’s discretion. 
In response to further questions, the Environmental Protection Manager advised that 
highways, cycle paths, and Dawlish Warren Nature Reserve were included in the 
PSPO. 

Resolved

That the following recommendations from this Committee be referred to Executive:-
(c) That the number of dogs that any one individual can walk at any one time be a 

maximum of six.
(d) That the annual period of restriction on beaches be reconsidered. 

That a Review Group be set up to primarily work with responsible dog 
owners/walkers, to identify volunteers to assist the Council wardens in engaging with 
offending and irresponsible dog owners/walkers to become more responsible, keep 
their dogs under control, and always clear up dog faeces from the dogs for which 
they have responsibility, and review the implementation of the PSPO in the first 12 
months. 

2.3 CLARIFICATION 

In reconsidering the restriction on the number of dogs that can be walked by a single 
individual, members should be aware of the results of the public consultation.  This 
showed that 57% of those consulted were in agreement with this control, 30% of 
those consulted disagreed with this control and 13% of those consulted didn’t know.

Of those in agreement with this control the consultation results did not provide a 
consensus on the number of dogs a single individual should walk. 

Number Number Percentage
3 588 50%
4 267 23%
5 24 2%
6 18 2%
Other 272 23%

10



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

It is also worth noting that 63% of those responding to the consultation were either a 
dog owner or walker.

The original consultation of the Seasonal Dog Exclusion Areas (Beaches) was based 
on the existing controls that between 

 1 May and 30 September or 
 1 April and 30 September in Dawlish Warren 

a person in charge of a dog shall not take a dog onto, or permit a dog to enter or to 
remain on, any beach designated as a dog ban area.  Appendix 4 contains the 
specific details of the controls that currently exist.  96% of those consulted were in 
agreement with this control.

3. MAIN IMPLICATIONS

A PSPO would introduce a clear and simple set of rules that all dog owners would 
need to comply with across the Teignbridge district.  Enforcement would be targeted 
and graduated to ensure that the irresponsible dog owner is dealt with.

4. TIME-SCALE

The order lasts for not more than three years. It can be extended under s60 (2) by 
the Council if it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that it is necessary to extend the 
order to prevent: 

 Occurrence or recurrence after that time of the activities identified in the order, 
or 

 An increase in the frequency or seriousness of those activities after that time. 

The PSPO can also be discharged and varied by the Council. 

5. JUSTIFICATION

The order is required to effectively tackle irresponsible dog ownership within the 
Teignbridge District.

6. DATE OF IMPLEMENTATION (CONFIRMATION OF DECISION SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN)

10.00 a.m. on 11 December 2018

David Eaton
Environmental Protection Manager

Cllr Sylvia Russell
Portfolio Holder for Health and 
Wellbeing

11



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Wards affected All
Contact for any more information David Eaton 01626 215064

Sarah Selway 01626 215159
Background Papers (For Part I reports only) None
Key Decision Y 
In Forward Plan Y 
In O&S Work Programme Y Part of the Council Strategy
Community Impact Assessment attached: N – Completed for the Council Strategy and the 

proposed controls prior to the Consultation.
Appendices attached: 1. Executive Report dated 30th October 2018

2. Draft Public Spaces Protection Order Controls
3. Consultation Summary
4. Existing Seasonal Dog Exclusion Areas on 

beaches

12



Extract Executive Minutes 4 December 2018

279. CALL-IN OF EXECUTIVE DECISION PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION 
ORDER FOR DOG CONTROL IN TEIGNBRIDGE 

The Portfolio Holder for Health & Well-Being presented the report on the Call-in of 
Executive decision Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for Dog Control in 
Teignbridge.

During discussion, Members raised the following points:-

 Executive should consider allowing six dogs to be walked at any one time as 
any less could affect dog walking businesses

 The review group should not be limited to the two items as recommended
 There were beaches in the district that enabled dog walking all year round

In response to Members, the Environmental Protection Manager clarified that there 
were 59 ‘home boarding’ establishments and 14 animal boarding establishments in 
the District. He stated that guidance from Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs published on 30 November 2018 stated that, for home boarding 
establishments and doggie day care providers, up to six dogs could be walked at any 
one time. The Council could not licence the person only the premises with respect to 
dog walking. 

The Leader proposed that Overview & Scrutiny Committee set up a Review Group to 
monitor the PSPO which should include the number of dogs, the seasonal beach 
ban, if the PSPO makes it easier for the council to take action with regards to dog 
fouling and enforcement officers wearing body cameras to collect evidence.

Executive Members supported their previous decision to limit the maximum number 
of dogs that any one individual can walk at any one time to four, the seasonal 
beaches restriction to be 1 April to 30 September and that Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee establish a PSPO Review Group. 

RESOLVED that:-

13



(1) implementation of a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) for Responsible 
Dog Ownership under ss59 to 75 of the Anti-Social Crime and Policing Act 
2014 be approved, subject to the inclusion of:

 That the number of dogs that any one individual can walk at any one 
time be a maximum of four.

 That the seasonal dog exclusion areas on beaches be 1 April to 30 
September;

(2)    the Council’s Solicitor be authorised to draft and make the order;

(3)   the Council’s Environmental Protection Manager be authorised to issue fixed 
penalty notices under the PSPO; and 

(4) Overview & Scrutiny Committee establish a review group to monitor the PSPO 
particularly in relation to:-

 The maximum number of dog that can be walked at any one time;
 The seasonal dog exclusion areas on beaches;
 The use of body cameras by enforcement officers;
 Government Guidance; 
 Insurance regulations.

14



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

1

COUNCIL
CHAIRMAN: Cllr Avril Kerswell

DATE: 14 January 2019

REPORT OF: Managing Director and Leader

SUBJECT: Heart of the South West – Joint Committee – Council 
Update

PART I 

RECOMMENDATION

Recommendations: That Full Council resolve to:-

(a) Note the progress report setting out the work of the Heart of the South 
West (HotSW) Joint Committee since its establishment in March 2018;

(b) Agree to delegate the development and endorsement of the HotSW Local 
Industrial Strategy (LIS) to the HotSW Joint Committee (noting that final 
approval of the HotSWLIS rests with the HotSW Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and the Government);

(c) Note the Budget statement for 2018/19 set out in Appendix B and that in 
accordance with the decisions taken at the time the Committee was 
established the Council will be asked to make an annual budgetary 
provision to meet the support costs of the Joint Committee in line with 
the 2018/19 contribution.  Final clarification on any additional 2019/20 
budget requirement will be provided following the completion of the 
review of the Joint Committee’s role, function and management support 
arrangements and development of its work programme for 2019/20.

(d) To agree the Budget and Cost-sharing Agreement set out in Appendix B 
to this report.
  

1. Introduction and summary

1.1 In January 2018, the HotSW Joint Committee was formally established by the 
councils and organisations involved since 2015 in the devolution partnership.  The 
Committee is tasked with improving productivity across the HotSW area in 
collaboration with the HotSW LEP and other organisations as necessary.   

15

Agenda Item 10



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

2

  
1.2 The Committee has met formally three times in 2018, in March, June and 
October.   In addition to this the management structure that sits behind the Committee 
and involves Chief Executives and senior officers from across the partnership has met 
regularly to drive the business of the Committee.    The Committee is chaired by Cllr 
David Fothergill, Leader of Somerset County Council and the Vice-Chair is Cllr John 
Tucker, Leader of South Hams District Council. 

1.3 This report summarises the progress made by the Committee over recent 
months in key areas of activity and sets out actions proposed in the coming months. 
As part of this report there are specific recommendations for the constituent authorities 
to consider.  

2. Key achievements

2.1 At each of our meetings the Committee has been briefed on recent inward 
investment successes achieved through the work of the local authorities and the LEP 
and it is these successes that we wish to add to through the work of the Joint 
Committee.   

(a) Influencing government
The partnership’s original focus in 2015 was to explore opportunities on offer 
through devolution to improve productivity.   Since the Committee was created   
the influencing role has continued to be central to the work of the Joint 
Committee and recent months have seen successes in this area.  Government 
policy changes and Brexit have required the partnership to be flexible to present 
a united front to Government and respond to the changes.   As an example, the 
Government has increasingly moved away from its devolution policy approach 
of 2015 and the partnership is now engaged in more flexible and targeted 
dialogues with Government.   This approach is proving successful so 
demonstrating the benefits of presenting a single compelling partnership vision 
between the business and public sectors.   The Committee is keen to 
demonstrate its ability to deliver Government objectives as well as local 
priorities so accessing help beyond our boundaries is critical to the success of 
the partnership. It is already apparent that the Joint Committee / LEP 
Partnership carries a critical mass that the Government is responding to 
through policy announcements and on-going dialogue with Government 
officials.   The most significant announcement is the recent inclusion of the 
HotSW LEP area in wave 2 of developing Local Industrial Strategies (LIS).  This 
success is due in large part to the close alignment of the Joint Committee and 
the LEP on the Productivity Strategy [see (b) below].  Much of the activity 
detailed below has resulted directly from discussions with Government.  

16



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

3

 
(b) Approval of the HotSW Productivity Strategy

(i) In March the Committee and the LEP Board agreed a challenging HotSW 
Productivity Strategy which set an ambition of “Doubling the size of the 
Heart of the South West’s economy over 20 years” with a vision of 
“Productivity and prosperity for all”.   

(ii) The Strategy identifies three strategic themes to improve productivity by 
strengthening and developing: 

a. the leadership and ideas within businesses in our area

b.  the housing, connectivity and infrastructure our people and 
businesses rely on for living, moving goods, accessing jobs and 
training, and exploiting new opportunities. 

c. the ability of people in our area to work, learn and improve their 
skills in a rapidly changing global economy, and to maximise their 
economic potential.

(iii) In addition, there are three cross-cutting themes, referred to throughout 
the Strategy:

a. Inclusive growth for our people, communities and places

b. Capitalising on our distinctive assets

c. Maximising the potential from digital technology

The Strategy can be viewed at:
https://heartofswlep.co.uk/about-the-lep/how-we-work/productivity-strategy/

(c) Endorsement of the Delivery Plan.   This document is key to the delivery of 
the Productivity Strategy and will be further developed as explained below. It 
is a live action plan that will be used to track performance locally and may 
also form the basis of annual progress reports to Government, as required 
under the recent national review of LEPs.   It is broadly divided into two 
sections – a ‘core offer’ focussing on programmes that deliver Business 
Support and Employment and Skills, as well as ‘enablers’ including housing 
delivery, transport, and other infrastructure that is essential to support 
economic growth. These activities apply across the whole of the HotSW area. 
A further section focuses on programmes of activity linked to the agreed set of 
‘opportunities’ that are specific to the HotSW area. The Plan incorporates  
current as well as future, planned activity, and is being produced in stages 
depending on how well developed the programmes of activity for each theme 
are. The current version features the opportunities that are at the most 

17

https://heartofswlep.co.uk/about-the-lep/how-we-work/productivity-strategy/


 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

4

advanced stage, namely: Digital (Photonics); Advanced Engineering (marine 
and nuclear); High Value Tourism; Farming, Fishing and Food.  By spring 
2019 it will be expanded to include: Healthy Ageing; further Digital (Creative 
and Big Data); Advanced Engineering (aerospace); Construction; and 
Defence.  Place markers have also been included for inclusive growth and 
natural capital to be developed as part of the next phase of work.   The 
current version of the Delivery Plan can be viewed at: 
http://democracy.somerset.gov.uk/documents/s8210/HotSW%20JC%205.10.
18%20-%20Item%207.0a%20-%20Draft%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf

(d) An Opportunities Prospectus has been extracted from the Delivery Plan and 
will be used with local MPs, Ministers and senior Government officials as part 
of continuing to raise the profile of the HotSW area at a critical time ahead of 
the 2019 Spending Review and the anticipated launch of the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund towards the end of 2019. The document will be circulated to 
MPs prior to the Chancellor’s autumn statement as part of the influencing 
approach. To ensure that the Prospectus document has some longevity, the 
key strategic ‘asks’ of Government have been set out in a covering letter, jointly 
signed by the Chairs of the Joint Committee and the LEP.  As we develop the 
Delivery Plan, further asks will emerge and be submitted to Ministers. The list 
of asks submitted in October is attached as Appendix A to this report.   The 
Prospectus document can be viewed at:
http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/HotSW-
Opportunities-Prospectus-October-2018.pdf

(e) Housing is a key enabling opportunity for the Joint Committee.  Following a 
housing audit to gauge Local Plan progress on targets and delivery rates, a 
HotSW Housing Summit was held in September with key agencies including 
Homes England.   The outcome of this successful event was an agreement to 
work closely with Homes England to develop a bespoke package of offers and 
asks with Government which will help us to successfully deliver the ambitious 
housing programmes we have across our area. A Housing Sector Task Force 
of strategic leaders and officers has been established to develop our 
proposition to Government and to work with Homes England which will report 
to the Joint Committee.

(f) National Infrastructure Commission (NIC)
The Joint Committee is seeking to secure a growth corridor study following 
helpful discussions with the NIC. Initial discussions with the Chair of the 
Commission were well received and the Joint Committee was encouraged to 
submit a business case to the Chancellor who will ultimately make a decision 
as to whether to fund a study. A proposal was submitted to the Chancellor in 

18

http://democracy.somerset.gov.uk/documents/s8210/HotSW%20JC%205.10.18%20-%20Item%207.0a%20-%20Draft%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
http://democracy.somerset.gov.uk/documents/s8210/HotSW%20JC%205.10.18%20-%20Item%207.0a%20-%20Draft%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/HotSW-Opportunities-Prospectus-October-2018.pdf
http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/HotSW-Opportunities-Prospectus-October-2018.pdf


 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

5

October. The study would be similar to the one conducted by the NIC for 
Cambridge-Milton Keynes-Oxford. It would help the HotSW partnership to 
better understand the constraints to higher levels of productivity by highlighting 
where investment in strategic infrastructure could unlock faster growth over the 
long term. The initial focus for the study would be along the A38/M5 transport 
spine, recognising that investment would have benefits for the whole of the 
HotSW area and wider south west.   

(g) Brexit Resilience Opportunities Group.   The Joint Committee has consistently 
lobbied Government that any powers that move back from the EU under Brexit 
must not stop at Whitehall.   This senior officer group was established by the 
Joint Committee to research and advise on the opportunities and risks to the 
HotSW.  The Group has been collating evidence on some of the key risks and 
opportunities for our unique economy and has conducted research in the 
following areas:  workforce, construction industry, agriculture and land 
management; food and farming, fisheries and post Brexit funding to support the 
economy.  The Group is also collating the risk and impact analysis of Brexit on 
local government such as service delivery and community resilience.  The 
Group has fed directly into the Local Government Association briefing papers 
and to key Government departments to raise the profile of the area.  With the 
Brexit departure date looming and several ‘deal’ scenarios still possible, this 
work has become ever more important.  A Brexit Joint Regional Sounding 
Board event planned, as part of the 12th November LEP Conference, will be an 
opportunity for business and public sector to engage with Government 
representatives from Defra, BEIS, and MHCLG on preparedness.  The Group 
is working with Cornwall on issues of mutual interest and concern. 

(h) Sub-National Transport Body.  Linked to the Joint Committee’s work on 
infrastructure is the imminent establishment of a South West Peninsula Shadow 
Sub-National Transport Body (covering Somerset, Devon, Cornwall, Plymouth 
and Torbay) which will develop a sub-national Transport Strategy to work with 
Government to deliver investment in our major transport infrastructure. In the 
short-term this will be an informal partnership, however a current ‘ask’ of 
Government is that they endorse the creation of a statutory Sub-National 
Transport Body for the Peninsula, and a separate body for the South West 
around the east of the region. These two new transport bodies will provide a 
platform for strategic discussions with Government on priorities for the region 
over the long term. 

1.5 Next steps:

In addition to what is outlined above, the Joint Committee / LEP partnership 
will:

19



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

6

(a) Develop an Investment Framework for the Delivery Plan so that priorities for 
delivery and project opportunities can be delivered via investment from a 
range of sources.

(b) Review the roles and functions of both bodies through a governance review to 
acknowledge the revised and enhanced focus given to LEPs by the 
Government.   This work will include a review of the management support 
arrangements.  The Joint Committee and the LEP will continue to share 
responsibilities across the Productivity Strategy and the Delivery Plan with the 
LEP leading on areas closely linked to the LIS and the Joint Committee 
leading on other areas such as housing and infrastructure.    The need for 
close collaboration between the two has never been more important as we 
look to further influence Government policy and actions over the next 12 
months and beyond.

2. Local Industrial Strategy   

2.1 The inclusion of the HotSW LEP area in the second wave of areas to benefit 
from working with the Government to develop their Local Industrial Strategies (LIS) is 
a considerable achievement for the Joint Committee and the LEP.   The first wave 
’trailblazers’ were the urban conurbations of Greater Manchester, the West Midlands 
and Cambridge-Milton Keynes-Oxford. The partnership had been pushing to be in 
the second wave and had raised the ask with Government Ministers and officials 
over a number of months. It was therefore very welcome that HotSW was 
announced in July as being part of wave 2.

 
2.2 By working closely with Government to develop our Local Industrial Strategy 
we will be able to jointly agree the long term transformational opportunities that will 
help deliver the asks specific to our area and influence wider Government policy and 
delivery.   

2.3 Local Industrial Strategies will focus on the foundations of productivity and 
identify transformational opportunities with partners across Ideas, People, 
Infrastructure, Business Environment and Place.   The Strategy will be led by local 
people and businesses, allowing local leaders to harness the strengths of their own 
areas; ensure that the benefits of growth are realised by all; and provide the right 
conditions for improving the prosperity of communities throughout the area.

2.4  Ultimate approval of the LIS rests with the LEP in collaboration with the 
Government.   The LIS guidance requires the LEP to collaborate on the development 

20



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

7

of the LIS with a range of stakeholders including the local authorities and other 
partners. 

2.5 The LEP’s proposed timetable is to have the final LIS agreed between the LEP 
and the Government by June 2019.   Fortunately, HotSW partners are better placed 
than many areas to meet this timetable as the work done by the Joint Committee and 
the LEP to build and test the evidence base for the Productivity Strategy and Delivery 
Plan has set the foundation; the LIS will be a natural extension of this.  

2.6 The Joint Committee is ideally placed to provide both collective and council 
level input into the development of the LIS, although final approval rests with the LEP. 
The validity and positioning of the document would be immeasurably strengthened by 
the involvement and general endorsement of all the constituent authorities, and by 
other partners including the business community. To enable the development of the 
LIS to be taken forward at pace, and to demonstrate alignment with partners across 
the area, it is proposed that local authority input is developed, coordinated and signed 
off by the Joint Committee. The powers of (and delegations to) the Committee are 
tightly focussed around the Productivity Strategy under the current governance 
arrangements, so approval needs to be sought from the constituent authorities to 
formally delegate the Council’s responsibilities for contributing to and signing off the 
HotSW Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) to the Joint Committee.  The recommendations 
provide the opportunity for the Council to influence and shape the LIS as well as 
provide content.  To ensure that there is wide buy-in to the development of the LIS 
across the constituent authorities, a portfolio holder engagement event is planned for 
23 November 2018

2 Budget and Cost Sharing Agreement 

3.1 The Joint Committee has been kept informed of its budgetary position to 
provide assurance that it is operating within its budget.     This section of the report 
includes:

(a) a summary of the Committee’s current budget position for 2018/19 – page 11 -  
Appendix B 

(b) a Budget and Cost Sharing Agreement (B&CSA) which is a development of the 
Inter-Authority Agreement agreed by the constituent authorities at the time the 
Committee was established – pages 12 and 13 – Appendix B

(c) An indicative budget request for 2019/20 to the constituent authorities. 

3.2 Page 11 – Appendix B - summarises the position on the operating and support 
budget of the Committee.   It shows a variation of the income for 2018/19 expected at 
the time of the Committee’s establishment with a larger than anticipated underspend 
carried forward from the work on devolution during the 2015 to 2018 period.   This 

21



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

8

together with the contributions agreed by the constituent authorities have given the 
Committee a larger than anticipated budget for 2018/19.  

3.3 In terms of the anticipated spend for 2018/19 the current position suggests that 
the Committee will be able to operate within budget and should achieve an 
underspend to be carried forward to 2019/20 to help offset the future budget 
requirement for the Joint Committee.  The current underspend is around £40k.  It 
should be noted however that not all commitments for 2018/19 have yet been 
identified.    

3.4 At the time of the Committee’s establishment the Inter Authority Agreement 
referred to the development of a B&CSA and included some headings to be included 
within it. Pages 12 and 13 - Appendix B - set out the draft B&CSA.  It is a relatively 
simple document proportionate to the small size of the budget and the limited financial 
risk to each constituent authority.  It explains the role of the administering authority as 
well as the responsibilities of the constituent authorities. The Joint Committee has 
approved the B&CSA and all Section 151 Officers of the constituent authorities have 
been consulted on its contents.    The document now requires the formal approval of 
the constituent authorities.

3.5 In terms of the Joint Committee’s budget for 2019/20 the work programme is 
unknown at this stage although a busy year is expected for the Committee to respond 
to Government policy initiatives and to support the Delivery Plan.  To assist the 
constituent authorities to plan budget commitments for 2019/20, the minimum 
contribution levels for 2019/20 are set out below and are at the same level as for 
2018/19.  These contributions will generate sufficient budget to cover the costs of the 
administering authority to service the Joint Committee and leave a small surplus. 
Dependent on the underspend carried forward from the current year and the outcome 
of the review of the management support arrangements, this may not be sufficient to 
fully cover any additional work, for example secondments, or externally commissioned 
work.   The funding requirements will be clarified, as far as is possible, in advance of 
the 2019/20 financial year following the governance review and through a costed work 
programme and applied on a pro-rata basis.  

 County Councils - £10,500 
 Unitary Councils - £4,000 
 District Councils and National Parks £1,400 

4. Consultation, communication and engagement 

4.1 Under the Communications and Engagement Plan, members of the 
constituent authorities, partners and the public have been kept informed of 
developments with the Joint Committee through newsletters published after each 

22



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

9

formal meeting and press releases on significant issues of interest.  As we move 
towards Christmas, the Committee’s engagement plans include seeking the support 
of relevant Ministers and all local MPs for the Communications document and 
specifically our ‘asks’ of Government.   This engagement campaign will continue and 
accelerate as we move into 2019.     

4.2 In addition the Committee has a website providing background information, 
links to latest news and publications and details of the membership.    This can be 
accessed at:
http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/

5. Equality Considerations

5.1 No adverse impact on any protected groups.  

6. Public Health Considerations

6.1 There are no direct public health impacts of these recommendations.  However, 
public health considerations will be an important consideration in the development of 
the LIS recognising that there is a strong correlation between economic prosperity and 
health of the population.  

7. Risk Management Considerations

7.1 Given the participation in the Joint Committee as one of the constituent Local 
Authorities, the main risks are around failing to participate actively in this or any other 
related process, thus manifesting a failure of sub-regional or regional awareness of 
the Council’s specific economic and productivity concerns. The risk from failing to 
participate is most likely to be a loss of the Council’s influence at regional level and 
an inability to draw attention to the area’s economic needs (across such areas as 
productivity, skills, infrastructure and related inward investment).    It would also 
weaken the wider partnership proposition, so affecting the ability of the HotSW 
partnership to speak with one voice and influence Government policy for the benefit 
of the wider area and including our residents, businesses and visitors.  

8. Legal considerations

8.1 The HotSW Joint Committee is a Joint Committee of the local authorities 
across Devon and Somerset that comprise the HotSW area and established under 
Sections 101 to 103 of the Local Government Act 1972 and all other enabling 
legislation to undertake the following:

23

http://www.hotswjointcommittee.org.uk/


 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

10

8.2 The key purpose of the Joint Committee is to be the vehicle through which the 
HotSW partners will ensure that the desired increase in productivity across the area 
is achieved.  

8.3 The Committee is a single strategic public sector partnership providing 
cohesive, coherent leadership and governance to ensure delivery of the Productivity 
Strategy for the HotSW area.  The specific objectives of the Joint Committee are to:

- Improve the economy and the prospects for the region by bringing together 
the public, private and education sectors;

- Increase our understanding of the economy and what needs to be done to 
make it stronger;

- Improve the efficiency and productivity of the public sector;
- Identify and remove barriers to progress and maximise the 

opportunities/benefits available to the area from current and future 
government policy.

 
9. Financial considerations

9.1 The direct costs to the constituent authorities are set out above and in 
Appendix B. In addition to this the constituent authorities and partners continue to 
input considerable amounts of officer time into the partnership on an ‘in kind’ basis.   
The LEP continues to make a significant contribution to the work of the Committee 
and has met some direct costs. 

9.2 The constituent authorities are reminded that the Joint Committee continues 
to provide a relatively low-cost option to meet the partnership’s objectives compared 
to the Combined Authority alternative.  

10. Reason for Recommendation/Conclusion

10.1 It is essential that the local authorities contribute to the development and 
approval of the LIS working in collaboration with the LEP.   The LIS will be a natural 
development of the Productivity Strategy and Delivery Plan for which the Joint 
Committee already has delegated authority, and therefore it would seem appropriate 
to formally extend this authority to the development and approval of the LIS to the 
Joint Committee on behalf of the constituent authorities.   

10.2 It is important that the constituent authorities are kept up to date on the 
Committee’s budget situation and make provision for the 2019/20 budget 
commitment.   It is also important that the Budget and Cost Sharing Agreement is 
formally agreed by the constituent authorities as part of the Committee’s governance 
arrangements.   

24



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

11

Managing Director Cllr Jeremy Christophers
Leader

BELOW TO BE FILLED IN BY THE REPORT AUTHOR:

Wards affected All
Contact for any more information
Background Papers (For Part I reports only)
Key Decision  N
In Forward Plan  N
In O&S Work Programme  N
Community Impact Assessment attached:  N
Appendices attached: A: Heart of the South West Partnership’s key strategic asks of 

Government

B: BUDGET STATEMENT – 2018/19

APPENDIX A

Heart of the South West Partnership’s key strategic asks of Government

As part of the partnership’s increased lobbying with MPs and with reference to the 
Great South West Partnership several ‘policy asks’ of Government have been 
identified to coincide with party conferences and the Autumn Budget. These will be 
socialised over the next few months and are: 
 
1. Recognition of the Great South West Partnership in the Autumn Budget 

Statement together with a commitment to co-design a Rural Deal - a ‘Rural 
Productivity Partnership’ with GSW following publication of Rural Productivity 
Commission Report earlier in the year 

2. Strategic Connectivity 
a. Confirmation of Sub National Transport Body/ (ies)
b. Peninsula Rail priorities – e.g. commitment for funding Dawlish
c. Funding commitment for A303 improvements
d. Superfast Broadband and 5G trials
e. Joint working with the National Infrastructure Commission on an A38/M5 

corridor study to explore how we can unlock our full potential and 
accelerate growth to transform our region.

25



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

12

3. Transforming Cities and Strength in Places bids agreed 

4. EU Fisheries underspend proposal: an offer to work with Government to develop 
a proposal to utilise the projected underspend in the current EU Fisheries budget.

5. Nuclear Sector Deal (and others specifically Maritime and Defence) to have clear 
place-based elements/funding, recognising the HotSW opportunities.

6. Local Industrial Strategy specific: encourage joint working with WECA on Wave 2 
Local Industrial Strategies particularly around connectivity and Smart 
specialisations e.g. Nuclear and Aerospace.

26



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

13

APPENDIX B

BUDGET STATEMENT – 2018/19

Costs 
At the time the Joint Committee was established it was estimated that its operating 
and support costs for 2018/19 (and to cover the remainder of 2017/18) would be 
£89,000 - excluding in-kind officer support. This estimate comprised:

1. £25,000 for work the Joint Committee would wish to commission to support 
the delivery of its work programme

2. £24,000 for the Brexit Resilience and Opportunities Group Secretariat

3. £40,000 for the Administering Authority to undertake its duties. 

Budget

Current budget position summary:

18/19 Budget = £117k (an 
increase of £25k over the 
original estimate)

18/19 Expenditure - £76.4k (as at 24/10/18)

1. £67k - devolution 
budget carry forward (as 
against the estimate of 
£42k) – transferred from 
PCC to SCC  

2. £50k - funding 
contributions from the 
constituent authorities 

1 £40k - for Administrative Authority costs 
including: direct meeting costs (including 
refreshments); staffing costs directly relating to 
HotSW meetings; JC communications and 
marketing; micro-site development 

2 £11.3k - support costs of the Brexit Resilience 
Opportunities Group (BROG) including 
seconded part-time officer support (against an 
original budget allocation of £24k)

3 £6k – costs of Housing Summit
4 £9.8k – housing consultancy support
5 £9.3k – national corridor infrastructure corridor 

consultancy support 

27



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

14

BUDGET AND COST SHARING AGREEMENT

As part of the new Joint Committee working arrangements, the following clause was 
agreed in relation to the costs of operation of the Joint Committee. This clause was 
in the Inter-Authority Agreement.  

How is the budget set and agreed each year?
In the February preceding each financial year, in consultation with the Somerset 
County Council Finance Advisory Team, the SCC Strategic Manager - Partnership 
Governance on behalf of the PMO will detail a budget plan for the JC income and 
expenditure.  This will establish estimated amounts for that financial year and the 
timing of those financial transactions.  This will be submitted by the administering 

4.0   JC Finance

4.1 The JC’s budgetary arrangements shall be detailed in a budget and cost 
sharing agreement to be agreed by all the Constituent Authorities annually on the 
recommendation of the JC and in advance of the financial year.  The only exception to 
this will be in the JC’s first year of operation when the JC shall recommend a budget 
and cost sharing agreement to the Constituent Authorities for approval at the first 
opportunity following its establishment.    

4.2 The budget and cost sharing agreement shall cover:
(a) The responsibilities of the Constituent Authorities for providing funding for the 

JC
(b) The anticipated level of expenditure for the JC for the year ahead
(c) The cost sharing mechanism to be applied to the Constituent Authorities
(d) Details of how the budget will be set and agreed each year
(e) Who is to be responsible for maintaining financial records on behalf of the JC 

(the ‘accountable body’);
(f) What financial records are to be maintained;
(g) What financial reports are to be made, to whom and when;
(h) What arrangements and responsibilities are to be made for:

 auditing accounts;
 insurance including ensuring all partners have sufficient cover;

(i) How any financial assets held by the JC on behalf of the Constituent Authorities 
will be redistributed to the CAs in the event of the dissolution of the JC or in the 
event of a CA formally withdrawing from the CA.

28



 
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

15

authority to the Joint Committee for recommendation to the Constituent Authorities 
(CA) for approval.

Each CA will pay their agreed contribution to the Administering Authority (AA) in a 
timely manner on receipt of invoice details. 

Who is to be responsible for maintaining financial records on behalf of the JC?
SCC Finance Advisory Team – Ian Tier, Finance Manager.

What financial records are to be maintained? 
Financial records, i.e. orders for supplies and services, payments made, invoices 
raised and receipts, will be kept electronically on the SCC financial system.  This 
incorporates purchase orders, invoice scans, cashiers receipts and sales invoices.

What financial reports are to be made, to whom and when?
SCC Finance Advisory will present a quarterly income and expenditure report to the 
SCC Strategic Manager – Partnership Governance.  This will be reported to the CEx 
Advisory Group for information. An income and expenditure report will be presented 
to the JC for information on at least an annual basis.

What arrangements and responsibilities are to be made for? 

 Auditing Accounts:  The AA’s accounts and audit arrangements will apply to JC 
business.   

 Insurance:
Each CA will ensure that it has sufficient insurance cover in place to provide 
protection for their members and officers participating in the work of the JC and in 
their capacity as officers or members of that authority.   The AA will ensure that it has 
sufficient insurance cover in place to cover the AA role.

How any financial assets held by the JC on behalf of the CA will be 
redistributed to the CAs in the event of the dissolution of the JC or in the event 
of a CA formally withdrawing from the CA?
Itemised records of contributions made by each of the CAs will be kept over the life 
of the JC.  In the event of the dissolution of the JC or in the event of a CA formally 
withdrawing from the CA having given the required notice, financial assets will be 
returned to the CA or CAs on a proportionate basis.

29



This page is intentionally left blank



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

COUNCIL
CHAIRMAN: Cllr Avril Kerswell

DATE: 14 January 2019

REPORT OF: MARTIN FLITCROFT – CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

SUBJECT: COUNCIL TAX BASE 2019/20

PART I 

RECOMMENDATION

That the Council resolve to approve the council tax base of 49,219 for 2019/20 at 
appendix A of the agenda report.

1. PURPOSE

1.1 To consider the proposed council tax base 2019/20 as recommended by the 
Executive at its meeting on the 8 January 2019 as shown at appendix A.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The council tax base is the estimated number of band D equivalent properties 
in the district for next year less a small allowance for likely collection losses. 
The details are shown at section 1 of appendix A. The council tax for each of 
district, county, fire, police and towns/parishes multiplied by the council tax 
base gives the income or precept which the district pays to each authority. The 
district is responsible for collecting council tax. 

2.2 The estimate for next year must be based on information available on the 30 
November. It has to be approved by Council and notified to the major 
preceptors - county, fire and police between 1 December 2018 and
31 January 2019. Similarly towns and parishes also need the council tax base 
for their area to calculate their council tax from their precept. 

2.3 The initial data is extracted from the council tax records. This includes the 
deduction for council tax support which reduces the base. Finally an estimate 
is made of the growth in the number of dwellings to 2018/19 based on recent 
history and this has been calculated at 1%. Thus a total of 49,716.2 is the 
estimated number of band D properties for next year.

   

31

Agenda Item 11



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

2.4 As for the current year a collection rate of 99% has been assumed giving 
49,219 for 2019/20. For Teignbridge this base means that at the current 
council tax level of £165.17 just over £8.1 million of income would be 
generated next year. This is 1.3% or £106,000 more than in the current year. 
Estimated 2019/20 income for all preceptors is shown at appendix A section 2 
based on the current council tax. 

Martin Flitcroft
Chief Finance Officer

Wards affected All
Contact for any more information Martin Flitcroft 01626 215246 or Claire Moors 01626 

215242
Background Papers (For Part I reports only)
Key Decision Y
In Forward Plan Y
In O&S Work Programme N
Community Impact Assessment attached: N
Appendices attached: A:  Council Tax Base

32



Recommended Council Tax Base 2019/20 Appendix A

Section 1

 

Estimated 

19/20 

Band D

18/19 

Council Tax

Estimated 

Income

Estimated 

Collection 

Rate

Estimated 

Net Income

Estimated 

19/20 

Base

Number £ £ % £

Full band D at November 2018 54,041.1 1,834.97 99,163,800  

less CTS at November 2018 -4,817.3 1,834.97 -8,839,600

Starting point based on November 2018 49,223.8  90,324,200   

Anticipated growth at 1% 492.4 1,834.97 903,540  

Total (rounded) 49,716.2 1,834.97 91,227,740 99.0% 90,315,390 49,219

Section 2

Preceptor   
Estimated 

CT Base

18/19 

Council 

Tax

Expected 

income
 

  Number £ £

2019/20 expected income (rounded)

Towns and parishes   49,219 66.32 3,264,200

District  49,219 165.17 8,129,500

County  49,219 1,331.19 65,519,840

Fire  49,219 84.01 4,134,890

Police  49,219 188.28 9,266,950

Total (rounded) shows a 1.3% increase in expected income 1,834.97 90,315,380

2018/19 expected income (rounded)  

Towns and parishes   48,577 66.32 3,221,554

District   48,577 165.17 8,023,463

County   48,577 1,331.19 64,665,217

Fire   48,577 84.01 4,080,954

Police   48,577 188.28 9,146,078

Total (rounded)    1,834.97 89,137,270  

Council Tax Base adjustment for Council Tax Support (CTS) and estimated growth

2019/20 Expected Council Tax (CT) Income at Current Council Tax Levels compared with 2018/19

C:\Users\cpage1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet 

Files\Content.Outlook\90D806D9\Report Council 14.1.19 appendix A ctb
33



This page is intentionally left blank



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

COUNCIL
CHAIRMAN: Cllr Avril Kerswell

DATE: 14 January 2019

REPORT OF: Tracey Hooper – Revenue, Benefits and Fraud 
Manager and Cllr Stuart Barker - Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Resources

SUBJECT: Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019-20

PART I 

RECOMMENDATION

That the Council resolve to adopt the current Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme 
for the year 2019-20.

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This report seeks Council’s approval of the Executive recommendation made 
on 4 December 2018 for the current CTR Scheme to be continued unchanged 
into 2019-20. It should be noted that the scheme makes provision for standard 
annual up-ratings and legislative amendments and these will continue as 
normal.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 At the Executive meeting on 4 December 2018, members considered a report 
of the Revenue, Benefits and Fraud Manager in relation to the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme.  A copy of the report is attached at Appendix A.

2.2 At this meeting, Members noted the report and resolved that the current 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme be recommended for adoption for the 2019-20 
financial year.  The minutes of the Executive meeting are attached at 
Appendix B.

.
2.3 The 2018-19 scheme has been updated for 2019-20, including the standard 

annual up-ratings and is available to view online as Appendix C, which can be 
found at https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/ctrnew. A hard copy is available in 
Committee Services.

3. IMPLICATIONS 

35

Agenda Item 12

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/ctrnew


TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

3.1 Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires that the 
Council must decide, for each financial year, whether to revise its scheme or 
to replace it with another scheme. This decision must be taken no later than 
11 March in the relevant year.

3.2 As we are not recommending any changes to our scheme for 2019-20 a new 
Business Impact Assessment (BIA) is not required. A full Impact Assessment 
was carried out in 2017-18 when changes were last made to the scheme. A 
copy is attached at Appendix D and it is important that members give due 
regard to the BIA when making any decision.

Tracey Hooper
Revenue & Benefit Services

Cllr Stuart Barker
Portfolio Holder for Corporate Assets

BELOW TO BE FILLED IN BY THE REPORT AUTHOR:

Wards affected All
Contact for any more information Tracey Hooper 01626 215266

Email: tracey.hooper@teignbridge.gov.uk
Background Papers (For Part I reports only) Exceptional Hardship Scheme

Vulnerability Statement
Key Decision Y 
In Forward Plan Y
In O&S Work Programme N
Community Impact Assessment attached: Appendix D
Appendices attached: A:  Report to Executive 4.12.18

B: Executive minutes 4.12.18
C:Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2019-20 (online)
D: Business Impact Assessment

36

mailto:tracey.hooper@teignbridge.gov.uk


TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE
LEADER:  Cllr Jeremy Christophers                                                 PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  Cllr Stuart Barker

DATE: 4th December 2018

REPORT OF: Tracey Hooper
Revenue, Benefits and Fraud Manager

SUBJECT: Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019-20

PART I 

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Executive is recommended to consider the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 
2019-20 (unchanged from 2018-19) and recommend its adoption to Council on 14th 
January 2019.

1. PURPOSE

1.1 To provide members with an update on the operation of our local scheme 
during 2018-19 attached at appendix A and to request the continuation of the 
scheme for 2019-20 be recommended to Council.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The national council tax benefit scheme was abolished with effect from 1 April 
2013 and replaced with locally agreed council tax reduction schemes. 
Pensionable age claimants were protected from any change but, from 1 April 
2013, the extent of reduction for working age claimants could be determined 
locally. At the same time government funding for the scheme was reduced by 
10%. 

2.2 Teignbridge worked in collaboration with the other Devon authorities to design 
and implement a locally devised framework within which each scheme could 
be adapted to suit the individual requirements of respective authorities. It was 
agreed across the Devon authorities, including County, Police and Fire, that 
each billing authority would strive to deliver a ‘cost-neutral’ scheme.

2.3 In 2013-14 Teignbridge achieved this by reducing the level of discount given to 
second homes and empty properties, and removing second adult rebate, 

37



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

supplemented by a central government transitional grant. This grant was paid 
for one year only. 

2.4 In 2014-15, to offset the loss of the transitional grant, two new measures were 
introduced: Band D restriction and a £6,000 capital limit.

2.5 No changes were made to the scheme in 2015-16 or 2016-17 but, in order to 
align with changes made by central government to other welfare benefits, a 
number of changes were made in 2017-18. Three of these changes were 
financial, but only one of these, the Minimum Income Floor for self-employed 
claimants, reduced the amount of award currently being received by claimants.

2.6    No changes were made to the scheme in 2018-19

2.7 We are the only local authority in Devon, and one of only around 37 nationallyi 
that continues to pay up to 100% of council tax liability.

3. SCHEME COSTS AND FUNDING

3.1 Council tax support cost continues to go down and was just under £8.85 million 
at the end of October which is £334,000 below the original estimate of £9.2 
million. Council tax support falls directly to Teignbridge including parishes 
(12.6% together), county, fire and police and is being monitored monthly.

3.2 We have current high levels of employment which has led to a drop in the 
number of claimants requiring support. Improved initiatives for detecting fraud 
and error, and the scheme changes outlined in section 2 of this report have also 
contributed to the reduction in spend. Changes in unemployment or economic 
downturn could reverse the numbers.

3.3 Although the cost of the scheme has reduced, over recent years the funding 
which was rolled into RSG has disappeared as RSG has been eliminated for 
future years. The only funding we receive is to help support the administrative 
cost of the scheme. 

4. EXCEPTIONAL HARDSHIP POLICY (EHP)

4.1 Because of the changes made to our scheme in 2017-18, members approved 
the adoption of an EHP. The purpose of this policy is to mitigate against any 
hardships experienced by claimants. 

4.2 It allows for a discretionary payment to be made to any claimant who receives 
less or no CTR as a result of changes to the scheme and who is unable to meet 
their council tax liability as a consequence of this. 

4.3 In 2017-18 we made 29 awards of EHP, totalling just under £14,000. At the end 
of Quarter 2 2018-19 we had awarded £1,376. Because we continue to pay up 
to 100% support the demand for EHP is low. The cost of awarding relief is 
shared equally by Teignbridge and its major preceptors. 

38



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

 5. REASONS FOR RETAINING CURRENT SCHEME

5.1 The current scheme is working well, costs are dropping, and demand for 
exceptional hardship is low. Also, our collection rates remain high – 98.6% in 
2017-18 and performance to date for 2018-19 is similarly high. 

5.2 The precepting authorities, who are directly financially affected by the cost of 
the scheme are not asking for savings to be made from the current scheme

5.3 There has been little in the way of significant welfare reform from central 
government in the past 12 months. There is therefore no need to align our local 
scheme with national changes which already provides for the annual uprating of 
allowances in line with the prescribed requirements legislation.

5.4 Universal Credit Full Service began rollout in Teignbridge from 5th September 
2018. The impact of this major reform is not yet known and it is too soon to 
determine how the CTS scheme should change in response.  

6. MAIN IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Legal - Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires that 
the Council must decide, for each financial year, whether to revise its scheme 
or to replace it with another scheme.

6.2 Equalities – A full impact assessment was carried out in 2017-18 when 
changes were last made to the scheme. This was reviewed in January 2018 
and remains relevant as no further changes have been made. See 
background papers.

6.3 Finance – The cost of the scheme falls on the Council and its major preceptors 
in proportion to their share of the collection fund. As no changes to the 
scheme are proposed any increase or decrease in spend will be determined 
by demand.

7. GROUPS CONSULTED  

7.1 County, Police and Fire have all been consulted via representation on the 
Devon Benefit Officers Group and all are content with the current scheme and 
propose no changes.

7.2 The S.151 officer has also been consulted on and is in agreement with the 
proposals and the respective costs are being built into the budget proposals 
for 2019-20

8. TIME-SCALE

8.1 To ensure statutory deadline is met, members must review and agree a CTS 
scheme by 11 March of the preceding financial year.

39



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

9. JUSTIFICATION

9.1 To comply with Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 which 
requires each billing authority to consider whether to revise its scheme or 
replace it with another scheme before 11th March in the year preceding the 
financial year to which the scheme applies.

10. DATE OF IMPLEMENTATION (CONFIRMATION OF DECISION SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN)

N/A – Decision will be made by Council on 14th January 2019

Tracey Hooper
Revenue, Benefits and Fraud Manager

Cllr Stuart Barker
Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Resources

Wards affected All
Contact for any more information Tracey Hooper Ext 5266
Background Papers (For Part I reports only) Business Impact Assessment 2018-19

Exceptional Hardship Policy
Teignbridge Vulnerability Statement

Key Decision Y 
In Forward Plan Y 
In O&S Work Programme N
Community Impact Assessment attached: Y
Appendices attached: A:  CTR Scheme for 2018-19 (online)

i National Policy Institute Report April 2017

40



Appendix B

Extract - Executive 4 December 2018

281. COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME FOR 2019/20 

The Portfolio Holder for Corporate Resources presented the report on the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme which supported working age claimants on low incomes. 
There had been a reduction in number of claimants due to reducing unemployment 
and improvements in wages. 

RECOMMENDED that the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2019-20 (unchanged 
from 2018-19) be noted and recommend its adoption to Council on 14th January 
2019.

41



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 
 
Ref No: CTR/TMH/2017-18 review 

Proposal: Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTR) 

     

 
Business Impact Assessment Review 

 
Conducted by:       Tracey Hooper                                 Date:   November 2017 
 

Aims of the Proposal 
 
To review the impact of changes made to the Council’s CTR scheme in 2017-18 and the effectiveness 
of the Exceptional Hardship Scheme. 
 

Background 
 
Following abolition of the national Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme in 2013, Teignbridge adopted a 
local Council Tax Reduction (CTR) scheme. This scheme retained the essential features of the means-
tested CTB scheme aligning it with the prescribed CTR scheme for pensioners, and the Housing Benefit 
(HB) scheme. 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment of the move to local schemes was undertaken at a national level by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government. The report is available here. 
 
At the same time that CTB was abolished, funding was cut by 10% and Teignbridge had to consider 
whether or not to pass on this cut in funding to claimants.  Following a consultation exercise 
Teignbridge resolved to protect its most vulnerable residents and offset the loss of funding by making 
changes to council tax discounts on empty properties and second homes, supplemented by a 
transitional grant from government. Together with the abolition of second adult rebate, these measures 
offset the loss in funding and meant that the majority of claimants were protected from the cut in 
funding. 

 
Further cuts followed in 2014-15, including the loss of transitional grant. Teignbridge made two further 
changes to the scheme to offset this loss in funding: introducing a savings limit of £6,000, and a Band D 
restriction.  
 
Teignbridge’s scheme was re-adopted in 2015-16 and 2016-17 with no change to the level of support 
provided to claimants. 
 
The Government subsequently introduced a number of changes into Housing Benefit; CTR for 
pensioners; and Universal Credit. In order to bring our scheme into alignment, as well as to streamline 
administration, we mirrored these changes, introducing them to our working age CTR scheme in 2017-
18. 
 
 
 
 

Is this a review of an existing BIA?         Y 
Is this a new proposal and a new BIA?   N 

43

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/localgovernment/pdf/2063707.pdf


 

Page 2 of 11 
 

These changes are listed below: 
 

1. Remove the Family Premium for all new working age applicants  

2. Reduce backdating for new claims to 1 month  

3. Base CTR on a set minimum income for self-employed earners after 1 year's self-employment  

4. Reduce the period a person can be absent from Great Britain, and still receive CTR, to 4 weeks 
(previously 13 weeks, or 52 in certain circumstances). 

5. Remove the 'work-related activity component' in the calculation of the current Scheme for new 
Employment and Support Allowance applicants. 

6. Limit the number of dependant children within the calculation for CTR to a maximum of two for 
third or subsequent children born after 1 April 2017  

7. Where another person is already paid UC (Carers Element) to look after someone with a 
disability, remove entitlement to the Severe Disability Premium. 

8. Remove the additional earnings disregard and apply the standard disregards irrespective of 
hours worked to those applicants also claiming UC. 

 

No changes are proposed for the year 2018-19 

 

Environment impacts 
The proposal indicated no environmental impacts.  

 

Value and financial impacts 
The proposal indicated the following financial impacts. 

 

 

Please score 

 

Jobs or training opportunities 0 

Business investment within the area 0 

Tourism 0 

The supply or quality of housing 0 

Access to services and benefits -1 

Reduce cost or increase income +1 

Increase capital receipts/funding 0 

 
 

Financial impact on Teignbridge District Council 
 
The grant allocation for CTR is no longer separately identified on an annual basis so it is not possible 
to calculate the net cost of the scheme. It is for billing authorities to determine the level of support to 
provide, bearing in mind the cost of the scheme is shared between the preceptors (County, Police and 
Fire) in proportion to their respective shares of the overall council tax bill.  

+3  0  -3 

44



 

Page 3 of 11 
 

 
Only three of the changes introduced in 2017-18 have any financial impact. These are:   
 

 Removal of the family premium for new applicants 

 Introduction of a minimum income floor for self-employed earners after 1 year’s trading 

 A limit on the number of dependent children within the calculation for CTR to a maximum of two 
for children born after 1 April 2017 

 
These changes were forecast to reduce costs by a maximum of £42,000.  
 
The only change that can be measured with any degree of accuracy is the minimum income for self-
employed earners. This is because it is the only change that directly affected the amount of support in 
payment. Based on Q2 data, extrapolated to the end of the financial year, we expect to achieve a 
reduction in cost of £28.5K. This is slightly lower than the £31.5K. 
 

Financial impact on Teignbridge claimants 
 
Pensioners are protected from any changes to the scheme so the proposals applied to claimants of 
working age only. Our CTR caseload as at Q2 is 8,696 made up of 4,010 working age claimants 
(46.11%) and 4,686 pensioner claimants (53.89%).  
 
Of the 4,010 working age claimants, only 393 of these (the claimants affected by the Minimum Income 
Floor - MIF) have received a cut in the level of support they were receiving.  
 
The other changes affected only new claimants or those claimants who experienced a particular 
change in circumstances after 2017-18. Each of the changes introduced is detailed below with 
information on impacts, if any, on the claimant.  
 
Removal of Family Premium 
 
This change removed the additional allowance given to households with dependent children. These 
households still receive more support than households without children but whereas claimants 
previously received up to an additional £3.49 support per week, new claimants do not. Persons on 
‘passported’ claims e.g. job seekers allowance, income support, employment support allowance etc. 
were not affected by this change. ‘Passported’ people generally being the most in need.  
 
Based on number of claims received last year and composition of our current caseload, we estimated 
that around 330 new claims would be affected in 2017-18. Latest figures indicate that 215 new claims 
of this type have been received to date which is largely in line with the estimate for the full year. These 
cases will have received up to £3.49 per week less council tax support than those making a claim 
before 1st April 2017. 
 
We have received no claims for exceptional hardship relief nor any complaints as a result of this 
change. 
 
Reduction in backdating 
 
This change reduced the maximum period a claim can be backdated from six months to one month. 
There are so few cases these can be easily managed through the Exceptional Hardship Relief 
Scheme. To date there have been no applications for this relief, nor any complaints as a result of this 
change. 
 

45



 

Page 4 of 11 
 

Introduce a minimum income for self-employed claimants 
 
This change applies to both existing and new claimants and takes effect after one year of self-
employment.  This change aligned our scheme with UC which assumes a notional income for self-
employed claimants equal to 35 hours work at the National Living Wage or National Minimum Wage 
depending on age. 
 
Initially we wrote to all of our self-employed claimants to tell them about the change and how it would 
affect them. We also invited them to claim under our Exceptional Hardship Scheme. Anyone who failed 
to contact us but went on to accrue council tax arrears was contacted by telephone to discuss their 
situation and was offered support as appropriate. 
 
This approach has proven highly effective and we have been able to offer tailored support including the 
setting up of special payment arrangements, helping claimants to prioritise debts, signposting where 
necessary, and assisting with Exceptional Hardship applications. 
 
We have actively encouraged claims for Exceptional Hardship and have received 78 claims in total. 
Each of these claims was considered on its merits with a full appraisal of the claimant circumstances 
resulting in 26 claimants being awarded a reduction in the amount of council tax they had to pay.  
 
By the end of Q1 we had awarded £10,156 in Exceptional Hardship and £2,295 by the end of Q2 – a 
total of £12,451. This cost is shared across all major preceptors and represents a cost to Teignbridge 
of just over £1,000. 

 

At the end of Q2, the vast majority of the original 393 claimants affected were up to date with their 
council tax payments. Only 13 cases were subject to liability orders and 2 were with enforcement 
agents. These 15 cases have been closely monitored and we know that none of them has any 
disability or caring responsibilities. Most have a previous history of non-payment and/or are not 
gainfully employed but could reasonably take steps to become so. 
 
We were particularly mindful of households with disability and carer premiums in place and have 
broken down the impact on this group according to type of premium received. Details are shown in the 
table below. 
 

 No. of 
households 

EHF 
awarded 

Paying Reminder  Summons 

Severe/enhanced disability 
premium 

12 0 9 3 0 

Disabled Child Premium 24 2 19 3 0 

Disability premium 19 2 14 3 0 

Carer Premium 3 0 2 0 1 (paying on 
arrangement) 

 
We continue to monitor the effects of the MIF on a quarterly basis and will provide advice and support 
as and when necessary. Anyone identified as falling behind on their council tax payments will be 
contacted and appropriate support mechanisms put in place. 
 
We have received one complaint about the Introduction of the Minimum Income Floor and this was 
resolved at Stage 1. 
  

46



 

Page 5 of 11 
 

Demographics of Self-Employed Claims and All Working Age CTS Claimants (December 2017) 
 

Gender Self-Employed Claims Affected All Working Age CTS 

Single  - Male 53   (13.4%) 840   (19.5%) 

Single - Female 42   (10.6%) 844   (19.6%) 

Couple 20   (5.0%) 341   (7.9%) 

Lone Parent - Male 16   (4.0%) 82   (1.9%) 

Lone Parent - Female 144   (36.4%) 1393   (32.3%) 

Couple with children 121   (30.6%) 810   (18.8%) 

Total 396 4310 

 

Number of Children Self-Employed Claims Affected All Working Age CTS 

0 115   (29.0%) 2025   (47.0%) 

1 118   (29.8%) 923   (21.4%) 

2 102   (25.8%) 792   (18.4%) 

3 47   (11.9%) 405   (9.4%) 

4 9   (2.3%) 107   (2.4%) 

5 4   (1.0%) 43   (1.0%) 

6 1   (0.3%) 11   (0.3%) 

7 0   (0.0%) 2   (0.05%) 

8 0   (0.0%) 1   (0.02%) 

9 0   (0.0%) 1   (0.02%) 

Total 396 4310 

 

Age Self-Employed Claims Affected All Working Age CTS 

18 - 24 4   (1.0%) 277   (6.4%) 

25 - 29 34   (8.6%) 463   (10.7%) 

30 - 44 181   (45.7%) 1527   (35.4%) 

45 - 59 155   (39.1%) 1660   (38.5%) 

60 - 64 22   (5.6%) 383   (8.9%) 

Total 396 4310 

 

Council Tax Band Self-Employed Claims Affected All Working Age CTS 

A 62   (15.7%) 1307   (30.3%) 

B 152   (38.4%) 1805   (41.9%) 

C 112   (28.3%) 850   (19.7%) 

D 47   (11.9%) 235   (5.5%) 

E   (limited to D) 16   (4.0%) 83   (1.9%) 

F   (limited to D) 5   (1.3%) 22   (0.5%) 

G   (limited to D) 2   (0.5%) 8   (0.2%) 

H   (limited to D) 0   (0.0%) 0   (0.0%) 

Total 396 4310 

 
Disability and Carer 

premiums 
No. affected All Working Age CTS 

Disability Premium / Severe 
Disability Premium 

33   (8.3%) 228 (5.3%) 

Disabled Child Premium 25   (6.3%) 122   (2.8%) 

Carer Premium 25   (6.3%) 137 (3.2%) 

NB: Many claims are in at least 2 of these 3 categories, ie the 3 categories should not be added together. 

 

47



 

Page 6 of 11 
 

Reduce the period a person can be absent from Great Britain 
 
This change reduced the period claimants can be absent from their homes from 13 weeks (52 in 
certain circumstances) to 4 weeks without stopping their council tax support.  There are exceptions for 
certain occupations such as mariners and the armed forces. There is also provision for this to be 
extended to 8 weeks in specific circumstances, such as the death of a close relative.  
 
We do not hold any data on these cases so are unable to measure any impacts. Non UK nationals and 
those with family outside the country are more likely to be affected. This could indicate a greater impact 
on minority ethnic groups.  
 
The change would affect very few people overall and is easily managed through the exceptional 
hardship scheme. To date we have had no applications for relief nor any complaints about this change. 
 
Remove the work related activity component for new Employment and Support Allowance (ESA) 
applicants 
 
This change aligned with changes made by central government to HB and the Pensioner Age CTR 
scheme. Claimants are not impacted by this change to the scheme. 
 
Limit the number of dependant children within the calculation for CTR 
 
This change mirrors the changes made by central government to housing benefit and tax credits. 
  
It affects only those households, not already receiving maximum support, which have a third or 
subsequent child born on or after 1st April 2017 and there are exceptions, e.g. multiple births. A 
dependent addition is made for each child within the calculation of the household needs (applicable 
amounts). This addition is made for the first and second child but the birth of subsequent children no 
longer gives rise to an increase in the applicable amount. 
 
We estimated around 100 claimants would be affected by this change with a possible maximum weekly 
‘loss’ of £13.38 per claim.  We are not able to produce data on numbers actually affected by this 
change but have received no complaints or any exceptional hardship requests as a result of this.  
 
Remove the entitlement to the Severe Disability Premium where someone else is already paid UC 
(Carers Element) 
 
This change aligned our scheme with Central Government changes to HB and has no impact on 
claimant. 
 
Remove the additional earnings disregard for claimants on UC 
 
This change was introduced to align with Universal Credit and simplifies the administration of claims for 
those in receipt of UC. Prior to this change, an additional amount of earnings could be disregarded if a 
customer worked sufficient hours. This additional disregard doesn’t exist in UC. 
 
 

Social impacts and duties 

The proposal indicates the following social impacts. 

 
Please score 

 
+3  0  -3 

48



 

Page 7 of 11 
 

 

Age Children (Under 16) – 16% 0 

 Young (16-24) – 9.6% -1 

 Working age (25-59) – 43% -3 

 Older (60+) - 31% -1 

Men – 48% -1 

Women – 52% -3 

Transgender – c1% 0 

BAME (Black, Asian, minority ethnic) – 4% -1 

LGB (lesbian, gay, bisexual) – c. 5% 0 

Marriage and Civil Partnership - 52% 0 

Religion and belief (or none) - 72% 0 

Disabilities – 21% -1 

Pregnancy and Maternity b n/a -1 

Rural – 27% 0 

Economic Deprivation – 21.8% -2 

* Bold = ‘Protected characteristics’ 

 

Protected characteristics impact 
CTR exists to support people on low incomes and as such any change to the working age scheme will 
impact on households on low incomes which will include: 
 

 Those in a lower socio-economic position 
 
And may include: 
 

 Families with children 

 Lone parents 

 Carers 

 Full-time and part-time workers/self-employed 

 Single people and childless couples 
 
However, our most vulnerable claimants and those on the lowest incomes will typically be on a 
passported benefit e.g. Job Seekers Allowance, Income Support, Employment and Support Allowance 
etc. and will therefore be unaffected by changes to the scheme. Claimants on passported benefits and 
lowest incomes continue to receive 100% support under Teignbridge’s CTR scheme. 
 

 Young People 
may be affected indirectly by reduced CTR for families.  

Working Age People 

Changes to the scheme only impact on working age population. Pensioners are protected from 
changes made to local schemes as their entitlement is assessed under the prescribed national 
CTR scheme.  

49



 

Page 8 of 11 
 

 Older People  
The Teignbridge scheme does not affect people of pension credit age unless they are the 
partner of a working age claimant. Pensioners are protected from changes made to local 
schemes as their entitlement is assessed under the prescribed national CTR scheme.  

 Men  
The scheme does not differentiate on gender. 

 Women 
The scheme does not intend to differentiate on gender, however it has been identified that a 
significant proportion of single parents are women. There is also a disproportionate amount of 
women claiming CTR to that of the population at large. 

 Transgender 
The scheme does not differentiate on gender. 

 BAME 
The scheme does not differentiate on race but it is possible that the limit on the the amount of 
time spent away from Great Britain could disproportionately affect ethnic minority groups. 

 LGB 
The scheme does not differentiate on sexuality 

 Married/Civil partnership 
The scheme does not differentiate on those households who are married or in a civil 
partnership. 

 Religion 
The scheme does not differentiate on religious grounds. 

 Disabilities 
The scheme continues to provide, the following additional protections for this group: 

· A disregard of Disability Living Allowance (DLA), Personal Independence Payments (PIP) 
and Attendance Allowance (AA) from the CTR calculation 

· Disability premiums for disabled children and claimants and partners which increase 
entitlement to CTR 

· No non-dependant deductions are made for claimants and partners in receipt of DLA 
care,  daily living component of PIP or AA 

· A carers premium for claimants and partners who receive Carers Allowance 

Households with a disabled occupant may be affected by changes to the scheme but this is less 
likely given the fact that the applicable amounts are higher and many will continue to receive 
100% protection.  

 Pregnancy/Maternity 
Households where a third or subsequent child is born later than 1st April 2017 will not receive 
any additional CTR as a result of increasing the size of their family. Households on passported 
benefits, generally considered to be those most in need, will however continue to receive 100% 
support. 

- Rural 
The scheme will not impact on members of the rural community in any particular aspect 

- Economic Deprivation 

The fact that applicants receiving CTR meet the means testing criteria puts them within the 
lowest earning brackets in Teignbridge. This means that any change to the scheme has the 
potential to impact. However, those on the very lowest incomes, and on passported claims, will 

50



 

Page 9 of 11 
 

continue to receive 100% reduction. The Council introduced an Exceptional Hardship Policy in 
2017-18 to directly assist anyone in ‘exceptional need’ who did not qualify for 100% reduction. 

Any adverse impacts are justified by positive impacts of the scheme which create stronger incentives 
for people who are able to work do so and supports the positive work incentives that are inherent within 
the Government’s Universal Credit scheme 

Protections in the existing council tax reduction scheme 

The Council Tax Reduction Scheme exists as a local scheme to provide assistance to low income 
taxpayers. It is a robust and complex system and, as it is currently based on the now obsolete Council 
Tax Benefit Scheme, it has protections for vulnerable groups built in. 
 
The structure of the means test ensures that vulnerable groups are recognised and protected. This 
works in the following ways: 
 

 Personal allowances are higher for families with children 

 Additional premiums for disabled household members and carers 

 Income disregards for certain disability benefits, child benefit and child maintenance 

 Earned income disregards; higher rates apply for full time work, disabled workers, certain part-
time emergency workers and single parent workers 

 Childcare costs disregard for workers with children 

 Local disregard of War Pension income 
 
The local scheme maintains the protections and work incentives that have been refined over many 
years. 
 
 

Exceptional Hardship Policy - extra protection for claimants  

Our scheme, which continues to pay up to 100% reduction for those on the lowest incomes, remains 
the most generous in Devon. Changes to the scheme introduced in 2017-18 do not impact on anyone 
receiving a passported benefit. These claimants will continue to receive support at 100% of council tax 
liability.  

Any claimant not in receipt of 100% support, meaning they are required to pay part, or all, of their 
council tax liability may ask for assistance under the Council’s Exceptional Hardship Policy. This Policy 
was introduced last year to provide a safety net for anyone experiencing significant financial hardship 
and may be used to remit part or all of an individual’s council tax liability. 

The Policy provides for consideration of the merits of each individual application and ensures those in 
greatest need receive the most support. This is considered preferable to introducing a ‘blanket-policy’ 
approach to discounting council tax which does not take individual circumstances into account and 
cannot therefore be adequately targeted at those experiencing exceptional need. 

Following introduction of the changes in 2017-18 we have actively encouraged claims for Exceptional 
Hardship and have received 78 claims in total. Each of these claims was considered on its merits with 
a full appraisal of the claimant circumstances resulting in 26 claimants being awarded a reduction in 
the amount of council tax they had to pay.  
 
By the end of Q1 we had awarded £10,156 in Exceptional Hardship and £2,295 by the end of Q2 – a 
total of £12,451. This cost is shared across all major preceptors and represents a cost to Teignbridge 
of just over £1,000. 
 
 

51



 

Page 10 of 11 
 

Council Tax debt recovery 

We take a sensitive but pro-active approach to council tax debt recovery and try to quickly identify any 
taxpayer experiencing difficulty paying their council tax in order to provide timely support. We 
recognise that some taxpayers are reluctant to engage or seek help when they fall into debt and 
because of this we supplement the issue of statutory notices with text messages and outbound 
telephone calls to encourage taxpayers to seek help and find solutions. This may be via the 
exceptional hardship scheme and/or, money management and budgeting advice as appropriate. 

Duties 
Under the Equality Act 2010 s.149 the Council must annually publish what actions we have taken in 
response to our 3 equality duties.  
 
This proposal contributes to the duties in the following ways: 
1) The elimination of discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other prohibited conduct by ….. 

It does not contribute positively or negatively to this objective 

2) The advancement of equality of opportunity by …....... 

It does not contribute positively or negatively to this objective 

3) The fostering of good relations between people by …........... 

It does not contribute positively or negatively to this objective 

 

. Managers’ evaluation 
 

 No major change required.  

 Adjustments have been made to better advance equality. 

 Continue despite having identified some potential for adverse impacts.  

(Please detail your justification here.)  

 Cease the proposal. It shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination. 

Recommended Actions 
The CTR Scheme must be formally adopted each year and any proposed changes subject to major 
preceptor and public consultation. In conjunction with the Devon Benefit Officers Group we will 
continue to review the scheme each year and consider the impacts of any future proposed 
changes. 

Sign Off 

 

Service 
Manager 

 

BID 

 

 

 

 
                Kay O’Flaherty                                                         04.01.18 

 

 

  Date the BIA should be reviewed/renewed  

Date:  04.01.18 Signed Tracey Hooper 

Date Signed 

Date: Annually 

52



 

Page 11 of 11 
 

 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

COUNCIL
CHAIRMAN: Cllr Avril Kerswell

DATE: 14 January 2019

REPORT OF: Tracey Hooper – Revenue, Benefits and Fraud 
Manager and Cllr Stuart Barker - Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Resources

SUBJECT: Council Tax premium for long term empty homes 

PART I 

RECOMMENDATION

That in accordance with the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council 
Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018, the Council resolve to increase the premiums being 
charged on long term empty properties as follows:

 From 1st April 2019 onwards to increase the premium up to the maximum of 
100% for properties that have been empty for 2 years or more

 From 1st April 2020 onwards to increase this to 200% for properties that have 
been empty for 5 years or more

 From 1st April 2021 onwards to increase this to 300% for properties that have 
been empty for 10 years or more

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This report seeks Council’s approval of the Executive recommendation made 
on 4 December 2018 for the current long term empty homes council tax 
premium to be increased from the current 50% levy to the relevant maximums 
set down in the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 
(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018. 

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 At the Executive meeting on 4 December 2018, members considered a report 
of the Revenue, Benefits and Fraud Manager in relation to the Council Tax 
premium for long term empty homes.  A copy of the report is attached at 
Appendix A.

55

Agenda Item 13



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

2.2 At this meeting, Members agreed to recommend to Full Council that the 
council tax premium levied on long-term empty homes be increased to the 
maximum levels provided for in the legislation with effect from 1st April 2019. 
The minutes of the Executive meeting are attached at Appendix B.

3. IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Section 11B Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended) makes 
provision for billing authorities to charge a council tax premium on long-term 
empty dwellings. Section 67(2) of that Act provides that the power to 
determine a premium can only be exercised by Full Council. A notice of the 
determination must be published within 21 days of the decision being made. 

3.2 Provision has been made in the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and 
Council Tax Empty Dwellings Act 2018 for premiums to increase in prescribed 
circumstances to the maximum levels outlined earlier in the report.

3.3 No adverse equality impacts identified. The proposal could have positive 
impact by bringing more properties back into use.

Tracey Hooper
Revenue & Benefit Services

Cllr Stuart Barker
Portfolio Holder for Corporate Assets

BELOW TO BE FILLED IN BY THE REPORT AUTHOR:

Wards affected Potential for all wards to be affected but negligible 
impact

Contact for any more information Tracey Hooper 01626 215266
Email: tracey.hooper@teignbridge.gov.uk

Background Papers (For Part I reports only) Link to regulations: 
Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council 
Tax Empty Dwellings Act 1918

Key Decision N 
In Forward Plan N
In O&S Work Programme N
Community Impact Assessment attached: N
Appendices attached: A:  Report to Executive 4.12.18

B: Executive minutes 4.12.18

56

mailto:tracey.hooper@teignbridge.gov.uk
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted


TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

EXECUTIVE

LEADER:  Cllr Jeremy Christophers           PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  Stuart Barker 

DATE:   4th December 2018

REPORT OF: Tracey Hooper, Revenue, Benefit & Fraud Manager

SUBJECT: Council Tax premium for long term empty homes 

PART I 

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Executive recommends to Council on 14 January 2019 to raise the premiums 
being charged on long term empty properties as follows:

 From April 2019 onwards to increase the premium up to the maximum of 
100% for properties that have been empty for more than 2 years

 From April 2020 onwards to increase this to 200% for properties that have 
been empty for more than 5 years

 From April 2021 onwards to increase this to 300% for properties that have 
been empty for more than 10 years

1. PURPOSE

1.1 To advise members that legislation has recently been passed that will allow 
billing authorities to increase the long term empty homes council tax premium 
from 50% and to request that members make a recommendation to Council on 
the level of premiums to be applied with effect from 1st April 2019. 

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Since 1 April 2013, local authorities in England have been able to charge a 
premium of 50% on the full council tax charge. In the 2017 Autumn Budget, 
the Government announced its intention to legislate to give local authorities 
the power to increase this further. The legislation allowing this to happen 

57



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

became law on 1 November 2018 and is contained in the Rating (Property in 
Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018.

2.2 The Government is keen to encourage owners of empty properties to bring 
their properties back into use. This is because:

 there are currently 200,000 properties standing empty in England

 empty properties attract squatters, vandalism and anti-social behaviour; 
can be a blight on the local community; and can affect the value of the 
properties around them

 when 1.6 million households are on social housing waiting lists, long term 
empty properties are a wasted resource.

2.3 An empty property for council tax purpose is defined as a property that is 
‘unoccupied and substantially unfurnished’.

2.4 As noted above there are currently just over 200,000 long-term empty 
dwellings in England. This compares to 300,000 in 2010. The number has 
reduced since 2013, when councils were given powers to charge a 50% 
premium, indicating that applying a premium has been a successful incentive 
in tackling empty homes.

2.5 The Government has introduced the following incremental increases that can 
be applied to reflect the length of time that properties have been empty:  

Financial 
year 
beginning

Length of time property has been empty Maximum % 
premium that 
can be charged

1 April 2019 More than 2 years 100%
1 April 2020 More than 2 years but less than 5 years

More than 5 years  
100%
200%

1 April 2021 More than 2 years but less than 5 years 
More than 5 years but less than 10 years 
More than 10 years 

100%
200%
300%

2.6 It is for each Billing Authority to determine the percentage level up to the 
maximum amounts as outlined above. 

2.7 The Government does not propose to change the qualifying period of two 
years believing it strikes a balance between providing a strong incentive for 
bringing empty homes back into use, and giving home-owners sufficient 
opportunity to sell or rent out their properties, or to complete any major 
renovations that might be required.

 

58



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

2.8 Within the existing legislation there are certain classes of properties where a 
premium cannot be applied, these are:

 Dwelling which would be the sole or main residence of a person 
residing in armed forces accommodation (Class E)

 Annexes forming part of the main dwelling (Class F)

2.9 Teignbridge currently has 87 properties that are subject to the 50% empty 
homes premium.

         
The number of properties that would fall into the three categories, based on 
current data, is as follows:

Council Tax 
Band

2-5 years 5-10 years 10 years + Total

A 22 3 2 27
B 11 5 7 23
C 8 5 4 17
D 3 1 0 4
E 3 3 3 9
F 1 1 0 2
G 3 1 0 4
H 0 1 0 1

2.10 Assuming the maximum percentages are adopted, the additional council tax 
that could be generated based on these properties is as follows:

Year Additional Council tax £ Teignbridge’s share £
2019/20  68,584.40 6,404
2020/21  128,915.10 12,039 
2021/22  153,676.24 14,351 

Above figures are based on 2018/19 average council tax charge
 

2.11 The additional income is relatively small in relation to the overall council tax 
raised but is significant from a relatively small number of properties. However, 
the focus of this initiative is to bring more empty properties back into use.

59



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

3 MAIN IMPLICATIONS

3.1 Legal –The administration and collection of Council Tax is a statutory function. 
The level of premium available to local authorities is set down in primary 
legislation and provision has been made in the Rating (Property in Common 
Occupation) and Council Tax Empty Dwellings Act 2018 for premiums to 
increase in prescribed circumstances to the maximum levels outlined earlier in 
the report.

3.2 Equalities – No adverse impacts identified. The proposal could have positive 
impact by bringing more properties back into use. 

3.3 Financial - There is a risk that some of these homeowners may struggle 
financially to pay additional amounts of council tax. However, this could 
provide an opportunity for the Empty Homes Officer to engage with owners 
who will be affected from April 2019 regarding how the property could be 
brought back into use.

3.2 Billing authorities have discretion to reduce or remit council tax in exceptional 
circumstances. This provides an appropriate safety net and can be used to 
provide support on a case by case basis for any deserving cases which are 
not subject to the statutory exemptions. 

4. GROUPS CONSULTED  
 

4.1 The Council’s Housing Enablement and Development Manager has been 
consulted and has made the following comments:

4.2 Housing Services consider empty homes as a wasted resource and therefore 
support any intervention to bring empty homes back into use or alternatively 
raise income. 

4.3 Housing Services have worked with Departments across the Council to reduce 
empty homes year on year for the past 10 years and support this proposal as 
yet another intervention to assist the Council in this aim.

5. TIME-SCALE

5.1 To commence higher premium of 100% with effect from 1st April 2019.  This 
will be reflected in 2019/20 Council tax bills to be sent in March 2019. With 
incremental increases in 2020/21 and 2021/22. Owners will be contacted as 
soon as any decision is made to enable them to consider their position prior to 
the premium falling due. 

6. JUSTIFICATION

6.1 The premium is not applied until the property has been empty for more than 
two years which strikes a balance between providing a strong incentive for 

60



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

bringing empty homes back into use, and giving home-owners sufficient 
opportunity to sell or rent out their properties, or to complete any major 
renovations that might be required.

7. DATE OF IMPLEMENTATION (CONFIRMATION OF DECISION SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN)

N/A - Decision to be taken by Council on 14 January 2019

Alison Spargo
Revenue Manager

Cllr Stuart Barker
Portfolio Holder for Assets and 
Resources

BELOW TO BE FILLED IN BY REPORT AUTHOR:

Wards affected Potential for all wards to be affected but 
negligible impact

Contact for any more information Ali Spargo Ext 5230 or Tracey Hooper 
Ext 5266

Background Papers (For Part I reports 
only)

Link to regulations: 
Rating (Property in Common Occupation) 
and Council Tax Empty Dwellings Act 
1918

Key Decision N
In Forward Plan N
In O&S Work Programme N
Community Impact Assessment 
attached:

N

Appendices attached: N/A

61

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crossheading/council-tax-in-england/enacted


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

Extract - Executive 4 December 2018

282. COUNCIL TAX PREMIUM FOR LONG TERM EMPTY 

The Portfolio Holder for Corporate Resources presented the report on the Council 
Tax premium for long term empty homes. He advised that legislation had been 
changed which would allow an increase in the long term empty homes council tax 
premium. The Council currently had 87 properties that were subject to the 50% 
empty homes premium and the council tax premium put pressure on owners to bring 
properties back into use.

The Leader commented that Teignbridge District Council was the only District in 
Devon to reduce its number of empty homes year on year. 

RECOMMENDED to Council on 14 January 2019 to raise the premiums being charged 
on long term empty properties as follows:-

(1) From April 2019 onwards to increase the premium up to the maximum of 
100% for properties that have been empty for more than 2 years;

(2) From April 2020 onwards to increase this to 200% for properties that have 
been empty for more than 5 years; and

(3) From April 2021 onwards to increase this to 300% for properties that have 
been empty for more than 10 years. 

63



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL
Chairman: Cllr Avril Kerswell                            Portfolio Holder: Cllr Humphrey Clemens

DATE: 14 January 2019

REPORT OF: Simon Thornley, Business Manager Spatial
Planning And Delivery

SUBJECT: Wolborough Development Plan Document

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Council approves:

1. The preparation of a Wolborough Development Plan Document; and 
2. A budget of up to £210,000 for preparation of the Development Plan 

Document

1. PURPOSE

1.1. To agree the preparation of a Wolborough Development Plan Document (DPD) that 
would have the same status and weight as the Local Plan.  Associated budget is 
required in order to prepare and consult on the DPD and fund its examination in 
public.  A Wolborough DPD would guide planning applications and development 
outcomes within the allocated site.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1. Teignbridge’s Local Plan allocates land at Wolborough for a mixed use development 
including at least 1500 homes.  Landowners have drawn up development proposals 
across the site.  Planning applications and an appeal have already been lodged 
within the western ownership.

2.2. There is concern that those proposals do not address the Local Plan requirement for 
a, ‘comprehensive landscape and design led masterplan for the strategic site 
allocation, produced with meaningful and continued input and engagement from 
stakeholders’.

2.3. An application to the east is expected at the turn of 2019

Masterplan work and public consultation to date

2.4. The Council initially consulted on a draft overarching masterplan for the site in 
Summer 2018, which was originally proposed to be adopted as a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD).  If this process had completed and the document had 
been adopted, it would have been a significant material consideration when 
determining planning applications. The original consultation masterplan is available 
at the following link:  https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/wolborough.   

65

Agenda Item 14

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/wolborough


TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

2

2.5. Following the receipt of consultation responses and legal advice, further 
consideration has been given to the status of the document.  Given its content, it is 
recommended that the document should be adopted as policy and therefore 
produced as a Development Plan Document (DPD). 

Steps taken following public consultation

2.6. Since the SPD consultation was undertaken, the draft masterplan has been updated 
in response to comments received and in discussion with key stakeholders that 
include Historic England, Natural England and landowner representatives.  The 
updated masterplan is at Appendix A and a summary of comments and responses is 
at Appendix B.  

2.7. The update has not been drafted with the intention of introducing policy.  It 
constitutes a comprehensive masterplan that officers consider would be suitable in 
addressing the associated Local Plan requirement if submitted with planning 
applications at Wolborough.  

2.8. However, in relation to the land where a planning appeal has already been 
submitted, there remains resistance to the masterplan.  In terms of development 
outcomes, this resistance is primarily focussed on officers’ proposed prompt 
timescales for main street delivery and the scale of development that is indicated 
within the allocation’s most sensitive elements of the setting of St Mary’s Church.  
Consistent with the view outlined in paragraph 2.5 above, it remains their view that, if 
the document is to be prepared, it should be as a DPD (please see letter at Appendix 
C).

2.9. Other stakeholders (Abbotskerswell Parish Council in particular) have also stated 
that the masterplan should be prepared as a DPD if it is to maximise the impact it 
has on development outcomes.

2.10.This report therefore recommends the preparation of a Wolborough DPD.  A 
separate agenda item for the next Executive relating to the overall Local 
Development Scheme will reflect this recommendation.  

3. PURPOSE OF THE WOLBOROUGH DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT

3.1. The Wolborough DPD will not revisit the principle of the site allocation, since to do so 
would be to undermine our short to medium term housing delivery and in particular 
our five year supply of housing and our performance against the housing delivery 
test.  Instead, it will build upon policy NA3, remaining in general conformity with the 
local plan, but providing additional detail and reflecting later information and the 
increased emphasis on design within the NPPF.  

3.2. It is anticipated that the Wolborough DPD would take the broad form of the revised 
draft masterplan shown at Appendix A.  In doing so, it would draw on new and 
existing evidence to address matters that could include:

 Streets and movement
 Design principles
 Density and main land uses
 Landscape and green infrastructure
 Greater Horseshoe Bat design framework and parameters

66



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

3

 Wolborough fen monitoring and mitigation
 Heritage and associated design responses
 Infrastructure delivery

3.3. A key difference from the revised draft masterplan at Appendix A is that the DPD 
would also contain new planning policies that could be used to guide development.  
Once adopted, these would have a significant bearing on future planning decisions, 
whether associated with ‘outline’ (principle of development) or ‘reserved matters’ 
(detailed scheme elements) planning applications. 

4. ASSOCIATED EVIDENCE

4.1. Whilst the Local Plan allocation and the revised draft Wolborough masterplan have 
been prepared on the basis of a considerable evidence base, there will be a 
requirement for further studies to inform finalisation of a Wolborough DPD. A 
Statement of Significance and Settings Assessment for The Church of St Mary the 
Virgin is in the process of being finalised and will be published shortly.  In addition, 
ecological surveys and reports focussed on Greater Horseshoe Bats are proposed.  
These will follow surveying best practice and provide an up to date assessment of 
the extent to which the European protected species is present, and the ways in 
which it uses the site. 

4.2. Finer grained financial viability evidence will also be required in order to establish 
that the total cumulative cost of all relevant policies will not undermine deliverability 
of the allocation.

4.3. Preparing the types of evidence outlined above will have a bearing on the total cost 
of finalising the DPD but meeting these costs will be integral to the Document’s 
success.  It is not considered feasible to adopt a plan for Wolborough without 
preparing additional evidence like this.  

5. RESOURCES, MILESTONES AND TIMESCALES

5.1. It is estimated that finalisation of the Wolborough DPD will take around 2 years.  

5.2. In accordance with the Local Plan Regulations 2012 and Teignbridge’s Statement of 
Community Involvement, it is intended to undertake two stages of public 
consultation.  The first will be a Draft Wolborough DPD consultation in Summer 2019 
and the second will be a Proposed Submission Wolborough DPD in Early 2020.  

5.3. Both stages of consultation will accompanied by various forms of publicity and a 
public exhibition.  An independent Inspector will then need to be appointed ahead of 
a public examination of the document.  As with the Local Plan, the independent 
Inspector will need to be funded and a ‘Programme Officer’ put in place to oversee 
administration of the examination.

5.4. During preparation of the DPD and its examination, additional officer resource will be 
required.  Planning policy officers are already committed to preparation of the 
Greater Exeter Strategic Plan and the Local Plan s.  It is therefore proposed to 
recruit an additional temporary senior planning officer for up to two years.   

5.5. Key milestones for preparation and adoption of the proposed Wolborough DPD are 
set out in table 1 below:

67



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

4

Milestone Timescale

Evidence gathering, including ecological surveys Spring / Summer 2019

Draft Wolborough DPD public consultation and 
exhibition (Regulation 18)

July / August 2019

Proposed Submission Wolborough DPD public 
consultation and exhibition (Regulation 19)

January / February 2020

Submission for Examination in Public May 2020

Examination in Public August 2020

Adoption December 2020

Table 1: Timetable for Wolborough DPD preparation   

6. CURRENT PLANNING PROPOSALS AND FUTURE SCHEMES

6.1. Council’s decision on whether to prepare a Wolborough DPD cannot hold up 
determination of current or future planning applications or appeals.  Those will need 
to be assessed against the existing Development Plan and other material 
considerations.  

6.2. However, no schemes within the masterplan area have been determined yet.  There 
is a scenario where, owing to planning application withdrawals; refusals; or delays in 
the appeal process, planning permission may not have been granted by the time the 
DPD is being examined.

6.3. Even if outline planning permission is granted in advance, the DPD still holds the 
potential to influence ‘reserved matters’, including development layout and design.     

7. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.1. The estimated cost of preparing the Wolborough DPD is £210,000.  The main 
elements are outlined at Table 2 below.

Item Cost

Additional senior planning officer for up to two years. £90,000

Ecology surveys and reporting £50,000

Financial viability testing £20,000

Examination in public £50,000

Total £210,000

Table 2: Summary of Wolborough DPD preparation costs   

7.2. This cost of £210,000 represents an unfunded budget pressure. Unspent budget 
relating to other planning matters is available to meet £75,000 of this cost.  However, 

68



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

5

the £135,000 balance will need to be supported by drawing on other earmarked 
reserves held with the intention of supporting housing delivery in the first instance.

7.3. This impact on earmarked reserves may be replenished through the continuing Best 
2020 process and potential identification of revenue savings in future years.  The 
support for successful development delivery that the DPD brings may also result in 
increased new homes bonus income (beyond the 620 dwelling per annum target 
currently relied upon within the revenue budget setting process), as well as additional 
council tax receipts but this cannot be relied upon now.  

7.4. Wolborough’s development also holds the potential to generate around £10 million 
for infrastructure through CIL, albeit this is not revenue funding that can be used to 
pay for preparation of the DPD.  Teignbridge must apply CIL to infrastructure.

8. KEY RISKS

Planning applications determined in advance 

8.1. There is a risk that outline planning applications at Wolborough may be determined 
ahead of the Wolborough DPD being finalised.  The DPD could still have a bearing 
on the detail and determination of reserved matters planning applications.  

8.2. This risk cannot be avoided, the timetable outlined above cannot be accelerated and 
planning proposals cannot be held up during the preparation of this document.

Examination delays and further work

8.3. Whilst the DPD would be a relatively focussed planning policy document containing 
fewer policies than the Local Plan, the risk that the document may be rejected or 
require significant modifications and associated evidence is implicit in the 
independent Examination process.

8.4. This report proposes a realistic approach to properly resourcing preparation of the 
Wolborough DPD but the risk associated with the public consultation and 
examination process cannot be entirely averted.

Additional Costs

8.5. There is a risk that public consultation and/or Examination could result in time delays 
and a need to assemble further unanticipated evidence. 

8.6. Summer 2018 consultation on the draft masterplan and careful consideration of 
responses received have helped to refine the scope of the document.  Additional 
engagement with statutory bodies and landowner representatives has also resulted 
in a strong understanding of the main issues that will need to be addressed during 
DPD preparation.

8.7. The risk of additional work or delays has not been eradicated but the Council’s 
starting point of having already undertaken detailed and ongoing stakeholder 
engagement leaves the Council better placed to understand all of the resource 
requirements associated with the Wolborough DPD than is often the case where 
other DPDs are being produced.  

69



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

6

8.8. The proposed budget has also been assembled prudently and anticipates an 
element of risk.  Any underspend would be returned as a saving thus reducing the 
drawdown from earmarked reserves.   

9. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

9.1. In coming to the recommendation of preparing a Wolborough DPD, a range of 
alternative options have been considered.

Adopt the revised Wolborough Masterplan as SPD

9.2. Whilst this would see much earlier adoption of the masterplan as a material 
consideration, legal advice has been consistent that failure to proceed will potentially 
open the Council to successful legal challenge in the current case which would 
undermine the value of the masterplan. 

Approved the revised Wolborough Masterplan as non-statutory guidance

9.3. Consideration was given to whether the masterplan could be approved as non-
statutory guidance or as a masterplan that would be suitable if submitted with a 
planning application.  This option is not considered advisable as the status / weight 
of the document would be far more limited than as a DPD and again subject to 
potential legal challenge. 

10. MAIN IMPLICATIONS

10.1.Preparation of the Wolborough DPD will result in a policy that can guide planning 
applications if they have not already been determined.

10.2.The recommendation to prepare a DPD replaces pervious proposals to adopt the 
revised draft Wolborough Masterplan as an SPD.

10.3.The time and cost involved in the document’s preparation is estimated at around 2 
years and up to £210,000.  £75,000 can be funded through uncommitted budgets but 
the balance of up to £135,000 will need to come from earmarked reserves until 
additional income or savings can be identified to replenish earmarked reserves. 

11. JUSTIFICATION

11.1.Wolborough is a key Local Plan allocation and comprises around 1/8th of 
Teignbridge’s housing supply.  Preparation of a DPD for the site will help to guide 
infrastructure delivery and development proposals that subsequently come forward. 

Simon Thornley, 
Business Manager, Strategic Place 

Wards affected College, Kerswell-with-Combe, Ambrook

Contact for more information Spatial Planning & Delivery, 01626 215702

Key Decision Y

70



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

7

In Forward Plan N
In O&S Work Programme N

71



This page is intentionally left blank



NA3 Wolborough
Masterplan

REVISED DRAFT
January 2019

73

JQ001349
Typewritten text
Appendix A



04

02

05

0301

Infrastructure 
Delivery

Vision

Appendix

The MasterplanIntroduction 

Masterplan     p11
Movement strategy   p14
Density strategy and land use p19
Landscape strategy   p21
GHB design framework   p25
Drainage strategy   p27
Heritage strategy    p33
Main street design   p37 

Concept plan    p8
The Wolborough vision   p9
The objectives            p9

About this document   p3
Background    p5
Planning policy    p5
Key challenges & opportunities  p7

Infrastructure schedule   p39 Wolborough Fen Monitoring strategy   p42 

74



3

01
Introduction 

About this document
1.1  This Wolborough masterplan responds to the 
requirements of Policy NA3 Wolborough of the Teignbridge 
Local Plan 2013 - 2033. The Local Plan was adopted in May 
2014. Policy NA3 allocates land to the south of Newton 
Abbot for the development of approximately 120 hectares 
of land for a mix of uses. The principle of development is 
established. 

1.2  The masterplan sets out an appropriate overarching 
response to the NA3 allocation.  It shows how development 
can be delivered and phased comprehensively and in a 
sustainable form across the allocation, even where there are 
multiple developers.  

1.3  The masterplan is fl exible and is accompanied by a 
masterplan map (see page 10). Together, they provide an 
interpretation of how the policy requirements and principles 
set out in the Teignbridge Local Plan can be delivered on-site.  

1.4  The Local Plan requires a comprehensive landscape and 
design led masterplan for the strategic allocation, produced 
with meaningful and continued engagement from stakeholders 
to support development proposals.  This has included ongoing 
engagement through and with:

• Offi cers and advisors with a range of technical expertise 
that is relevant to the context of the Wolborough NA3 
allocation

• The site’s landowners and their representatives
• Statutory bodies, including Devon County Council, Historic 

England and Natural England 
• Newton Abbot Town Council and Abbotskerswell Parish 

Council
• Extensive public consultation on a draft of the masterplan 

1.5  It is considered that planning applications that align 
with this document would meet the Local Plan masterplan 
requirement.  However, it is also recognised that it may 
be possible to bring forward development based on an 
alternative developer-led comprehensive masterplan for the 
whole allocation, if produced with meaningful and continued 
engagement from stakeholders.  Where coordinated with 
an overall masterplan, it is anticipated that more than one 
planning application may come forward.
  

1.6  Teignbridge District Council recognises that this 
document cannot introduce new policy requirements.  We 
do however consider its production would help to support 
planning application approvals and high quality development 
outcomes if submitted with planning applications for the 
Wolborough NA3 area.

75



Site identifi cation plan

76



5

Background 
1.7  The requirements for a masterplan to be prepared for this 
allocation is set out in Policy NA3 of the Council’s adopted Local 
Plan (2013-2033) which states that: 

“A site of approximately 120 hectares is allocated at 
Wolborough to deliver a sustainable, high quality mixed-use 
development which shall:

Include a comprehensive landscape and design led masterplan 
for the strategic site allocation, produced with meaningful and 
continued input and engagement from stakeholders;...”

1.8  Teignbridge District Council adopted its Local Plan in 
May 2014. The local plan sets out where and how new 
development will be managed across the district in the period 
up to 2033. Included within the Local Plan is an allocation for 
land to the south of Newton Abbot for the development of 
approximately 120 hectares.  This provides for a mix of uses, 
including employment, housing, community facilities, a road 
vehicular connection between the A380 South Devon Highway 
with and the A381 Totnes Road, and large areas of green 
infrastructure. This area of land is referred to in the Local Plan 
as NA3 Wolborough. It stretches from the A381 Totnes Road, 
eastwards to the Kingskerswell Road. The allocation is bounded 
in part by Coach Road to the north, and Priory Road to the 
south.  

1.9  The NA3 policy states that to deliver a sustainable, high 
quality mixed-use development shall:

a) include a comprehensive landscape and design led 
masterplan for the strategic site allocation, produced with 
meaningful and continued input and engagement from 
stakeholders;

b)  deliver 10 hectares of land for employment development, 
for offi ce, general industrial or storage and distribution 
uses as appropriate to the site and its wider context, 
ensuring that there is also a mix of unit size to enable 
businesses to start up and expand; support will also be 
given to employment generating uses provided that they 
are compatible with the immediate surroundings and do not 
confl ict with town centre uses;

c)  deliver at least 1,500 homes with a target of 20% 
affordable homes

d)  provide social and community infrastructure including a 
youth centre, local shops, community facilities and a site of 
5 hectares for a 420 place primary school including early 
years provision and a secondary school or other further 
education facility;

e)  provide a vehicular route connecting the A380 South Devon 
Link Road with the A381;

f)  create a network of green infrastructure that contributes to 
the overall strategic network;

g)  respect the setting of the parish church of St Mary the 
Virgin;

h)  provide a green buffer between development and Decoy 
woods;

i)  protect and enhance Wolborough Fen Site of Special 
Scientifi c Interest and fl ight routes and foraging areas of 
greater horseshoe bats;

j)  enhance or mitigate any impact on county wildlife sites, cirl 
bunting territories and barn owl sites;

k)  maximise opportunities for the generation of on-site 
renewable energy at a domestic scale and investigate 
opportunities for community scale renewable energy 
generation

l)  create areas for local food production
m)  provide formal and informal recreation space
n)  a bespoke Greater Horseshoe Bat mitigation plan for 

Wolborough must be submitted and approved before 
planning permission will be granted. The plan must 
demonstrate how the site will be developed in order to 
sustain an adequate area of non-developed land as a 
functional part of the foraging area and strategic fl yway 
used by commuting Greater Horseshoe Bats associated 
with the South Hams SAC.  The plan must demonstrate 
that there will be no adverse effect on the SAC alone or in 
ombination with other plans and projects.

1.10  This masterplan has been prepared with regard to the 
National planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance 
and Development Plan policies that include:

Teignbridge Local Plan
NA3 Wolborough
S1A Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 
S1 Sustainable Development Criteria 
S2 Quality Development 
S3 Land for Business, General Industry and Storage and 
Distribution 
S5 Infrastructure 
S6 Resilience 
S9 Sustainable Transport 
S10 Transport Networks
S14 Newton Abbot 
EC1 Business Development 
EC2 Loss of Employment Sites
EC6 Large Scale Retail Development
WE2 Affordable Housing Site Targets 
WE3 Retention of Affordable Housing 
WE4 Inclusive Design and Layout 
WE7 Custom Build Dwellings 
WE11 Green Infrastructure 
EN1 Strategic Open Breaks
EN2A Landscape Protection and Enhancement
EN5 Heritage Assets
EN6 Air Quality
EN8 Biodiversity Protection and Enhancement 
EN9 Important Habitats and Features 
EN10 European Wildlife Sites 
EN11 Legally Protected and Priority Species 
EN12 Woodlands, Trees and Hedgerows
HT1 Heart of Teignbridge Movement
HT2 Heart of Teignbridge Education
HT3 Heart of Teignbridge Green Infrastructure

Devon Minerals Plan
M2 Mineral Safeguarding Areas
M3 Prior Extraction of Minerals

Devon Waste Plan
W4 Waste Prevention

Neighbourhood Development Plans
Newton Abbot
Abbotskerswell
Ogwell

Opposite: Site plan

77



6

Photographs

k

k

k

Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

NA3 Wolborough Masterplan Indicative Context Plan

´

Wolborough Fen SSSI

Decoy Country Park

0 250 500125 Metres

Newton Abbot

Ogwell

Abbotskerswell

Exeter via M5
17 Miles

County Wildlife Site

Local Nature Reserve

Site of Special Scientific Interest

SSSI Surface Water Catchment

Green Infrastructure

Public Rights of Way

Woodland

Floodzone

Existing Employment Use

Conservation Area

Hedgerow

Railway line

k St Marys Church (Grade I listed)

k The Priory (Grade II* listed)

k Other Heritage Asset

Bat Foraging Routes/Desire Lines

Ridgeline

Utilities - Trunk main

Utilities - Distribution main

Utilities - Gas main

Direction of Slope

Category A Tree (root protection area)

Category B Tree (root protection area)

Interface with Residential Properties

Former landfill

Legend

Mineral Safeguarding Area

78



7

Key Challenges and Opportunities
1.11  As one of the largest allocations in the Local Plan, NA3 
is a strategically important site for the district and combines 
new homes with employment opportunities, as well as essential 
transport links, education and community facilities. Across 
the site, there are a number of constraints which have posed 
signifi cant challenges in determining how development can 
be distributed. The context plan on page 6 identifi es the 
constraints that are summarised here: 

CHALLENGES

Topography
Undulation across the site and different ridge lines. Steep 
slopes, landforms and curves to make sense of and address 
signifi cant areas of the site have gradients steeper than 1:5, 
making development on these areas highly challenging. 

Flood risk and drainage
Surface water needs to be carefully managed on sensitive parts 
of the site that form the catchment for the Wolborough Fen Site 
of Special Scientifi c Interest (SSSI). Existing watercourses are 
proposed for retention so that they can be incorporated as part 
of plans for development. 

Landscape character
Woodland, hedgerows, rolling hills, farmland, existing views 
into and out of the site and the network of Public Right of Way 
(PROW).

Heritage
Setting of the Grade 1 listed parish church of St Mary the 
Virgin, Wolborough Hill Conservation Area, St Augustine’s 
Priory, and non-designated heritage assets of Wolborough 
Barton Farm and Hennaborough Barn. 

Site features and ecology
Features to be considered, include:
• a network of high quality, unimproved meadows 

supporting a herb rich plant community
• areas of dry stone walls and unimproved meadows likely to 

support reptiles
• small copses of mature broadleaved woodland providing 

bird nesting sites, bat roosting sites and potential fl yways, 
• watercourses
• Wolborough Fen SSSI

• South Hams Special Area of Conservation (SAC)
• The southern extent of NA3 falls within a strategic fl yway 

for greater horseshoe bats
• Category A and B trees and signifi cant hedgerows
• Archaeological potential with regard to known prehistoric 

and Romano-British activity.
• The site overlies Aller Gravels that are a potential mineral 

resource.

Utilities
A south west water trunk water mains crosses the site.
Electricity upgrades may be necessary to provide power.

Ground conditions
Two former landfi ll sites - land to the west of the site off 
Totnes Road, and to the east of the site off Kingskerswell 
Road.  Minerals safeguarding area and Devon Minerals Plan 
requirement to investigate the scope for prior extraction. 

OPPORTUNITIES

• To provide a substantial number of new homes (including 
affordable homes) within a rich landscape setting that 
delivers good quality design, including the use of robust 
and locally distinctive materials to refl ect the character 
of Newton Abbot, and could include innovative design 
approaches.

• The provision of a new main street connecting the A381 to 
the A380 South Devon Highway. This new road will open 
up the allocation for development as well as improving 
accessibility into, out of, and across Newton Abbot.

• To create sustainable new neighbourhoods that integrate 
and improve existing public rights of way and adds to the 
area’s strategic cycle network to connect central Newton 
Abbot and its railway station with the surrounding area. 

• To maintain the unique landscape setting of the site 
whilst supporting local ecology and preserving landscape 
heritage through the retention of signifi cant landscape 
features. This includes the retention of existing woodland 
and the creation of a green buffer between proposed 
development and the southern boundary to provide a 
strategic wildlife corridor and to help retain the site’s 
landscape setting.

• Promote employment uses and strengthen the local 
economy through the creation of new jobs and 
employment spaces.

• Create a new neighbourhood hub centred around 
Wolborough Barton Farm offering a range of community 
facilities, to serve the new and existing community. 

• Build on the rich and distinctive character of Italianate 
architecture found in Newton Abbot.

• Relationship to Decoy Country Park

• Retaining a green infrastructure network that includes 
public access and enjoyment of elements of retained 
agricultural land.

Opposite: Indicative Context plan

79



8

80



9

02
Vision 

The Wolborough vision
2.1  Preparation of this masterplan has been guided by the 
overarching vision as set out in Local Plan Policy S14 Newton 
Abbot: 

“Newton Abbot will be the business, educational, leisure 
and retail centre for South Devon as part of the Heart of 
Teignbridge. It will be an active community whose members 
are involved in building an exciting future based on tradition, 
sustainability, enterprise and openness to change.”  

2.2  The area of land allocated at Wolborough will help to 
deliver this overarching vision for the heart of Teignbridge. 
It has many distinctive and distinguishing features which 
should be celebrated through the design of the development, 
adding value to both the townscape of Newton Abbot and 
the community that it serves. The following objectives have 
been written to refl ect this and have informed preparation of 
this masterplan as a whole. 

The objectives
2.3  If NA3 Wolborough is to be a successful, sustainable 
urban extension it needs to be led by a fl exible masterplan 
that opens up opportunities for a mix of types of 
development. This masterplan supports a commitment 
to creating a landscape led design that respects and 
incorporates existing characteristics and landscape assets. 

2.4  Achieving the following objectives would contribute 
towards attainment of the overall vision:    

•  Special consideration and a careful response to the 
setting of the Grade 1 listed parish church of St Mary the 
Virgin

•  House types that are fl exible and attractive to a range of 
people and the site topography

•  A range of space types and affordabilites for residential 
and non-residential uses

•  Varying types and tenures, including affordable housing, 
custom build plots and other specialist forms of housing 
to meet a diverse range of needs

•  Flexibility in the scale and types of employment uses to 
achieve a range of new employment opportunities across 
the site

•  Well-integrated, varying densities across the site to 
respond to landscape setting and topography, with 
increased densities in locations that can maximise 
housing delivery

•  Creative re-use and sensitive adaptation of old buildings, as 
appropriate

•  Locate community facilities, shops and commercial facilities 
within a centralised ‘neighbourhood hub’ to achieve local 
facilities that are within a fi ve minute walking distance for the 
surrounding community, wherever possible

•  Protection of green corridors and the integration of green 
spaces throughout the development to protect the local 
Greater Horseshoe Bat population and to make sure net 
gains for other biodiversity (based on the use of a recognised 
biodiversity metric) while achieving multifunctional green 
infrastructure benefi ts

•  Protection and enhancement of the Wolborough Fen Site of 
Special Scientifi c Interest, and Decoy Woods

•  High quality, well managed, well defi ned, easily accessible 
open space. 

•  Legible routes with clear physical and visual links to local 
landmarks and their surroundings

•  A green and walkable development, making the most of 
existing lanes and connections and linking these into new 
networks of footpaths, cycleways, sustainable streets, and 
public transport facilities

•  High quality and locally distinctive design with active street 
frontages and positive landscaped edges blending naturally 
into the surrounding countryside

•  A development with the use of effi cient design, renewable 
energy technologies, and quality construction

•  High quality and sustainable design to contribute to good 
place-making, and health and well-being. Creating a strong 
locally distinctive sense of place that is safe, inclusive and 
accessible to all, including by public transport.  

Opposite: Concept plan

81



10

kj

Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

NA3 Wolborough Indicative Masterplan Map

´

Legend
Development area - Education

Development area - Employment

Development area - Residential

Opportunity to extend 
residential development

Development area - Mixed Use

Neighbourhood Hub

Neighbourhood Facilities

Green infrastructure links

Amenity Greenspace

Green Infrastructure

Woodland

Allotments

Indicative electricity substation

Main Street

Hedgerow

Existing watercourse

Rerouted Watercourse

Blue corridor or attenuation area

Strategic play space

Wolborough Fen SSSI

Decoy Country Park

400m
 (5 m

inute walk)

800m
 (10 m

inute w
alk)

400m (5 minute walk)

800m
 (10 m

inute walk)

0 250 500125 Metres

kj

kj

Newton Abbot

Ogwell

Abbotskerswell

Contours (5m intervals)

Exeter via M5
17 Miles

SSSI Surface Water Catchment
label to read ‘SSSI Surface Water 
Catchment – development subject 
to robust drainage mitigation

Development area - Employment
land could be provided elsewhere 
if an appropriate solution can 
be identified

Landscape Green Corridor

Note:
Development within the Wolborough 
Fen SSSI hydrological catchment is 
conditional upon evidence.

82



11

03 
The 
Masterplan

Masterplan 
3.1  This masterplan has been prepared in response to the 
objectives for the site so it can be used to set an overarching 
structure for future development. An understanding of the extent of 
infrastructure needs and site challenges has shaped the distribution 
of land uses and informed recommendations about how the site 
can be developed in the most viable and sustainable way. 

3.2  The plan on page 10 shows a series of new 
neighbourhoods, including:

• Development parcels on slopes that are fl atter than 1 in 6 
metres in gradient, (the default approach unless innovative 
solutions to addressing steeper slopes can be identifi ed)

• Development parcels that respond to the most visually 
sensitive areas of the site.

• A main street through the site linking Totnes Road to 
Kingskerswell Road. This route has changed from the Local Plan 
Proposals Map.  The new alignment now avoids an extremely 
challenging change of levels around Stoneman’s Hill that cannot 
be addressed without very signifi cant engineering works.  

• The route is pulled as far away from the listed church as 
possible and shows an alignment with an access to the 
south of the Decoy Industrial estate on the eastern part of 
the site. The main street has been designed to minimise 
the need for engineering works, especially when passing 
through existing woodland.
 

• Separate access points off Kingskerswell Road and Totnes Road. 

• Approximately 7 ha of employment land across the site. 
Additional employment uses could also form part of the 
mixed use neighbourhood hub and will be of a scale and 
type sensitive to the nearby residential uses. 

• Sensitive development within the setting of the church to 
retain the existing landscape character.

• A network of green infrastructure links and green spaces to 
provide informal and formal space, allotment and growing 
areas, bat fl yways, dark corridors and ecological buffers. 

• An area for an electricity sub-station.

• An agreed Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDs) strategy and 
site attenuation areas based on the creation of a series of blue 
corridors.

• The retention and enhancement of important landscape 
features such as existing hedgerows and mature trees, 
where these are compatible with future land uses in the 
long term.

• Retained public rights of way and the development of a 
new interconnected network of footpaths and cycle routes 
with connections to strategic cycleways.

• A masterplan approach that is preferred by TDC, but 
that recognises that alternative approaches may be 
appropriate.

• Development within the SSSI hydrological catchment will 
be subject to a robust evidence base that can be utilised 
to protect and enhance Wolborough Fen through an 
appropriate drainage strategy.

3.3  The framework principles

• Create attractive, well designed buildings to respond to the 
site topography, local character and suitable for different 
elements of the local community.

• Deliver appropriate densities to support local needs nearby 
and create a viable and sustainable community.

• Provide effi cient and attractive multi-functional design 
approaches to managing surface water that maximise 
biodiversity, work well with the landscape, create high 
quality amenity spaces and demonstrate a positive 
approach to the SuDS.

• Enhance natural habitats beyond those that currently exist.

• Provide convenient access to public transport and a 
effi cient bus service along the main street.

• Create attractive places where people wish to work and 
that are serviced with well designed and coordinated 
infrastructure and community facilities.

• Create well defi ned, easily accessible, high quality open 
space that is well managed.

• Promote employment buildings and spaces that relate well 
to the residential areas and existing properties and create 
a positive entrance to the town.

This section outlines the strategies that have fed into the 
masterplan.

83



12

Neighbourhood 1

Neighbourhood 2

Neighbourhood 4

Neighbourhood 3

84



13

Employment

3.7  Policy NA3 criteria (b) - deliver 10 hectares of land for 
employment development, for offi ce, general industrial or 
storage distribution uses as appropriate to the site and its wider 
context.

3.8  The Masterplan shows 7 hectares of employment land 
across the site and would support employment uses as part of 
mixed use development across the site allocation.  In the event 
that it is not possible to achieve 10ha on site because it would 
compromise the delivery of other policy objectives, provision for 
off-site delivery of serviced employment land may be proposed. 
This is refl ected in the Illustrative Masterplan adjacent to 
Totnes Road.

Neighbourhood Hub

3.9  A neighbourhood hub has been identifi ed in 
Neighbourhood 2 around the existing Wolborough Barton 
and close to St Mary’s church.  This presents an opportunity 
to co-locate various community facilities, including shops, a 
community building and a new primary school.  There is also 
potential for the hub to incorporate some residential facilities.  
The Statement of Signifi cance and Settings Assessment that 
is described in this Masterplan’s Heritage Strategy can play an 
important role in informing design of the Neighbourhood Hub.  

3.10  Additional limited day to day neighbourhood facilities are 
also identifi ed to the east of the allocation.

1 https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/selfbuild

Housing 

3.11  Criterion (c) deliver at least 1,500 homes with a target of 
20% affordable homes;

Local Plan policy objectives
I.  Deliver at least 1,500 homes of which 20% should be 

affordable, subject to viability.
II.  5% of the homes will be made available as custom build   

plots.

General objectives
• Affordable housing will be distributed throughout all phases 

of the development, proportionate to the overall number of 
homes proposed within the application area. The mix will be 
negotiated on the basis of evidenced housing need. Early 
discussions with the TDC’s Affordable Housing Team will 
facilitate this.

• The provision of specialist housing for people with 
disabilities and other needs will be explored as a part of 
determining housing mix.

• Custom build plots will be concentrated in a small number 
of parcels and be located where there is good access. This 
will ease construction management and enable earlier plot 
delivery and thus an earlier capital receipt. Teignbridge 
Council has adopted a Custom and Self Build Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) which provides further 
information.

• Exploration of potential to accommodate residential uses 
within the neighbourhood hub area.

Neighbourhoods

3.4  The concept underpinning this Wolborough masterplan 
revolves around the creation of four distinct neighbourhoods 
connected by a main street and a comprehensive network of 
green infrastructure (see page 12). 

3.5  The character of the four neighbourhoods should draw 
on the unique attributes of their context and should seek to 
refl ect local residential character and architectural precedents 
as described in Teignbridge Local Plan Policy S2 and the 
Teignbridge Design Guide. The different characteristics of form 
and appearance will help differentiate the neighbourhoods 
whilst addressing the site constraints and topography, and 
achieving modern residential standards, particularly in terms of 
access.

3.6  Each of the neighbourhoods need to investigate the 
potential for inclusion of renewable energy at a domestic and 
community scale.  Also, consideration should be given to the 
inclusion of renewable energy and energy effi ciency within 
buildings and public space.

Opposite: Neighbourhood areas

85



14
Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

NA3 Wolborough Masterplan Indicative Movement Strategy

´

Main Street

Primary Street

Secondary Street

Tertiary Street

Key Pedestrian Route

Strategic Cycle
Route Opportunities

Bus Stop

Development Parcel

0 250 500125 Metres

Legend
Exeter via M5
17 Miles

Existing Cycle Route

Crossing Point

Route A: 
Neighbourhood Hub 

to Newton Abbot 
Town Centre (West)

Route B: 
Neighbourhood 
Hub to Newton 

Abbot Town 
Centre (East) Route C: 

Main Street to 
Train Station & 
Kingsteignton

Route D: 
Neighbourhood 

Hub to 
Kingskerswell

400m fro
m bus stop

400m from bus stop

400m from bus stop

400m from bus stop

86



15

Movement strategy

3.12  To establish a coherent movement pattern, it is important 
to have a clear hierarchy of street types. The appropriate use of 
these streets in conjunction with built form and landscaping will 
be the basis for creating this hierarchy.

3.13  The need to provide adoptable highway standards cannot 
be separated from the overall function and character of the 
street. Well-designed streets contribute signifi cantly to the 
quality of the built environment, and play a key role in the 
creation of sustainable, inclusive, mixed communities. Streets 
within the development will be designed as places for walking, 
socialising, playing or simply enjoying.

3.14  The street hierarchy is made up of four different street 
types. The locations of these is shown indicatively on the 
movement strategy plan. Where street widths are given, these 
are shown as a minimum with scope for widening to follow the 
shape of the built form. It should be noted that some larger 
development parcels will contain internal streets that are not 
shown on the adjacent plan. The design of these streets will be 
determined through the planning application process.

3.15  The Highway Authority and other stakeholders have 
advised that elements of the existing local minor road network 
are not adequate to accommodate signifi cant additional traffi c 
and may require improvements.  Examples include, Stoneman’s 
Hill, Coach Road and Priory Road.  The main street will also 
play an important part in addressing this issue.

3.16  Where required and subject to the identifi cation of 
commuting corridors, suitable features will be incorporated into 
the road network to allow safe and unhindered movement of 
greater horseshoe bats.

Main street
3.17  The development will be served by a single tree lined 
street running on an east west alignment through the site. 
The route for the main street is informed by a vertical and 
horizontal design review. The carriageway is designed to a 
minimum width of 6.5m with widening on its bends (further 
details are provided on page 37). The main street will have 
different characters along its length that respond to its location 
within the site. 

3.18  A minimum 3.5m wide shared foot cycle way has been 
identifi ed along one side of the main street with a footpath 
along the other side. In certain locations the footpath may 
run separately from the main street to address the slopes 
and enable access to the different development parcels. Side 
junctions will be designed to give priority to bicycles and 
pedestrians using the main street. 

3.19  Junctions onto the main street will be by way of priority 
arrangement thus maintaining priority on the main street for 
the through movement of vehicles. Where capacity requires, 
right turn lanes from the main street can be accommodated. 
Direct access to residential properties will be provided, where 
appropriate to help reduce vehicles speeds and create a 
pedestrian friendly environment. 

3.20  Early delivery of the main street from Totnes Road to 
Kingskerswell Road is proposed.  The purpose of the street will 
be much more than that of just addressing highway capacity 
constraints.  It will provide a crucial connection, by a range of 
modes including foot; cycle; bus; and car, between home and 
community facilities across and beyond the allocation, access to 
which will be integral to establishing a sustainable and cohesive 
development from the outset.

Connecting streets
Primary internal street
3.21  Primary routes provide access from the main street to 
each land parcel. They have been identifi ed at a minimum 
width of 5.5m with 2m footways provided along both sides of 
the carriageway. Direct frontage access can be provided where 
necessary. Where the primary route carries a foot/ cycle link 
that continues to provide connection with off-site highway 
infrastructure a 3m wide shared foot/ cycleway will be provided.

Secondary internal street
3.22  Secondary routes provide access from the Primary 
Route to dwellings. They have been identifi ed at a minimum 
carriageway width of 5m. A single 2m footway will be provided 
along either side of the carriageway. Most of the accesses to 
dwellings will be provided from secondary routes. Where the 
primary route carries a foot/cycle link that continues to provide 
connection with off-site highway infrastructure a 3m wide 
shared foot/cycleway will be provided.

Tertiary street
3.23  Mews streets/ shared routes provide access from 
secondary internal streets to a small cluster of dwellings and 
green edges. They will vary in width and have been identifi ed 
at a minimum width of 4.5 metres with no designated footway 
to come forward in line with the Government’s Inclusive 
Transport Strategy. 

Public transport
3.24  The main street will provide a high quality bus link to 
accommodate new and/or redirected bus services, as identifi ed 
in the Teignbridge Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Four bus stops 
provided on the main street will achieve a maximum 400m 
walking distance for most residents/ employees across the 
masterplan area.  The County Council is committed to working 
together with the District Council and the service providers to 
work towards the introduction of a bus service to serve this 
development as part of a strategy for development across 
Newton Abbot and has underlined the importance of early main 
street delivery. 

Opposite: Indicative Movement strategy

87



88



17

Green routes
3.25  Green routes will be provided through and within the site 
providing both internal connection between land parcels and 
links to existing infrastructure which facilitate sustainable links 
to key areas of development and infrastructure. In total the 
site lends itself to facilitating four ‘external’ green routes which 
tie in to existing routes. The four route designations and their 
points of connection are summarised as follows:

Route A: Neighbourhood Hub to Newton Abbot Town 
Centre (West)
The route runs from the Main Street to the northern site 
boundary using a short stretch of existing Public Right of 
Way (PROW) (to be improved for enhanced cycle use where 
possible), then following Old Totnes Road down to the Totnes 
Road A381, where a Toucan would facilitate connectivity into 
the town centre route along the River Lemon.  

Route B: Neighbourhood Hub to Newton Abbot Town 
Centre (East)
The route runs from the Main Street to the northern site 
boundary along a green link incorporated into the residential 
parcel to be located east of the school. The route then follows 
the line of Coach Road, currently with on-road cycle only link, 
but with opportunities for partial off-road cycle / pedestrian 
provision that can be explored. From Coach Road, utilising the 
existing road carriageway of Church Road for cycle purposes, a 
new Toucan crossing over Torquay Road A381 would facilitate 
access directly into the town centre.  

Route C: Main Street to Train Station & Kingsteignton
The route runs from the Main Street to the eastern site 
boundary, feeding into the existing off-road cycle route on 
Kingskerswell Road. Improvements would provide for a 
continuation of the off-road cycle route northwards to allow 
access to Decoy Park and onward links via Keyberry Park road 
to Forde Park and into the existing cycle network serving the 
rail station and linking to National Cycle Network Route 2 and 
Kingsteignton. 

Route D: Neighbourhood Hub to Kingskerswell
The route runs from the neighbourhood hub, along the Main 
Street before turning south along a primary route to provide 
connection into Priory Road and linking into the existing cycle 
network to Kingskerswell village centre. From the south-east 
site boundary this green link continues on-road as a cycle only 
link. 

3.26  In the case of each green route it may be necessary to 
enhance the existing highway network (for instance in relation 
to the provision of new or enhanced road crossings).  In line 
with the National Planning Policy Framework, this will contribute 
signifi cantly towards creating places that are safe, inclusive and 
accessible; and which promote health and wellbeing, with a 
high standard of amenity for existing and future users

Internal Green links
3.27  Internal green links will provide connection across the 
site to provide permeability and tie the site into the external 
links and wider transport infrastructure. The focus of the 
internal links is a foot/ cycle path that runs along the majority 
of the southern site boundary providing connection between 
Kingskerswell Road and Coach Road. The map shows the 
northern and easternmost limits tie into external routes A and 
D respectively.

3.28  From this primary internal link a series of ten further 
links have been identifi ed that pull together the respective 
land parcels including the employment parcels to the east, 
with western frontage on to Kingskerswell Road, and the 
employment parcels with frontage onto Totnes Road.

3.29  Where provided as shared foot/ cycle links these paths 
are proposed with a minimum width of 3.5m. Foot only links 
are proposed at a minimum of 2m wide.  Where, instead of 
single side provision, cycleways are provided on both sides of 
the main street, 3m shared footpath will be provided.  Where 
scheme introduces obstacles such as trees or railings, additional 
path width may be appropriate.

89



18

Land use plan
500 Metres2501250

90



19

Density strategy and land use
3.30  The density and scale of space between units of 
development will vary across the site and across the different 
development parcels to respond to the site sensitivities and 
challenging topography.

3.31 This masterplan shows that higher densities will generally 
be achievable in the lower or less prominent areas. Lower 
density development with a higher proportion of open space 
will be focused toward the external edges of the site facing 
outwards to the wider countryside and respecting the setting of 
the listed church and Conservation Area. Low density character 
but high density units may be achievable in these areas with 
apartments or the provision of a residential care facility. The 
aim is to make sure that there is open space of suffi cient size 
in lower density character areas to support the long term 
establishment of large trees.

3.32  The approach taken is based on dwelling design and 
typology assumptions that demonstrate that 1,500 homes 
can be delivered.  Opportunities to deliver higher densities 
where appropriate will be explored, with higher density units 
and innovative approaches to development on steeper slopes 
beyond the masterplanned developable area it may be feasible.    
These fi gures anticipate development within allocated areas of 
the Wolbrorough Fen hydrological catchment, which is a matter 
that will be addressed through further fen monitoring and 
evidence. 

3.33 The following land use budget illustrates how development 
can be distributed across the site. The numbers correspond 
to the drawing opposite. It demonstrates that the site 
can accommodate more than 1,500 homes, over 7 ha of 
employment land as well as providing suffi cient land for primary 
and secondary education facilities. Detailed information is set 
out on the following tables:

Opposite: Indicative Density strategy

RESIDENTIAL
Parcel Area (m2) Area (ha) Density Units

R1 20,738 2.07
R2a 13,786 1.38
R2b 6,393 0.64 25 16
R3a 7,574 0.76 35 27
R3b 35,545 3.55 20 71
R4 25,540 2.55 32 82
R5 1,684 0.17 25 4
R6a 26,355 2.64 25 66
R6b 18,529 1.85 35 65
R7 10,662 1.07 20 21
R8 10,367 1.04 25 26
R9 39,856 3.99 1
R10a 4,721 0.47 25 12
R10b 40,397 4.04 1
R11a 5,839 0.58 20 12
R11b 10,551 1.06
R12a 25,137 2.51 0
R12b 2,424 0.24 20 5
R13 9,446 0.94
R14 11,556 1.16 5
R15 8,731 0.87
R16a 21,934 2.19
R16b 5,473 0.55 25 14
R17 10,246 1.02
R18 32,274 3.23 1
Total 405,758 40.6 3 1 66

Mixed use
M1 15,585 1.56 10
M2 10,699 1.07 0
Total 26,284 2.63 0

TOTAL 1 06

EMPLOYMENT
Parcel Area (m2) Area (ha)

E1 10,199 1.02
E2 15,955 1.60
E3 22,080 2.21
E4 16,223 1.62
E5 6,954 0.70
Total 71,411 7.14

SCHOOL
Parcel Area (m2) Area (ha)

S1 (Primary) 17,623
S2 (Secondary) 32,000 3.20
Total 49,623 4.96

MIXED USE
Parcel Area (m2) Area (ha)

M1 15,585 1.
M2 10,699 1.07
Total 26,284 2.63

SUMMARY 
Parcel Provision

Area (ha)
Residential 1500 units 40.58
Employment 10 7.14
Education 5.0 4.96
Mixed use 2.63
Formal/informal green space (Park space) 2.15 3.31
Active recreation (Outdoor sports pitches) 3.42 0
Children and young people's space 1.27 0.98
Natural green space 6.33 26 ha
Allotments 0.76 1.46
Land retained in agricultural use 16.88
Highway 4.55
Attenuation 5.80
Electricity sub-station 0.12

91



2020202020202020202220202020

500 Metres2501250

92



21

Landscape strategy

3.34  At a strategic scale, this landscape strategy would guide 
the following outcomes:

•  Integrate the development into the existing wider landscape 
context:
- retain (where appropriate) the pattern of existing   

hedges, trees and woodlands;
- refl ect the pattern of the surrounding landscape; and
- add to the existing landscape structure

•  Provide a setting and structure for the new development 
that:
- mitigates the impacts of development by minimising 

the scale of change to the landscape and minimises the 
erosion of visual amenity; 

- produce a contained, green and rural setting for the 
Church of St Mary and enhances views of the church as 
well as views out from the church;

- build on the landscape heritage of Newton Abbot’s 19th 
century Italianate architecture and landscape; and 

- create separation between development areas that allows 
the creation of distinct character areas that relate to the 
character of neighbouring development areas / build on 
vernacular architecture of the context;

•  Provide green, wildlife links that:
- conserve existing vegetation for wildlife and, in particular, 

fl yways and foraging areas for greater horseshoe bats;
- strengthen the existing vegetation; and
- extend upon the existing vegetation to enhance and 

increase wildlife habitat, in particular habitat for Greater 
Horseshoe Bats.

- These links will be subject further evidence but are 
indicated on the landscape strategy map.

•  Conserve, where appropriate, the existing landscape 
fabric of hedges and trees to provide time depth, existing 
screening/ amelioration, conserve wildlife.

•  Provide a framework for open recreation space that 
includes:
- open hill top experience with far reaching views;
- areas of open space where there is freedom to roam; and 

- a network of circuitous routes of varying length and 
offering a range of countryside experiences.

- Provide the opportunity for foraging and contact with the 
countryside. 

- Work to assist with water attenuation.
- A response to potential recreational impacts on the 

Wolborough Fen SSSI associated with nutrifi cation
- Addressing the interaction between additional public 

access to woodland and associated biodiversity impacts

3.35  At a more localised scale, the landscape can also perform 
the following roles:

•  Incorporate formal pockets of areas to provide opportunities 
for play for young people and children.

•  Produce an attractive and decorative structure that provides 
a transition between a domestic urban character and more 
rural structural framework and wider landscape context.

•  Elegantly and economically resolve awkward level changes  
the result of developing on steep slopes - in particular, 
the integration of the main street, making use of dropped 
hedgebanks.

3.36  As outlined above, this illustrative landscape strategy 
may be subject to changes associated with a more detailed 
understanding of matters including the SSSI, GHB, wildlife links 
and the Wolborough Fen.

Opposite: Indicative Landscape strategy

93



22

Landscape character and density
3.37  The existing character of the site is defi ned by the 
farming pasture, adjacent woodland and fi eld boundary 
vegetation. Development will alter this character; however, 
elements of the adjoining landscape character can be brought 
into the development by creating transitional spaces that link 
the development with the landscape and provide each area 
with a locally set character.  

3.38  Neighbourhood Area 2 is planned to include the 
school and community hub as well as housing.  Although 
this will entail a distinct increase in activity of this area, it is 
paramount that this area respects this part of the setting of 
St Mary’s Church. Landscape opportunities to achieve this are 
described in the Heritage Strategy. 

3.39  Neighbourhood areas 3 and 4 will be formed from a 
mixture of densities and will retain a more formalised urban 
development character on its eastern edge and parkland edge 
to the south and west. Where density is proposed to be higher 
is where the development will adjoin the formalised community 
open space thereby softening the edge of the development 
whilst providing natural policing by being well overlooked by the 
surrounding community. To the edges of these plots density can 
be reduced where it meets the rural edge and existing woodland. 
Community growing space and retention of existing hedgerows 
and defi ned green links through the development parcels would 
ensure that there is transition and connectivity between the 
development areas and the adjoining landscape.

3.40  Neighbourhood area 1 has the ingredients to also share 
a mix of densities and usage, with higher density focused in 
the to the north west and lower density where the site lies 
closer to Firestone Lane on the eastern side.  In landscape 
terms, this area is already relatively self contained within 
the existing vegetated boundaries.  These boundaries and 
hedgerow corridors can be maintained and strengthened 
to ensure green links remain connected.  Open space and 
community allotment areas are shown at the edge of the 
parcels which softens the development edge.  

Green spaces
3.41  A series of landscape spaces can be created as part of the 
green infrastructure on the site. These would perform a range 
of functions, including informal recreation, play, sustainable 
drainage and contributing to the overall ecology provision. A 
series of neighbourhood green spaces and courtyards would 
also provide attractive spaces for use by surrounding residents. 

Planting
3.42  The landscape strategy includes additional woodland 
habitat to the north of the site to create screening elements to 
views from the Wolborough Conservation Area and St Mary’s 
Church, the additional linear woodland would be dispersed with 
species to create a natural foraging space for the community 
and also as a potential learning resource for the school. Further 
small pockets of woodland would support the existing bat/
wildlife corridors along the western edge of the site, with existing 
hedgerows thickened to further reinforce wildlife routes.

3.43  Dark corridors are introduced across the site will be needed 
to provide further fl ight/foraging areas for the Greater Horseshoe 
Bat, these also serve as corridor routes for other wildlife. 
Crossing points across the main street will need to be introduced 
to provide safe and dark crossings for bats (see page 24).

3.44  Long term habitat management will be based upon the 
duration of impact.  Habitat management will need to be in-
perpetuity where the impacts are permanent and irreversible.

3.45  Additional trees across the site would provide additional 
green infrastructure at height and enable the integration of 
the development within the site, as well as creating distinction 
between the different neighbourhood areas. Planting that fails 
within 5 years will be replaced.

Public Open Space
3.46  Public open space can be provided as part of a network 
of interconnected green and blue spaces providing highly 
accessible recreation and play opportunities alongside new and 
improved wildlife habitats. 

Children and young people’s play space
3.47  Based on a site capacity of around 1,500 homes, two 
combined NEAPS and LEAPS are proposed, each with an activity 
area of at least 3,000m2. These have been identifi ed either side 
of Decoy Brake so that residents in the east and west of the site 
will all be within a 480m distance of a strategic play space.  A 
further 6 400m2 LEAPs are proposed, of which 4 are shown on 
The Illustrative Masterplan and a further 2 are expected to come 
forward within development areas.  

Natural greenspace
3.48  Wolborough’s undulating landscape presents development 
constraints but also opportunities to retain a very signifi cant 
element of natural green space across the site.  Against a local 
plan expectation for approximately 6.3 ha, a network of 26 ha 

of natural greenspace has been identifi ed in addition to 17 ha 
of land retained for agricultural use, on which increased public 
access can also be achieved.  

3.49  As outlined above, this illustrative landscape strategy 
may be subject to changes associated with a more detailed 
understanding of associated matters, including wildlife links and 
Wolborough Fen SSSI hydrology.

Formal and Informal Greenspace
3.50  Formal and informal greenspaces have been identifi ed 
at key nodes across the masterplan area, often coinciding 
with other public spaces or community facilities.  Like natural 
greenspace, there is an opportunity to exceed Local Plan 
expectations as to the area of land that will be set out for 
formal and informal greenspace facilities.   

Active recreation
3.51  This masterplan identifi es an opportunity for a single 
informal playing pitch within neighbourhood area 1.  There 
may be opportunities for additional pitches on other fl atter 
parcels within the masterplan area but land like this is limited 
and has been identifi ed as most suitable for development.  
The site is surrounded by a range of playing pitches, including 
some where issues that limit levels of use have been identifi ed 
through the 2018 Teignbridge Playing Pitch Strategy.  Against 
a Local Plan expectation that around 3.4 ha will be provided, 
it may be appropriate to deliver improvements to local pitch 
facilities through a proportionate fi nancial contribution.

3.52  There is an opportunity to incorporate a multi-use 
games area (MUGA) where a NEAP has also been identifi ed in 
Neighbourhood area 3.

Allotments
3.53  Opportunities for allotments have been identifi ed in 
neighbourhood areas 1 and 3.  The land area involved exceed 
Local Plan expectations.  It will be important to address land 
contamination when laying out the allotments, especially in 
neighbourhood area 1 where there is a former landfi ll.  National 
Allotment Society guidance will help to inform the laying 
out of the allotments, albeit a bespoke approach to access 
arrangements at Wolborough may be appropriate.  Once 
established, it is anticipated that allotments will be passed to 
the Town Council to manage.

Wildlife links and connections
3.54  The landscape strategy shows the retention of hedgerows 

94



23

within the proposed development. Existing hedgerows and 
linear tree groups would be largely retained within the site 
and would be supplemented by additional planting across 
the development to provide further structure to the existing 
green network providing new elements to create new links.  
The adjoining extents of the Blackball Plantation and Decoy 
Brake woodland would be a major green infrastructure asset 
of the site due to the central location that it takes within the 
development space.  The development of the site would allow 
the woodland to become an amenity resource and an integral 
part of the site mitigation. A management strategy would 
consider the maintenance and management of existing and 
proposed woodland and hedgerows to maximise amenity and 
biodiversity value.

3.55  Existing retained vegetation can be used to provide green 
infrastructure across the site forming links and creating more 
integration of the development into the surrounding landscape. 
It is proposed to retain and manage boundary and internal 
hedgerows and woodland to maximise the degree of screening 
provided from adjacent dwellings and public roads around the 
development. This would also maintain habitat connectivity 
around and within the network of retained vegetation.

Great Crested Newts - Avoid, mitigate and compensate 
for impacts of greater crested newts in the eastern parts 
of NA3, include: installing newt underpasses and direction 
landscaping; maintaining newt access routes between ponds 
to the east of Kingskerswell Road and woodland adjacent 
to NA3; and provision of enhancement via new ponds and 
hibernacula;

Cirl Buntings - Avoid and mitigate for impacts on cirl 
buntings in the south of the site, including ongoing provision 
of spring barley/winter stubbles and rough grassland.  If the 
current number of breeding birds cannot be maintained on 
site, a compensation contribution towards off site habitat 
creation is likely to be necessary;

Diverse Grassland - Protect areas of diverse grassland on-
site and close by off-site, including the Stray Park Meadow 
County Wildlife Site, and any remaining diverse grassland 
in the northwest-most (GI) fi eld of NA3, which historically 
supported unimproved calcareous species on raised 
earthworks;

Barn Owl – protect the barn owl roost site in Hennaborough 
Barn;

Nesting Swallows – retain the existing level and location of 
nesting swallows and other birds in the series of openings in 
the eaves of the historic barn at Wolborough Barton;

Existing woodlands – not only protect, and protect root 
zones, but also to enhance Decoy Woods, Decoy Brake and 
Blackhall Plantation.  A key factor will be cessation of grazing 
within the woodland;

Biodiversity Offsetting – follow South Devon biodiversity 
off setting guidance to ensure a net gain in biodiversity is 
achieved;

Urban area biodiversity enhancement measures – this 
includes hedgehog holes in every wall/fence and integral bat 
roost and bird nest boxes at a rate of 1 of each per dwelling 
(but positioned in groups in suitable areas).

95



24

Development parcel

Woodland

Main street

Bat fl yway

Exis  ng hedgerow

Main street crossing point

Secondary crossing points

Poten  al bat roost loca  ons

500 Metres2501250

96



25

Greater Horseshoe Bat design framework
3.56  The greater horseshoe bat is one of Britain’s largest 
and rarest bats, with a total UK population of about 5500 
individuals. As with all bat species, the greater horseshoe (and 
its’ roosts) is protected under the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017. Due to its rarity, the greater 
horseshoe is also listed on Annex II of the EU Habitats 
Directive. This makes it a qualifying feature for the designation 
of Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), such as the South 
Hams SAC which supports approximately 30% of the UK 
population including a signifi cant network of hibernation and 
maternity roosts. 

3.57  Greater horseshoe bats forage predominately within 
and adjacent to grazed pasture, woodland and hedgerows. 
Commuting follows a network of traditional fl yways such as 
hedgerows between roosts and foraging areas. These are 
susceptible to breaks or interruption. Although the site does not 
lie within a core sustenance zone (within 4km of the SAC) the 
southern portion does lie within a strategic fl yway, identifi ed as 
a likely key link through the wider landscape for bats within the 
SAC area. As such, this masterplan supports the conservation 
objectives of the South Hams SAC, in particular to maintain or 
restore:

• The extent and distribution of habitats used by greater 
horseshoe bats;

• The structure and function of such habitats;
• The population of the species; and
• Its distribution within the SAC.

3.58  A draft Appropriate Assessment was prepared during 
drafting of this masterplan.  As the document now does 
not take the form of a Local Development Document, its 
fi nalisation was not necessary.  Instead, it will be necessary for 
Teignbridge Council to undertake an Appropriate Assessment in 
response to planning applications at Wolborough and bespoke 
bat mitigation plans received therewith.   

3.59  The draft Appropriate Assessment recommended a 
series of design principles in order to avoid or mitigate any 

adverse effects and support the conservation objectives. These 
measures, bolstered by comments received from partners and 
consultees like Natural England, have been incorporated into 
this masterplan.

Design Principles
3.60  Protect and optimise existing (and provide new) bat 
commuting and foraging habitat through the site to achieve 
overall connectivity. In particular the landscape linkages to 
Conitor Copse, the River Lemon, the strategic Flyway and 
towards Kingskerswell.

3.61  Minimise potential interruption of bat corridors by the 
proposed road network, in particular within Decoy Brake and 
the north-western extent near Ogwell Cross cemetery. 

3.62  Achieve no net loss of key grassland foraging habitat and 
mitigate, where appropriate, for any unavoidable loss of grazed 
pasture. 

3.63  Achieve no overall net loss of hedgerows and trees within 
the site. 

3.64  Avoid light spill in bat corridors and foraging areas, i.e. 
achieve light levels of less than 0.5 lux.

3.65  Ensure that any public footpath/cycleways through 
bat corridors are unlit, or if necessary, lit through a carefully 
designed scheme to minimise light spill whilst providing safe 
and adequate lighting for pedestrians and cyclists.

3.66  Ensure that the provision of areas of public open space 
in or near the bat corridors are designed and maintained to 
provide habitat for foraging and commuting bats.

3.67  Produce a bespoke Greater Horseshoe Bat Mitigation Plan 
with any application to detail the design and implementation of 
these measures, supported and informed by up to date survey 
information.

Avoidance, Mitigation and Enhancement
3.68  Primary corridors, such as the southern boundary within 
the strategic fl yway, will be approximately 50m wide with 
existing hedgerows and tree lines thickened with infi ll planting 
and parallel hedge banks planted to provide alternative 
commuting routes. Secondary corridors will be 10-20m in width 
and will also comprise of double hedge banks (with new hedges 
planted where necessary).

3.69  Any road crossings through bat corridors will require 
detailed mitigation, potentially including green bridges or 
underpasses, earthworks, sensitive lighting design, landscaping 
and vehicle speed restrictions and calming measures.

3.70  Undertake tree planting to provide new areas of 
woodland habitat for foraging bats.

3.71  Create at least two new purpose built bat roosts to 
improve the number of satellite roosts within the strategic 
fl yway network.

3.72  Provide habitat management for each development parcel 
in perpetuity through a Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan (LEMP).

3.73  Implement development through the means of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP).

3.74  Undertake appropriate and proportionate ecological 
monitoring of the LEMP to establish the effectiveness of 
proposed mitigation measures and to provide early warning 
of any necessary remedial actions required. The Local Plan 
requires a bespoke bat mitigation plan.  The indicative green 
infrastructure proposals shown in this masterplan may change 
on the basis of the preparation of up to date data.

Opposite: Indicative Greater Horseshoe Bat design framework 

97



26
500 Metres2501250

98



27

Drainage Strategy 
3.75  It is a requirement of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Policy Guidance, 
that new development should not increase fl ood risk and where 
possible should reduce existing risks. Urbanisation will increase 
fl ood risk because the introduction of hard surfaces onto 
greenfi eld land without mitigation will increase the maximum 
rates of discharge, the speed of run off, the overall volume of 
run off and result in an overall deterioration in the water quality 
of the run off. Mitigation is therefore required and should be 
provided as part of good urban design.

3.76  In this locality compliance with any additional 
requirements of the Devon County Council (DCC) Sustainable 
Drainage Systems Guidance is necessary. More specifi c 
technical details should be as set out in CIRIA C753 ‘The 
SuDS Manual’ (2015). Where elements of the surface water 
drainage system are to be adopted by South West Water 
(SWW) compliance will be required with the version of 
Sewers for Adoption current at the time of individual reserved 
matters applications. Similarly any highways only surface 
water systems from adoptable surfaces should be compliant 
with the requirements of DCC as highway authority. Exemplar 
SuDS will provide the mitigation required to protect the water 
environment. A high quality SuDS scheme should also consider 
amenity and biodiversity.

3.77  Over and beyond the above, in the catchment of the 
Site of Special Scientifi c Interest (SSSI), it will be necessary 
to ensure that the quality, quantity and reliability of the 
groundwater into the SSSI is not adversely impacted by the 
proposed development within the SSSI catchment;  Measures 
to address fl ood risk will not necessarily address potential 
impacts upon the hydrological function required to safeguard 
and enhance Wolborough Fen SSSI. A suitable evidence 
base (see Appendix A: Wolborough Fen SSSI Catchment: 
Groundwater Monitoring Strategy) will need to be established 
to inform the suitability of development areas within the 
SSSI catchment.  It is likely that a combined response will be 
required within the SSSI catchment either an integrated SuDS 
system which addresses both groundwater and fl ood risk or as 
discrete elements.

3.78  As a general principle it is better to control water within 
a new development at ‘source’ rather than try and provide 
all control and mitigation of surface water through a larger 

downstream facility serving a wide area; this approach is 
supported by the DCC Sustainable Drainage Systems Guidance; 
to address water quality requirements, surface water (other 
than clean water from roof areas alone)  there should be a 
minimum of two levels of treatment prior to its discharge 
into the wider water environment (i.e prior to discharge to a 
watercourse or by infi ltration) unless agreed otherwise with 
the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). Specifi cally, surface 
water should be treated to Water Quality Standards 1 and 2 
as defi ned in the SuDS Manual 2015 paras 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 and 
Table 4.3, using a SuDS Management Train including at least 
two SuDS components, unless agreed otherwise with the LLFA.

3.79  As a general principle it is always advantageous to 
respect the existing topography and allow water to continue 
to discharge to existing outfalls (natural watercourses, areas 
of infi ltration etc.) unless there are compelling reasons to 
do otherwise.  The plan on page 28 highlights the main 
catchments in the area and the sub catchments within the site 
(which are to be refi ned through monitoring). The identifi ed 
catchments will from the key for future SuDS schemes for the 
development that address the NPPF (together with the NPPG) 
and DCCSDSG.

3.80  To address fl ood risk,  the existing watercourses and 
topographic ‘dry’ valleys could be retained as blue/green 
corridors as far as this is reasonably possible. To ensure 
that the blue/green corridors are of suffi cient width to 
accommodate both appropriate drainage features and any 
existing areas which occasionally fl ood, it may be necessary to 
model the existing watercourses using a methodology agreed 
with DCC\Environment Agency. The likely and indicative 
extent of blue/green corridors is captured on the plan on 
page 26, which takes account of the hydrological context and 
the proposed SuDS strategy however location and detail of 
these features will be refi ned at the planning application stage 
following hydrogeological monitoring. Additional or alternative 
drainage measures may be appropriate given refi nement as a 
result of monitoring or refi nement of development proposals.  
Measures to address fl ood risk will not necessarily address 
potential impacts upon the hydrological function required 
to safeguard and enhance Wolborough Fen SSSI, unless 
options such as infi ltration are designed into the system to 
ensure groundwater recharge. Designs will be informed by 
a programme of monitoring as discussed as discussed below 
and detailed in the Draft Groundwater Monitoring Strategy 
within Appendix A.

Working from ‘source’ downstream 
3.81  A potential range of SuDS features are identifi ed below, 
however additional features can be incorporated where 
appropriate, along with some catchment specifi c provisions (as 
per the map on page 26) that are set out separately below:

(i)  Opportunities to use green roofs explored especially for 
community buildings;

(ii)  Individual source control features such as water butts are 
an easy and sensible provision which could be provided 
throughout individual properties;

(iii)  In locations where it is demonstrated that infi ltration is viable, 
infi ltration features used for individual properties  where 
appropriate. However, this solution is likely to be limited to 
areas where ground conditions are proven to be suitable 
through in situ tests and assessments of general topography. 

(iv)  In the catchment of the SSSI, groundwater monitoring will 
establish in more detail the movement of groundwater and 
seasonal variations where it may be appropriate to consider 
additional infi ltration types features such as swales, rain 
gardens etc.

(v)  All property fi nished fl oor levels (FFLs) set to avoid 
vulnerability to fl ooding from exceedance fl ows (i.e fl ows 
across the surface in very wet weather upslope either off 
undeveloped areas or due to drainage system exceedance); 
exceedance fl ood routing is to be demonstrated in detailed 
design submissions making use of identifi ed blue-green 
corridors as the collection point for overland fl ows to be 
controlled prior to exit from site;

(vi)  Permeable surfaces considered and maximised where 
appropriate within the development (See CIRIA C753)

(vii)  Given the steeply sloping nature of the site swales (unlined 
where feasible)  should be considered particularly at 
the sides of roads routed along the contours. These will 
capture fl ows and mitigate rapid run off and promote wider 
groundwater recharge. Consideration should be given to 
roads within the development being routed along contours 
with relative slack gradients in order for permeable surfaces 
to be introduced in appropriate areas, subject to adoptability 
considerations. The basic concept of some primary swales 
is picked up on the indicative drainage strategy masterplan. 
The swales, which would in effect provide some linear 
attenuation/infi ltration would be provided with exceedance 
controls; to maximise attenuation/infi ltration and treatment 
potential and minimise velocities and potential erosion risk, 
check dams may be necessary for the swales following 
appropriate best practice.

Opposite: Indicative Drainage strategy

99



28

HENNABOROUGH
CATCHMENT

ALLER BROOK
EAST

CATCHMENT

ALLER BROOK
FLOOD PLAIN

WOLBOROUGH
FEN SSSI

CATCHMENT

ALLER BROOK
CENTRAL

CATCHMENT

ALLER BROOK
WEST

CATCHMENT

WOLBOROUGH
LEMON SOUTH
CATCHMENT

DECOY
COUNTRY PARK

CATCHMENT

WOLBOROUGH
LEMON NORTH

CATCHMENT

CATCHMENT OF
RIVER LEMON

CATCHMENT OF
ALLER BROOK

HENNABOROUGH / ALLER BROOK
SYSTEM CONFLUENCE

RE

Pro

Dra

TE
FA
e-m

AR
HE
LE
LS6

Cli

TE

W

HY

K

S

P1

N

Catchment plan
500 Metres2501250

100



29

E

o

a

E
A
m

R
E

6

E

W

Y

K

S

1

N

(viii)  Strategic attenuation or infi ltration areas together with 
interlinked source control features can be provided to 
restrict outgoing fl ows from individual areas to greenfi eld 
run off rates or promote infi ltration and groundwater 
recharge where feasible.

Appropriate long-term maintenance
3.82  Appropriate long-term maintenance plans for SuDS are vital 
to ensure performance of systems in perpetuity. This is particularly 
important where drainage features are to assist with the 
protection of the SSSI groundwater recharges. It is envisaged that 
the following bodies will be responsible for the various elements:

Maintenance Issue Maintenance Body
Green roofs, water butts, 
individual property soakaways 
and surface water drains 
including SuDS (e.g permeable 
surfaces).

Individual property owners 
or appropriate management 
company.

Adoptable highway drains DCC as Highway Authority 
where appropriate

Adoptable surface water 
sewers

SWW as water utility where 
appropriate

Swales Management company or 
SWW (depending on future 
approaches to SuDS adoption 
to be provided in SfA 8th and 
local policies in relation to SfA 
8th)

Attenuation (including 
infi ltration basins)

Management company

Retained watercourses 
including any on-line 
attenuation

Riparian owner and/or 
management company

Construction Impacts
3.83  A temporary surface water drainage management plan 
and groundwater protection plan will demonstrate how surface 
water runoff  generated during the construction period and 
construction activities will be managed to manage both fl ood 
risk concerns but also protection of the downstream SSSI. This 
plan will be prepared and implemented before any other works 
are commenced, and be based upon the evidence gathered 
through the GMS (Appendix A). The submission and agreement 
of this information will ensure that:

(i)  The receiving environment (including groundwater) is 
protected from construction activities and associated 
surface water runoff during the construction phase; 

(ii) Components of the permanent surface water drainage 
management system are protected from contamination or 
damage during the construction phase; 

(iii) A groundwater protection plan is developed allowing 
natural infi ltration characteristics of the site soils and 
subsoils are protected and groundwater quality and 
quantity is protected. 

(iv) A permanent (and temporary) surface water management 
system where runoff is conveyed and stored, as designed, 
without causing unacceptable erosion, channelling or 
sedimentation, is delivered;

(v) Appropriate inspections during the construction period can 
be accommodated. 

3.84  The development of the temporary surface water strategy 
and groundwater protection plan  within the SSSI catchment 
(as discussed below) will require detailed assessment. This 
will include additional detail (to be agreed with relevant 
authorities) such as the timetable and type of groundworks 
(including machinery to be used), storage of materials, detailed 
analysis of the risk of impacts of associated groundworks on 
the SSSI hydrology. Mitigation measures will need to be based 
upon the detail established within the fi nal fen monitoring 
strategy presented within Appendix A, data from groundwater 
monitoring on site and the detailed construction approach.

Catchment Specifi c Proposals
Hennaborough Catchment:
3.85  Given the largely self-contained nature of the 
‘Hennaborough Catchment’ (i.e it is more or less entirely 
within the NA3 Masterplan area) there is potential for the 
establishment of blue green corridor along the valley at 
the downstream end of each development parcel with 
attenuation\infi ltration drainage features being provided ‘on 
line’ or alongside the watercourses within the valley at the 
downstream end of each development parcel. It is far easier 
to provide the drainage features in a valley as the natural 
land form allows storage areas to be provided cost effectively 
with an aesthetically improved outcome and close ties into 
the biodiversity objectives of a blue green corridor. Providing 
attenuation on steep slopes is likely to be diffi cult to achieve 
and will not be aesthetically attractive. It is recognised that this 
approach requires the consent of DCC as LLFA and may require 
ecological investigation in due course to ensure that the blue/

green corridor provides the required ecological enhancements 
relative to the current baseline.

3.86  It will be necessary to develop a holistic model of the 
development surface water drainage system and the retained 
watercourse in order to demonstrate (a) that outfl ows from 
the Hennaborough Catchment (downstream of the application 
boundary) do not exceed the present baseline at all fl ow states 
up to the ‘design fl ood’; (b) that any retained or improved 
sections of watercourse can convey fl ows and that exceedance 
water is contained within the extent of the blue/green corridor 
at all fl ow states up to the ‘design fl ood’; and (c) that any 
new bridges structures can convey the ‘design fl ood’ with a 
freeboard as agreed with DCC.

3.87  This specifi c catchment provides an opportunity for an 
exemplar blue/green corridor. However if it is not possible to 
deliver a full blue/green approach, additional or alternative 
drainage measures may be appropriate given refi nement as 
a result of ongoing catchment monitoring or refi nement of 
development plans consistent with national and local policy and 
guidance.  

3.88  Given land contamination at the southern end of the 
industrial estate adjacent to Kingkerswell Road, infi ltration is 
likely not be an option here. Lined attenuation features could 
be provided either on the watercourse ‘on line’ (as described in 
item (a) above) OR ‘off line’ in this area.

3.89  Given land contamination at the southern end of the 
industrial estate adjacent to Kingkerswell Road, infi ltration is 
likely not be an option here. Lined attenuation features could 
be provided either on the watercourse ‘on line’ (as described in 
item (a) above) OR ‘off line’ in this area.

Wolborough Fen SSSI Catchment
3.90  The Wolborough Fen SSSI catchment is complex in terms 
of hydrology and groundwater recharge.  Uncertainties exist 
which relate to the distribution and behaviour of infi ltration 
across this catchment, and how this relates to the hydrological 
functioning of the SSSI. Development within these areas is 
conditional upon an evidence based approach (as detailed in 
the Draft Groundwater Monitoring Strategy within Appendix 
A) that will provide a reliable understanding of the catchment 
functioning. This evidence base should be used to inform the 
suitability of development options within the Wolborough Fen 
SSSI catchment.  

Opposite: Indicative Catchment plan 

101



30

102



31

3.91  There are no watercourses in this catchment, although 
there are 2 ‘dry’ valleys (adjoining the wood in the south and 
along the east west fence line in the north).  It seems likely 
that groundwater  is normally recharged through infi ltration. 
It is likely that surface fl ows in very wet weather (when soils 
are saturated) will run down slope into the valleys where it 
will normally infi ltrate into the ground. Within this catchment 
the drainage strategy could be provided consistent with SuDS 
described  as per 7 above however it is likely that drainage 
features (designed to discharge largely by infi ltration) will be 
provided based on in-situ testing and recommendations of the 
Groundwater Monitoring Strategy. There is potential for areas 
to be retained as blue\green corridors. 

3.92  It is recognised that in extreme events exceedance 
fl ows (above the design standard of the drainage features)  
(see item (d) below), it may be necessary to provide an 
emergency overfl ow from the any proposed drainage feature 
that routes water either towards the watercourse that drains 
the ‘Decoy Country Park catchment’ or, subject to agreement 
by Natural England (NE) into the SSSI (as would occur in the 
current baseline situation). Any overfl ow proposal requires the 
agreement of Devon CC as Lead Local Flood Authority and 
Natural England. All proposals in this area will be subject to 
the outcome of monitoring proposals (see Appendix A). The 
impacts of any overfl ow proposal on the receiving watercourse 
during the ‘design fl ood’ must be assessed by a methodology 
acceptable to DCC, and in the case of a discharge into the 
SSSI, DCC and Natural England.

3.93  The extent of infi ltration based drainage features  within 
the catchment will be established via the monitoring proposals, 
with any measures adopting the type of principles deemed 
acceptable as if this were a formally identifi ed groundwater 
source protection area. (see EA, Groundwater Protection: 
Principles and Practice (GP3) -Policy G13). Compliance with 
GP3 Policy G13 generally requires the use of two or more 
SuDS treatment steps except in the case of clean surface 
water from roof areas alone. However, as part of the ‘over-
arching’ strategy compliance with the requirements of Water 
Quality Standards 1 and 2 as defi ned in the SuDS Manual 2015 
paras 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 and Table 4.3 is necessary which would 
normally also secure compliance with GP3 policy G13.

3.94  Preliminary information indicates that relatively high 
groundwater levels  may occur in this area. However, as it is 

necessary to maximise infi ltration of clean-water it is likely 
to be necessary to relax the normal requirements for a 1m 
differential between the base of infi ltration features and top 
groundwater levels to allow appropriate infi ltration features 
not to be discounted where they are deemed appropriate for 
recharge of groundwater within the catchment. This would 
be justifi ed in non-sensitive locations given the extensive 
proposed groundwater monitoring; such a relaxation will not 
be permitted in the case of traditional soakaways serving 
individual properties. Where such relaxation is permitted, it 
will be necessary for it to be demonstrated that a sensible and 
pragmatic design approach has been adopted and any resultant 
‘exceedance water’ can be safely stored on site or discharged 
via an emergency outfall as described at item (a) above.

3.95  Preliminary information indicates that relatively high 
groundwater levels may occur in this area. However, in order to 
maximise infi ltration of clean-water it is likely to be necessary to 
relax the normal requirements for a 1m differential between the 
base of infi ltration features and top groundwater levels which 
would be justifi ed in non-sensitive locations given the extensive 
proposed groundwater monitoring; such a relaxation will not be 
permitted in the case of traditional soakaways serving individual 
properties. Where such relaxation is permitted, this will be 
as a result of having also demonstrated that a sensible and 
pragmatic design approach has been adopted and any resultant 
‘exceedance water’ can be safely stored on site or discharged 
via an emergency outfall as described at item (a) above.

3.96  However, there is a risk that groundwater quality would 
be compromised if any deviation from the policies set out in GP 
3 were to be permitted.

3.97  Earthworks to accommodate the development in this 
location should be minimised due to the potential for such 
works to disrupt the baseline groundwater regime.

3.98  Earthworks to accommodate the development in this 
location should be minimised due to the potential for such 
works to disrupt the baseline groundwater regime.

Decoy Country Park Catchment:
3.99  The watercourse will receive discharges from the land to 
the north.
 
3.100  If it is proposed to locate attenuation on or in close 

proximity to the existing watercourse it will be necessary to 
develop a holistic model of the development surface water 
drainage system and the retained watercourse in order to 
demonstrate (a) that outfl ows from the Decoy Country Park 
Catchment (downstream of the application boundary) do 
not exceed the present baseline at all fl ow states up to the 
‘design fl ood’; (b) that any retained or improved sections of 
watercourse can convey fl ows and that exceedance water 
does not generate a fl ow path outwith the extent of the blue/
green corridor at all fl ow states up to the ‘design fl ood’; and (c) 
that any new bridges structures can convey the ‘design fl ood’ 
with a freeboard as agreed with DCC and (d) an interception 
watercourse will pick up fl ows entering the site from the north 
and route the associated ‘design fl ood’ to a point downstream 
of the last attenuation feature.

3.101  Alternatively, it would be acceptable to provide 
attenuation on the south side of the watercourse.

3.102  The valley is identifi ed as a blue corridor on the attached 
drainage strategy masterplan;

Wolborough (Lemon Catchment) (South): 
3.103  This area naturally drains into a culverted ordinary 
watercourse that runs through the existing urban area of 
Wolborough and then northwards to the River Lemon. Any 
future detailed planning application will need to investigate 
the capacity of the downstream system to ensure that the 
betterment provided by any proposed development is suffi cient 
to address any local capacity constraints immediately adjacent 
to the proposals.

Aller Brook East: 
3.104  On site attenuation to outfall into Aller Brook

Aller Brook Flood Plain: 
3.105  There may be opportunities to improve the functionality 
of the fl ood plain to improve water quality, aesthetics and 
biodiversity

Opposite: Examples of SUDs

103



32

Low density 
development to refl ect 
the Conservation Area

Protect and maintain 
views to the church 
through the development

Low density 
development on 
visually prominent 
slopes to reduce the 
impact on the 
landscape setting and 
views from the church

Road alignment 
moved away from the 
church and farm

Maintain visible green 
corridor from the 
church to respect the 
existing landscape 
setting

Non-designated heritage asset

500 Metres2501250

104



33

Heritage Strategy
3.106  This strategy considers both the impact of the 
proposed development on the signifi cance of each of 
the heritage assets, and the potential for maximising 
enhancement and/or minimising harm of the development of 
the site.

Church of St Mary the Virgin 
3.107  The site in its current state makes a minor positive 
contribution to the signifi cance of the Church of St Mary the 
Virgin, through the provision of rural context. Development 
of the site will remove a portion of the wider rural setting 
of the Church, and owing to direct views available to and 
from the asset, it is considered that this change within the 
wider setting will be experienced in relation to the asset. 
Development will remove a degree of the historic illustrative 
value of the setting, through eroding some of the sense of 
rural isolation within which the asset is experienced, although 
this aspect of the Church’s character is largely experienced 
in immediate and intermediate views, although longer views 
from All Saints Church in Highweek are also relevant. The 
views affected relate to those available to the south, and 
not the historically established views northward identifi ed 
within the Conservation Area. The proposed works to the 
barns at Wolborough Barton can achieve a small degree 
of enhancement to the immediate setting of the Church. 
Development of the land south of Wolborough Barton Farm 
represents a signifi cant departure from the historic footprint 
of the farmstead, and through this change within the wider 
setting of St Mary the Virgin it has the potential to cause, 
if unmitigated, moderate harm to the signifi cance of the 
Church.  

Wolborough Conservation Area 
3.108  The site makes a minor positive contribution to the 
signifi cance of the asset through the contribution it makes 
to the area’s character and appearance as part of the rural 
setting. The presence of Decoy County Park to the south of 
the Conservation Area provides a substantial element of its 
wider setting and occludes much of the southern regions of 
the Site from direct intervisibility with the Conservation Area. 
The open fi eld parcels to the south-west of the Conservation 
Area, in the vicinity of Wolborough Barton are experienced in 
relation to the Conservation Area and fall within its setting. 
Development upon them would remove their open rural 

character with a consequent impact on views south from 
College Road, although in these views the fi elds are already 
viewed alongside residential development between College 
Road and Coach Road. Views of the site are also available 
from Coach Road, within the vicinity of the Wolborough 
Barton Farm and the Church, and also from further east, and 
the erosion of the rural setting would be evident from these 
locations. Development upon the fi eld parcels proximate 
to the Conservation Area’s southern edge would have the 
potential to cause moderate harm to the signifi cance of the 
Wolborough Conservation Area, if unmitigated.

Wolborough Barton Farm 
3.109   As identifi ed above the site in its present state makes 
a strong positive contribution to the signifi cance of the asset. 
Conversion of the barns into a hotel will see the retention, 
renovation and re-purposing of the historic fabric which, 
whilst causing a degree of loss in relation to the historic 
function of the non-designated asset, serves to retain a 
substantial degree of historic fabric, within a sympathetic 
scheme of renovation, retaining the visual character of the 
historic buildings as far as possible. Further development to 
the south of the hotel, enclosing it within a proposed new 
village centre would see a change in the historic rural context 
of the farm complex. On balance, it is considered that the 
proposals represent a moderate level of harm to the non-
designated heritage asset.

Hennaborough Barn 
3.110  The site presently makes a positive contribution to 
the signifi cance of the non-designated heritage asset, and 
development of the site will cause loss of historic context, as 
the character of the setting will be considerably altered from 
the present rural isolated location. The retention of as much 
historic fabric as practicable in renovation and re-purposing, 
and that the asset would be buffered from neighbouring 
development by an area of open space, then it is likely that 
the level of harm visited on the non-designated asset would 
be of a moderate level.  

St Augustine’s Priory
3.111  The signifi cance of St Augustine’s Priory is primarily 
derived from the historic and architectural special interest 
of its built fabric, particularly that of the chapel and 
chapterhouse, which display an exceptionally high level of 
intactness. The quality of design and construction of the 

historic buildings is also key to their architectural value, as 
is the associative historical value derived from their Gothic 
Revival architect, J A Hansom, creator also of the Hansom 
Cab. The phasing of the buildings, and their historic re-
purpose also contributes to the illustrative value of the asset. 
The composition and detailing of the buildings endows the 
asset with extremely high levels of aesthetic value, to which 
the wider landscape contributes by providing a verdant, 
tranquil and relatively isolated setting, appropriate also to the 
historic function of the asset and therefore contributory to 
its illustrative value. Whilst the Site contributes in its present 
state towards the rural character of the wider setting, it is 
not readily experienced in relation to the asset, having limited 
intervisibility only with the curtilage listed boundary walls of 
the asset, with the openness of the farmland setting to the 
south providing a greater contribution to the signifi cance of 
the asset. In its current state the contribution of the Site to 
the signifi cance of the asset is therefore considered to be 
negligible positive. 

Opposite: Indicative Heritage strategy 

105



34

106



35

• Geophysical survey of the areas affected by the proposed 
development of the site, followed - if required - by

• A programme of intrusive archaeological investigation.

Statement of Signifi cance and Settings Assessment, 
Church of St Mary the Virgin
3.112  To inform the Revised Draft Masterplan, a Statement 
of Signifi cance and Settings Assessment is being prepared.  
The purpose of the statement is to provide an assessment of 
the signifi cance of heritage assets in the vicinity of allocation 
NA3, with specifi c emphasis on the Grade 1 Church of St 
Mary.  The assessment is particularly concerned with the 
role of the Church’s setting, and how this relates to its 
signifi cance as a designated heritage asset of the highest 
order.    

3.113  The Assessment considers two masterplans.  The 
Consultation Draft Masterplan produced by TDC, and the 
masterplan submitted by the landowner as part of outline 
planning applications. 

3.114  The Assessment has been prepared for TDC, however 
the Brief was jointly prepared with Historic England and with 
input from the landowner.  All meetings involving Specialist 
Heritage consultants and TDC have been attended by Historic 
England. A stakeholder meeting was also held to gain further 
knowledge from the landowner. Historic England have also 
been involved in commenting on the draft assessment in 
order to help inform mitigation measures and solutions that 
can be used to guide development proposals. 

3.115  Key aspects of the church’s setting that are relevant to 
the allocation were identifi ed as follows:

• Relationship between All Saints Church and St Mary the 
Virgin

• Wolborough Barton (views to and from the church) 
• Approach on Old Totnes Road
• Unchanged rural character of the setting of the Church 

falling within the NA3 allocation
• Separation of the church/buffer to development

3.116  Verifi ed Views are included within the Assessment and have 
helped to inform identifi cation and assessment of the key aspects.  

3.117  The emerging full Assessment will be published 
separately and will play an important role in informing and 
assessing development proposals at Wolborough.  It identifi es 
key emerging mitigation measures that should be addressed as 
proposals are developed further.  To the extent that it is able, 
this masterplan has refl ected the identifi ed mitigation.     

Potential Mitigation Themes
Mitigation opportunities are emerging through the Statement 
of Signifi cance and may include:

• Positioning and treatment of the access road
• Retention of a landscape buffer in the vicinity of the 

Wolbororugh Barton farmstead
• Limited building heights and scale immediately south of 

Wolborough Barton
• Requirement for full planning application details for the 

development of the Neighbourhood hub and primary school
• Reduction of development to the south of the access road
• Provision of naturalistic green link and buffer on eastern 

side of school grounds

Archaeology 
3.118  NA3 lies in an area of archaeological potential with regard 
to known prehistoric and Romano-British activity in the wider 
landscape. To the north-west lies Berry’s Wood Iron Age hillfort 
and to the south-east Milber Camp, a prehistoric hillfort, both 
protected as Scheduled Monuments. At the north-western tip 
of the site is a possible medieval manorial enclosure.  Within 
NA3 military structures, a powder-house and rifl e range are 
recorded in the Historic Environment Record, as are industrial 
sites, such as quarries and a limekiln, in addition there are the 
sites of now abandoned farmsteads and the Kingskerswell Road 
within the area may have early origins as a trackway leading up 
to the prehistoric and Roman settlement at Aller Cross to the 
south.  Evidence of associated fi eld systems were found in the 
landscape around the Aller Cross Roman settlement and NA3 
has the potential to contain evidence of earlier fi eld systems and 
settlement associated with this early settlement in the vicinity.

3.119  Given the potential for the site to contain evidence of 
prehistoric or Romano-British activity I would advise that any 
planning application or EIA for the development of this area 
should be supported by an appropriate level of archaeological 
work to enable the signifi cance of any heritage assets to be 
understood and the appropriate mitigation, either by design to 
enable preservation in situ or through further archaeological 
work to be implemented in advance of or during construction 
works.   The archaeological work required to support any 
planning application(s) or EIA should consist of the results of:

• Desk-based archaeological assessment and fi eld walkover 
to assess the survival and signifi cance of any extant remains 
associated with 19th century or earlier military activity on the site

107



108



37Opposite: Indicative Infrastructure strategy 

Main Street Design 
3.120  The topography of the allocation is very challenging 
and typically has gradients in excess of 10% (1in10). Other 
constraints are centred around the main street running through 
Decoy Brake and the ability to provide a multi-use main street 
for all users while considering traffi c speeds and the overall 
masterplan. 

3.121  The proposed design parameters for the main street are 
based on the following technical guidance documents:

• Manual for Streets 1, Manual for Streets 2
• Highways in Residential and Commercial Estate – Design 

Guide, produced by Devon CC
• DMRB

3.122  A number of alternative road options for the main street 
alignment have been investigated and discussed with DCC and 
the landowner groups. The design proposals for the preferred 
alignment are based on the technical guidance documents 
above and provide a robust indicative design solution which 
takes into account an agreed design from Infradesign. A 
horizontal, vertical alignment and cross sections illustrate a 
typical design option for the main street that can be delivered. 

Indicative alignment
3.123  The key factors that have been considered in the 
indicative option (shown opposite) are listed below:

3.124  All horizontal geometry complies with MFS1, MfS2 and 
‘Highways in Residential and Commercial Estate – Design Guide’ 
of Devon County Council.

3.125  The horizontal alignment has been designed to the 
parameters set out in MfS2. This design is based on a minimum 
horizontal radius of 150m.

3.126  Vertical geometry complies with MfS1& MfS2 providing 
a maximum gradient of 1 in 12.5 (8%). Any steeper gradients 
proposed during detailed design will require a Departure 
from Standard and will require a formal proposal to DCC for 
approval.

3.127  The vertical maximum alignment of 8% (1:12.5), 
may not be ideal for mobility users. Further design will be 
needed for a shared footway cycleway provision, see Table 

4.3.5 Gradients and Crossfalls, (Highways in Residential and 
Commercial Estate – Design Guide). The design guide states 
the following; -
the gradient of cycleways may be increased to 5% for lengths 
up to 100m, or 7% for lengths up to 30m. [4.6.3]

3.128  The minimum vertical curve length is based on Figure 
7.3.7 Vertical Curves as shown in the Highways in Residential 
and Commercial Estate – Design Guide.

3.129  The alignment pulls the main street back from the 
heritage assets in the eastern parcel.

3.130  The carriageway width is set at 6.5m, with a 3.5m 
shared footway cycleway on the northern side, and a 2m 
footway where appropriate for development parcels on the 
southern side. Where no development parcels are adjacent to 
the link road a 2m verge has been identifi ed. The carriageway 
is design at 2.5% chamber.

3.131  It is recommended that a refuge island to be included 
on the carriageway to ensure pedestrian safety, when crossing 
the road to gain access to services and bus stops.

3.132  Embankment maximum gradient at 1:2 (50%), further 
earth retaining design may assist in increasing the maximum 
gradient along the road where it passes through the Fen.

3.133  Consideration of construction management of 
earthworks will help to respond to the considerable extent of 
engineering works for the proposed main street.

3.134  Traffi c calming and interface with land parcel will need 
further investigation. The indicative design has been based 
on ensuring suitable connections to the existing highway are 
maintained and effi cient gradients to standards are used. It is 
anticipated that considerable earthmoving will be required in 
some parcels to provide acceptable internal road connections 
with the link road. Further investigation will come forward once 
internal development parcels are developed.

3.135  Due regard for highway drainage and discharge will be 
necessary with suitable detailing.

3.136  Filter drainage, to be considered at the foot of the 
embankment to protect the steep slope and carriageway 
foundations.

109



38

kj

Based upon Ordnance Survey Material with Permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of Her Majesty's stationery Office (C) Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Teignbridge District Council 100024292

NA3 Wolborough Indicative Masterplan Map

´

Legend
Development area - Education

Development area - Employment

Development area - Residential

Opportunity to extend 
residential development

Development area - Mixed Use

Neighbourhood Hub

Neighbourhood Facilities

Green infrastructure links

Amenity Greenspace

Green Infrastructure

Woodland

Allotments

Indicative electricity substation

Main Street

Hedgerow

Existing watercourse

Rerouted Watercourse

Blue corridor or attenuation area

Strategic play space

Wolborough Fen SSSI

Decoy Country Park

400m
 (5 m

inute walk)

800m
 (10 m

inute w
alk)

400m (5 minute walk)

800m
 (10 m

inute walk)

0 250 500125 Metres

kj

kj

Newton Abbot

Ogwell

Abbotskerswell

Contours (5m intervals)

Exeter via M5
17 Miles

SSSI Surface Water Catchment
label to read ‘SSSI Surface Water 
Catchment – development subject 
to robust drainage mitigation

Development area - Employment
land could be provided elsewhere 
if an appropriate solution can 
be identified

Landscape Green Corridor

Note:
Development within the Wolborough 
Fen SSSI hydrological catchment is 
conditional upon evidence.

110



39

04 
Infrastructure
Delivery

4.1 This section sets out proposals for 
infrastructure, utilities and other facilities 
associated with development of the allocation. 
Any timescale relating to numbers of dwellings 
refer to the whole site unless otherwise stated 
by reference to the neighbourhood areas.

Provision Description When Policy and material considerations

Masterplan A comprehensive landscape and design led masterplan for the 
strategic allocation

Submitted with planning applications on the allocation. NA3 (a)

Housing

Affordable Housing 20% of dwellings provided as Affordable Dwellings

70% as Affordable Rented and 30% as Intermediate Affordable 
Housing, unless up to date need evidence indicates otherwise.

Representative dwelling mix unless up to date need evidence 
indicates otherwise.

50% of Affordable Housing transferred at 50% occupation of dwellings per 
development phase.

100% of Affordable Housing transferred at 75% occupation per development phase.

WE2
Draft Affordable Housing SPD

Self-build/Custom Build Minimum of 5% of total number of dwellings as Custom and Self Build plots

Locations to be identifi ed on a Phase Plan showing approximate area 
and access points

Proportionate number of Self Build and Custom Build plots serviced and marketed 
upon completion of 25% of dwellings within each neighbourhood area. In line with 
Teignbridge Custom and Self Build SPD.

WE7
Custom and Self Build SPD

Through Route

Road link through the development connecting Kingskerswell Road 
with the A381 (Old Totnes Road) and with community facilities, 
including prioritised segregated foot and cycle way

Road across neighbourhood areas 2 and 3 to be completed prior to the completion of 
300 homes in neighbourhoods 1 - 3.

Road completion to boundaries of neighbourhood area 4, at the latter of the 
occupation of 50 dwellings; or 125 dwellings where the connection through 
neighbourhood areas 2-3 have not been completed.

A proportionate developable land area based contribution towards the construction of 
the section of road through the woodland.

S1
S2
S5
S6(e)
S9
S11
S14 (F + L)
HT1

NPPF
• 91
• 102
• 108
• 110
• 127
• 130

Infrastructure Delivery Plan

111



40

Provision Description When Policy and material considerations

Open Space

Neighbourhood Equipped Areas of 
Play (NEAPs)

2 NEAPs In phase with development WE11
NA3(m)

Locally Equipped Areas of Play 
(LEAPs)

8 LEAPs at 400sqm each. On completion of dwellings within adjoining parcels of land WE11
NA3(m)

Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) 1 on site MUGA at 2,300sqm To be delivered on completion of 500 dwellings in neighbourhoods 1–3 WE11
NA3(m)

Playing Pitches Provision for 4ha of playing pitches and/or enhancements to capacity of 
existing off-site facilities

Proportionate to developable residential area. Provided on occupation of 50 per cent 
of the dwellings in each neighbourhood

WE11
NA3(m)

Allotments 2.7 ha to be provided collectively. On completion of 500 dwellings in neighbourhoods 1–3 WE11
NA3(l)

Employment

Old Totnes Road B1 Employment units and associated parking. Site serviced and commencement of marketing prior to the occupation of 25% of 
dwellings in neighbourhood area 1.

5 year marketing period with the fi nal year guide price informed by an independent 
valuation.

There may be potential for off-site provision in lieu of delivery in this neighbourhood 
area.

NA3(b)
S14(a)
S3
EC1
EC2

Employment South of CLS Laundry, 
Kingskerswell Road

B1, B2 and B8 employment uses and associated parking. A phased approach with the fi rst phase serviced and commencement of marketing 
within 12 months of commencement of development in line with an agreed marketing 
strategy.

3 year marketing period per phase with the fi nal year guide price informed by an 
independent valuation.

NA3(b)
S14(a)
S3
EC1
EC2

Neighbourhood Hub, Community Building and Retail

Class A Floorspace Class A uses totalling a minimum of 300m2 fl oorspace (no more 
than 100m2 to be used for hot takeaway (A5) uses) within the 
neighbourhood hub.

This provision will be subject to retail impact assessment.

Building shells to be constructed and marketed prior to the occupation of 400 
dwellings in Neighbourhood Areas 1-3. 

3 year marketing period with the fi nal year guide price informed by an independent 
valuation.

Units designed in such a way that allows for their conversion to residential dwellings 
should no Class A use be forthcoming. 

NA3(d)
S5
S14(h)

Community Building D1 or D2 uses totalling approximately 1250m2 within a building 
provided as part of the neighbourhood hub.

Serviced land and fi nished building “shell” to be provided and transferred to 
responsible body on completion of 300 dwellings in Neighbourhood Areas 1-3.

NA3(d)
S5
S14(h)

Education

Primary School Land identifi ed within Neighbourhood Area 2 adjacent to the 
neighbourhood hub for the provision of a new 210 to 420 place 
Primary School including early years provision (26 places).

Freehold interest and construction access secured upon occupation of 100 dwellings

Site to be accessed and serviced upon completion of 300 dwellings in neighbourhood 
area 1-3.

NA3(d)
LP para 7.39
HT2(b)

Secondary Provision Land identifi ed within Neighbourhood Area 4 Freehold interest and construction accessed secured within 2 years of 
commencement of neighbourhood area 4.

Accessed and serviced within 3 years of commencement of neighbourhood area 4.

NA3(d)
LP para 7.39
HT2(d)

112



41

Provision Description When Policy and material considerations

Safe pedestrian links
(A-D)

Safe pedestrian connections to Newton Abbot town centre and 
railway station.  This includes contributions towards off-site 
improvements.

In line with development NA3(f)
HT1
S9
S14

Internal walking and cycling routes A network of walking and cycling routes at 3m width with machine 
laid tarmac or other suitable surface

In line with development NA3(f)
HT1
S9
S14

Sustainable Transport provision Bus shelters
Electric Car points
Bike Stands

In line with development S9

Travel Plan Contribution A fi nancial contribution per dwelling towards the cost of the County 
Council delivering the Travel Plan

Upon completion of each Neighbourhood Area S9

Biodiversity

Biodiversity mitigation and 
compensation

• Planting of new orchards, areas of woodland, shrubs and 
wildfl owers

• Reinforcement of tree lines and hedgerows
• Bat roosts
• Long term ecological monitoring

In line with development EN10
EN11

Greater Horseshoe Bat Mitigation Bespoke Greater Horseshoe Bat Mitigation Plan refl ecting content set 
out by the HRA Screening Report

In line with development EN10
EN11

Cirl Bunting habitat Avoid and mitigate for impacts on Cirl Buntings on the site.  If 
the current number of breeding birds cannot be maintained a 
compensation contribution will be made.

In line with development EN11

Wolborough Fen monitoring Ongoing programme of Fen monitoring as set out in this masterplan 
within neighbourhood areas 2-3

Prior to construction; throughout development within the Fen catchment; and post 
construction 

NA3(i)

Other contributions

Local Highways Network Calming 
Works on existing minor roads

Financial contribution towards the cost of the County Council 
carrying out traffi c calming works

Upon completion of Main Street and; response to specifi c neighbourhood impacts S5

Servicing and Utilities

Gas Supply On site provision of new pipe work connections to local gas supply In line with development S5

Electric Supply On site provision of new cables to local electricity supply In line with development S5

Broadband Installation of fi bre optic ducting and cables to premises which are 
capable of providing open access telecommunications infrastructure. 
This will support a choice of telecommunications service providers in 
the market

In line with development S5

Waste and portable water service 
provision

Pipe laying and connections to main water supply and sewage 
treatment works.

In line with development S5

Community recycling facilities Space for on-site recycling facilities In line with development S5

113



42

Appendix:

Wolborough 
Fen Monitoring 
Strategy

Draft Groundwater Monitoring Strategy 
The groundwater monitoring strategy (GWMS) for the 
Wolborough Fen SSSI Catchment is a specifi c strategy that 
forms part of (and informs) the wider SuDS Strategy that has 
been developed to support the proposed development of the 
Wolborough Allocation (NA3) as a whole. Therefore, this GWMS 
should be read in conjunction with the wider NA3 SuDS Strategy. 
The GWS should build upon and takes account of earlier work 
summarised in the following documents, which should be 
consulted in the fi nal development of an appropriate GWMS (and 
is provided as Appendix A to this GWMS) :

(i)  ‘Wolborough (NA3)- Potential Impacts on Wolborough 
Fen SSSI: Review of Hydroecological studies’ (Royal 
HaskoningDHV for Teignbridge District Council (TDC)) (Ref 
WAT/PB4806/R001/FO1) (Dec 2016). The Review of Hydro-
ecological studies report is referred to under the acronym 
‘HESR’ in this document;

(ii)  ‘Wolborough (NA3)- Potential Impacts on Wolborough 
Fen SSSI: Development Framework Plan Advice’ (Royal 
HaskoningDHV for Teignbridge District Council (TDC)) (Ref 
WAT/PB4806/R002/D00) (Dec 2016). The Development 
Framework Advice is referred to under the acronym 
‘DFA’ in this document. Section 3 of the DFA sets out the 
requirements of the ‘Pre-Construction Ground Investigation 
and Monitoring Strategy’ 

(iii)  Ecohydrological Characterisation and Assessment of 
Wolborough Fen SSSI, Newton Abbot, Devon (Rigare, 2015 
for Natural England Reference 1580R1)

The Wolborough Fen SSSI catchment is complex in terms of 
hydrology and groundwater recharge. Uncertainties exist which relate 
to the distribution and behaviour of infi ltration across this catchment 
and how this relates to the hydrological functioning of the SSSI. 
Development within these areas is conditional upon an evidence 
based approach (as outlined within this document) that will provide 
a reliable understanding of the catchment functioning. This evidence 
base should be used to inform the suitability of development areas 
within the Wolborough Fen SSSI catchment and the appropriate 
surface water management strategy to be implemented.  

This GWMS document seeks to establish the principals of what 
should be included in any fi nal monitoring strategy and does 
not propose a complete structure or details of any proposals, 
such proposals for any GWMS should be developed further by 
the relevant applicant. Subsequent proposals to be agreed by 

the relevant authorities at the appropriate stage to inform the 
relevant planning stage.  

The catchment of the Wolborough Fen SSSI, which is the area 
to which this GWMS applies, has been previously established 
(Rigare 2015) and agreed (See HESR Fig 3.3) which is 
reproduced below. 

The HESR also includes a simple outline ‘Conceptual Site Model’ 
(CSM) which is described as follows in section 3.1.2.6:

Groundwater is present within the Aller Gravel and Upper Greensand, 
which are moderately permeable and allow groundwater fl ow.

Groundwater is present within the peat and the sandy horizons 
of the Bovey Formation; both units have a relatively low 
permeability, which prevents or inhibits groundwater fl ow.

Groundwater fl ow is driven by recharge derived from the 
infi ltration of precipitation falling on the catchment slopes.  
Groundwater emerges from the Aller Gravel within the wet 
woodland area at the western end of the SSSI.

Groundwater also emerges from springs where the peat covers 
the Aller Gravel in the central area of the SSSI, where the peat is 
thin enough.

Within the eastern area of the SSSI, springs are unlikely to be 
present above the Bovey formation due to its relatively low 
permeability.

The generation and accumulation of peat at the site may have 
occurred due to the presence of a spring line which formed along 
the geological boundary between the Aller Gravel Formation and 
Bovey Formation, as a result of their contrasting permeabilities. 
The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Strategy (DS) 
prepared by InfraDesign (October 2017) in support of a planning 
application on NA3 provides the results of infi ltration tests within 
the Wolborough Fen GWMS area. These show that infi ltration 
rates are typically in the range 1 – 5 x 10-6 m/s. These are low 
rates and refl ect the fact that the Aller Gravels include bands of 
silts and clays which will have much lower infi ltration rates than 
the beds of gravel and coarse sand. Further infi ltration tests 
and supplementary groundwater monitoring (as outlined below) 
will characterise the distribution of infi ltration and response of 
groundwater across the development area within the catchment 
of Wolborough Fen. This can then be used to inform the design 
of the development in this area.

114



43

Once the GWMS has provided a reliable evidence base to establish 
the scope of development possible within the hydrological 
catchment of Wolborough Fen SSSI, the evidence should be used 
to refi ne the CSM and help develop an appropriate SuDS scheme 
design as discussed within Drainage Strategy Chapter which 
addresses both fl ood risk concerns and appropriate protection for 
groundwater supporting the SSSI. 

The Wolborough Catchment Specifi c SuDS Strategy
The development masterplan has been guided by an outline 
SuDS Strategy and its interactions for the Wolborough Fen SSSI 
Catchment. The SuDS strategy in this catchment is to be informed 
in the light of a Groundwater Monitoring Strategy (GWMS) as set 
out below.

Draft proposed GWMS
The GWMS should facilitate high quality, high frequency data 
which is to be used to assess groundwater behaviour within the 
catchment (such as gradients and fl ow directions). Assessment of 
the timing and magnitude of groundwater level response within 
the SSSI will facilitate improvement of the understanding of the 
spatial and temporal distribution of recharge and groundwater 
fl ow within the SSSI catchment. It is noted that one of the primary 
uncertainties in relation to the hydrogeological conceptual model is 
the spatial and temporal distribution of recharge. Monitoring within 
catchments outside the SSSI surface water catchment will inform 
refi nement of other aspects of the conceptual model, such as the 
hydraulic connection between the Aller Gravels and the Upper 
Greensand.

The GWMS will include monitoring of all aspects of groundwater 
behaviour including monitoring groundwater within the SSSI and 
wider catchment, level and fl ow gauging in key parts of adjacent 
catchments and assessment of water quality.
Prior to development of an approved layout and prior to any 
construction activities a Ground Investigation programme and 
GWMS will be submitted with planning applications within the 
Wolborough SSSI Catchment, detailing the proposed scope of 
monitoring and explaining the rationale behind specifi c proposals 
(particularly in addressing critical uncertainties) bearing in mind 
the proposed development layout and the extent of any associated 
earthworks which will disturb the existing ground surface. Following 
the data collection, a report detailing outcomes of the monitoring 
scheme together with a refi ned CSM will identify likely impacts 
and potential mitigation measures. Recommendations from this 
monitoring report should be used to inform development going 
forward within the SSSI catchment. 

115



44

Data collection will focus on the requirements of the identifi ed 
technical assessments. These will involve (as a minimum) the 
following datasets.

(i)  A coordinated programme of groundwater level 
monitoring within the planning application red line 
boundary  and surrounding areas where appropriate. 
High frequency collection will take place (greater degree 
than traditional monthly GW monitoring data) through 
the provision of appropriate installation of automatic 
water level recorders (AWLRs) for all, or at least key 
(with justifi cation) monitoring installations. Details of 
locations to be agreed by the relevant authorities prior to 
implementation. 

(ii)  A suffi cient number of deep boreholes will be provided 
to assess the depth of the Upper Greensand across the 
application boundary to inform the refi nement of CSM 
and to facilitate monitoring of water levels in the Upper 
Greensand; 

(iii)   Groundwater levels in all (preferably) or some of the 
currently installed piezometers and dipwells within the 
SSSI (Rigare, 2015) will be inspected and where possible 
monitored (with AWLRs where possible). 

(iv)  Groundwater monitoring in the general location of 
individual soakaways and proposed drainage features 
(where infi ltration is used) will be undertaken to confi rm 
that groundwater does not rise to within 1m of their 
proposed base levels (or otherwise agreed with the LLFA 
and NE). Spatial distribution of GW recharge via individual 
soakaways and other drainage features to be assessed 
with potential impacts upon the SSSI.

(v)  Groundwater monitoring in the general location of 
other infi ltration devices to ascertain the extent that 
reliance on infi ltration will be complimented by alternate 
means of surface water drainage during periods of high 
groundwater levels;

(vi)  Groundwater monitoring at all locations shall be 
undertaken with automatic water level recorders (AWLRs) 
for a minimum duration of 18 months (unless otherwise 
agreed) before agreement of the proposed development 
layout and associated surface water management 
strategy. In the event that rainfall\groundwater levels 
deviates signifi cantly from seasonal averages (see below) 

the monitoring period will be extended accordingly (as 
agreed by the appropriate authority);

  
(vii)  Surface water and groundwater quality sampling from the 

downstream edge of the application boundary (together 
with the baseline of the SSSI) to be undertaken, to 
include nutrients (phosphate and nitrate) and potential 
contaminants that could be discharged either during 
construction or post-construction.

(viii) Rainfall measurement at or close to the catchment should 
be undertaken (at least hourly in the vicinity of the site, 
unless otherwise agreed). In the event that rainfall totals 
deviate by more than 25% from the seasonal average 
(i.e Winter, Spring, Summer and Autumn averages that 
each involve a period of 3 months) the monitoring period 
will be extended to monitor the same season during the 
subsequent year  

(viii)  Should planning permission be granted, a Construction and 

Operational Phase Monitoring Plan will be submitted. This 
will detail continued monitoring needs, assessment criteria 
to alert of potential impacts during construction or as a 
result of the completed development and monitoring of any 
mitigation proposals. 

(ix)  During construction the regulators will be advised of any 
breach of impact assessment criteria and the investigative 
or remedial measures undertaken in response to the 
breach.  Following construction, a Construction Phase 
Interpretative Report will be submitted for regulatory 
approval.

(x)  Monitoring will continue for a minimum of 12 months post-
construction, with Operational Phase Interpretative Reports 
being submitted annually until the regulators are satisfi ed 
that the any impact mitigation measures are working 
effectively.

116



45

117



118



1 
 

Appendix B 
 

NA3 Wolborough Masterplan  
Consultation Draft Summer 2018  
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
This is a summary of the comments received to the Wolborough Development Framework Plan.  Consultation took place between Friday 3rd August and 
Friday 28th September 2018 and included a public consultation event at Buckland Athletic Football Club.   
 

Consultee Summary of comments or issues Response or proposed change 

Historic 
England 

Overall – DFP is positive opportunity to set clear aspirations and vision for allocated site. Evidence base to 
support the DFP should contain sufficient information to demonstrate that the Council has undertaken its 
responsibility to avoid or minimise the impact of development on the Grade 1 listed church (para 190 NPPF) 
and that any identified harm can be clear and convincingly justified (para 194 NPPF). 
Significance – Important to have robust and detailed assessment of the significance of the heritage asset and 
how its setting contributes to the significance.  This assessment needs to be completed before the DFP is 
adopted. HE have concerns with Heritage Strategy which the Assessment of Significance work will overcome. 
Infrastructure – The evidence base should also include an options appraisal for the major elements of 
infrastructure that the DFP will establish. Should provide all evidence including discussions regarding the 
positioning of the road 
Layout – It is essential that the DFP incorporates a detailed explanation of the process by which each individual 
parcel of land has been identified as being appropriate for development and how those decisions were 
reached. We would raise concerns over the quantum of development and query whether the amount 
proposed can be accommodated without causing an unacceptable level of harm to the significance the asset 
derives from its setting. Mitigation has been designed, through uses and landscaping. However, this has not 
been based on an understanding of the significance of the church, we would query as to whether this is the 
right approach to be taking and if they are sufficient to avoid or minimise the harm. 
SPD – Document should be DPD and have as much weight as possible 
Background – The challenges as described within the text sets out a range of issues that need to be overcome. 
The church and its setting is a major challenge in order to achieve development on the site that does not result 
in substantial harm to the asset’s significance derived from its setting. Therefore, for a successful outcome, it is 
important that the council is mindful of the weight given to significance as a constraint on the design process.   

Further work has been carried 
out – emerging Statement of 
Significance and Settings 
Assessment for St Mary’s Church, 
Wolborough, Newton Abbot 
Work prepared in conjunction 
with Historic England.  
 
CHANGE – Changes made to 
Heritage Strategy in revised 
Masterplan document to reflect 
emerging Assessment for St 
Mary’s 
 
 
The Revised Masterplan has not 
been drafted with the intention 
of introducing policy.  It 
constitutes a masterplan that 
officers consider would be 
suitable in addressing the Local 
Plan requirement for one if 

119



2 
 

Design Principles - In the absence of the Statement of Significance/Setting Assessment for the church we are 
unable to provide detailed advice at this stage on these issues or regarding whether proposed mitigation 
strategies might potentially be considered appropriate.   

submitted with planning 
applications at Wolborough.   

Natural 
England 
 

Objects to Plan.  As drafted consider it will damage or destroy the interest features for which Wolborough Fen 
Site of Special Scientific Interest has been notified.  
 
Describes South Hams Special Area or Conservation including Strategic Flyways and Pinchpoints 
 
Describes Site of Special Scientific Interest and need to protect and enhance as set out in Local Plan 
 
Supporting plans/maps  
Plans/maps fail to recognise complexity and uncertainty surrounding the function of the ecohydrological 
system that supports the SSSI. Important to be clear that development within these areas is conditional upon 
evidence based approach, that provides reliable understanding of the catchment to inform suitability of 
development. Clear regarding this point to avoid potential misinterpretation. 
 
Part 1: The Objectives 
Support “make sure net gains for other biodiversity while achieving multifunctional green infrastructure 
benefits”. In accordance with NPPF and should be based upon the use of a recognised biodiversity metric.  
 
Movement Strategy 
Where required and subject to the identification of commuting corridors, suitable features will need to be 
incorporated into the road network to allow safe and unhindered movement of greater horseshoe bats 
 
Density Strategy 
Does not take into consideration potential risk to Wolborough Fen SSSI, and appears to restrict opportunities 
to mitigate potential hydrological and recreational impacts. The density strategy should recognise this 
potential constraint. 
 
 
Landscape (green infrastructure) strategy 

On-going discussion between TDC 
and NE between Consultation 
Draft and publication of revised 
document to produce Revised 
Document 
 
 
CHANGE – Amend map ‘Dev 
Framework Map’ to show Fen 
catchment.  Add note below key 
to say “development within the 
fen catchment is conditional 
upon evidence” 
 
CHANGE – add “based on the use 
of a recognised biodiversity 
metric” 
 
CHANGE – Add this text 
 
 
 
CHANGE – Density Strategy 
removed however, this 
consideration has been included 
in Land Use Strategy text 
 
CHANGE – Add text “These links 
will be subject further evidence 

120



3 
 

Subject to the identification of appropriate corridors through an evidenced based approach (based on reliable 
survey), welcome proposals to provide green wildlife links for greater horseshoe bats.  Green links to support 
greater horseshoe bats are indicative 
 
Incorporate objectives to maintain and enhance the SSSI, that will be achieved through appropriate land use 
within the SSSI hydrological catchment, and consideration of potential recreational impacts upon the SSSI (e.g. 
nutrient enrichment associated with dog fouling  
 
 
In advance of facilitating access to the existing woodland, biodiversity impacts will require full consideration 
 
 
 
 
Greater Horseshoe Bat design framework 
HRA refers to mapping of four bespoke GHB roosts 
 
 
 
 
 
Illustrative plan shows plating to encourage bats to fly over the roads. Proposal is not based upon behaviour of 
low flying species such as GHB, and is contrary to Design Principles provided in HRA.  This type of mitigation is 
inappropriate to address severance impacts associated with new roads upon GHB activity 
 
 
Long term habitat management will need to be based upon the duration of impact. Habitat management will 
need to be in-perpetuity where the impacts are permanent and irreversible 
 
 
Drainage Strategy and Appendix A – Wolborough Fen Monitoring Strategy 
- Construction impacts  
-Spatial distribution of recharge within the groundwater catchment to the west of the  

but are indicated on the 
landscape strategy map” 
 
CHANGE – A response to 

potential recreational impacts on 

the Wolborough Fen SSSI 

associated with nutrification 

 
CHANGE – Addressing the 
interaction between additional 
public access to woodland and 
associated biodiversity impacts 
 
This was a drafting error and 
should have referred to two 
roosts as shown on the Greater 
Horseshoe Bat Design Framework 
map. 
 
CHANGE – Remove illustration on 
page 25 (Greater Horseshoe Bat 
Design Framework).  A bespoke 
approach will be required 
through planning applications 
 
CHANGE – Text on page 25 
amended accordingly 
 
Comments reviewed by TDC 
Drainage Officer and Natural 
England re-consulted. On-going 
discussion between Consultation 
Draft and publication of Revised 

121



4 
 

SSSI 
- A likely increase in the amount of water that can be fed by infiltration into the  groundwater to drain into the 
SSSI 
- Emergency overflow from infiltration basins/attenuation ponds  
- Reference to the proposed development layout   
- Level of detail provided in the Wolborough Fen Monitoring Strategy 
- Method for monitoring groundwater levels  
- Possible extension of monitoring following atypical seasonal rainfall  
 
HRA 
Detailed advice provided for attention and action 
 
 
SEA 
Section 2.6 Table 1 should read ‘no adverse effect upon the integrity of the Natura 2000 site 
“Further assessment on the potential impacts of these will be required especially in relation to the SSSI to 
ensure any development does not detrimentally impact its hydrology” – this is not consistent with Local Plan 
policy 

document to produce the revised 
Drainage Strategy and 
Monitoring Strategy.  
 
 
 
 
The masterplan is not a Local 
Development Document. HRA 
not included alongside the 
revised Masterplan. 
 
The masterplan is not a Local 
Development Document.  SEA 
not included alongside the 
revised Masterplan. 

Natural 
England 
Additional 
comments  

 

 Plan on page 10: amend Legend Note to “Development within the Wolborough Fen SSSI hydrological 
catchment is conditional upon evidence.”   

 
 
 
 

 Also, amend legend to “Development area – Residential (indicative)”.   
 
 
 

 Section 3.2 needs to reflect this by adding a bullet point along the lines of: “In order to ensure that 
proposals safeguard and enhance Wolborough Fen SSSI, development within the SSSI hydrological 
catchment will be subject to a robust evidence base that can be utilised to rule out detrimental impacts” 

 
 

Propose amend SSSI Surface 
Water Catchment label to read 
‘SSSI Surface Water Catchment – 
development subject to robust 
drainage mitigation’ 
  
Disagree  – the masterplan is 
already marked ‘illustrative’ and 
reflects the allocation 
 
Insert new bullet point at 3.2 
(page 11):  ‘Development within 
the SSSI hydrological catchment 
will be subject to a robust 
evidence base that can be utilised 

122



5 
 

 
 
 
 
•          Is it appropriate for the “Context Plan” on page 6 to indicate areas subject to potential development?  It 
would appear that the “Context Plan” is to illustrate the current baseline, and on that basis should not include 
indicative development areas (or green infrastructure).  Section 1.11 refers to the “context plan” on page 
8.  However the plan on page 8 has no legend and does not appear to relate to context or the constraints 
summarised on page 7. 
 
•          Under Sections 3.32 and 3.35, a further point/sentence needs to be added to emphasise that the 
landscape plan may require amendment further to evidence gathered to better understand the Wolborough 
Fen SSSI ecohydrology. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
•          Page 24: amend Legend to “Development parcel (indicative)”.  Similarly, pages 32, 34, and 36. 

to protect and enhance 
Wolborough Fen through an 
appropriate drainage strategy’ 
 
It doesn’t directly show 
development areas but does 
show GI.  To provide clarity, NA3 
GI deleted from mapping but KK4 
(outside of the allocation) 
retained. 
Insert new 3.49  ‘As outlined 
above, this illustrative landscape 
strategy may be subject to 
changes associated with a more 
detailed understanding of 
associated matters, include 
wildlife links and Wolborough Fen 
SSSI hydrology.’   
 
Mark all plans ‘indicative’ 

Environment 
Agency 
 

Broadly supportive of the approach.  
Neighbourhoods 2, 3 and 4 all include small watercourses flowing through them.  Pleased to see that these 
watercourses, along with sustainable drainage features and flow routes have been incorporated into green 
infrastructure. 
Welcome commitment to monitoring of Wolborough Fen before, during and after construction.  Lowland Fens 
are listed as a Priority Habitat for which the Environment Agency is the lead partner.  Nonetheless, because 
Wolborough Fen is also designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest Natural England are the competent 
authority for commenting on impacts to the site.  Likewise we are pleased that the groundwater monitoring 
strategy will inform the sustainable drainage strategy within this catchment which covers the southern half of 
proposed neighbourhood 2. 
Neighbourhood 1 includes an area of former landfill.  The masterplan indicates that allotments will cover most 
of this area with some areas of development.  The exact nature and extent of landfill needs to be fully 
understood and a remediation strategy developed as appropriate to ensure that development does not cause 

Noted and welcome.  We will 
continue to engage with Natural 
England. 

123



6 
 

pollution of the water environment. 
In addition Neighbourhood 4 surrounds another area of former landfill.  Any risks of contamination from this 
former landfill site to adjacent development will need to be properly investigated. 

South West 
Water 

Passed to our Asset Planning Department to allow them to programme any improvements to our 
infrastructure to ensure able to meet the additional demands upon it. 
It would be of assistance if at the earliest opportunity an indication of the anticipated build programme and 
phasing of the development could be provided to assist in our planning and timing of any improvements. 

Noted.  We will continue to liaise 
with South West Water over 
development programmes and 
timescales, including at 
Wolborough. 

National Grid An assessment has been carried out with respect to National Grid’s electricity and gas transmission apparatus 
which includes high voltage electricity assets and high pressure gas pipelines, and also National Grid Gas 
Distribution’s Intermediate and High Pressure apparatus. 
National Grid has identified that it has no record of such apparatus within the Wolborough Development 
Framework Plan area. 

Noted. 

Marine 
Management 
Organisation 

The Marine Management Organisation is a non-departmental public body responsible for the management of 
England’s marine area on behalf of the UK government. The MMO’s delivery functions are; marine planning, 
marine licensing, wildlife Marine licensing.  No specific comments. 

Noted. 

England 
Hockey  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It states under the Open Space section that there is a plan to build a new MUGA facility in Neighbourhood 1 
over 2.300sqm. However there is no mention of this facility in the Strategic Environmental Assessment. 
 
There is no design specifications for the MUGA, so unable to comment on the strategic need for hockey. What 
surface will the MUGA be ie 3G or sand based, floodlights or no lights? Need to ensure that this MUGA facility 
meets the National Governing Body design specification to ensure maximum community use. There is mention 
of use of community parking and toilet facilities. What ancillary facilities will be aligned to the MUGA in 
regards to changing and hospitality? Will the Community facility include a small club house? 
 
There is demand for a new sand AGP on the A38 corridor, where Stover School has been one site agreed. 
England Hockey would like to see: 

1. Possible off-site contributions to Stover project or, 
2. Possible Hockey Plus surface at secondary school for multi-sport activity (Hockey Plus is a new 

technical specification for surface from England Hockey). 

In line with the 2018 playing pitch 
strategy, the materplan’s MUGA 
proposals are not orientated 
towards a specific hockey facility. 
 
Teignbridge will continue to help 
facilitate the new hockey facility  
that England Hockey describe. 
 
 

Sport England  
 
 

All new dwellings in Wolborough in the plan period should provide for new or enhance existing sport and 
recreation facilities to help create opportunities for physical activity whilst having a major positive impact on 
health and mental wellbeing. 

The masterplan identifies an 
oportunituity for a single informal 
playing pitch in Neighbourhood 1.  

124



7 
 

Neighbourhood 1 appears to contain a single playing pitch on a challenging site (topography). Type of playing 
pitch? Ancillary provision? Co-location considered? Single pitch sites are a challenge to manage and be 
financially sustainable.  
Nothing planned in Neighbourhoods 2 & 3.  
Neighbourhood 4 surrounds an existing playing field site with no on-site provision. Will there enhancements to 
the existing site? Formalised community access to the proposed school playing and sports facilities?  
Sport England would encourage development in Wolborough be designed in line with the Active Design 
principles to secure sustainable design. This could be evidenced by use of the checklist. 

The Wolborough allocation is, 
however surrounded by various 
playing pitches and, in 
accordance with the playing pitch 
strategy, it is likely that the Local 
Plan playing pitch requirements 
will be addressed through 
financial contributions to 
upgrades identified in that 
strategy 

Devon County 
Council 
 
 

The Development Framework Plan (Education) 
Site locations – Identification of both primary and secondary provision is welcomed. Primary school close to 
community centre appropriate. Secondary provision may be better placed on edge of development rather 
than bordered by built environment. 
Delivery timescale – The timescales for development delivery are considered to be appropriate for the current 
strategy but may require amendment should CIL funding not be forthcoming or development across the town 
is delivered at faster rate than anticipated. 
 
Movement Strategy (Highways) 
Overall – Supports positive approach taken to respond to requirement for masterplan 
 
Movement Strategy –Refer to potential traffic impact of the development upon Stonemans Hill and Coach 
Road before the through route is completed.  These roads are currently not of appropriate standard to 
accommodate significant additional traffic and may require improvements.  
 
Connecting Streets and Green Links – The Government published ‘Inclusive Transport Strategy’ in July 2018 
which aims to raise awareness and provision of appropriate inclusive physical infrastructure to enable disabled 
people to negotiate public spaces. Shared surfaces in residential streets can, subject to all other matters being 
satisfactory, be included within the adoptable areas of proposed Section 38 agreements. 
 
General – Support the enhancement of existing footpaths  
 
Bus route 

Education 
Noted.  The land identified for 
secondary provision is in public 
control, which will be a significant 
benefit when delivering an 
education facility.  
 
 
Movement Strategy 
Agree 
 
CHANGE – additional text in 
Movement strategy paragraph 
3.15 
 
CHANGE – addition to ‘tertiary 
streets’ section to reflect the 
Inclusive Transport Strategy. 
 
 
Welcome.  Off-site upgrades may 
be appropriate. 
 

125



8 
 

Supportive of provision of a new or extended regular bus route to serve the development and provide links to 
surrounding areas and town centre. It is anticipated that the through-route will provide a suitable route for a 
bus service providing accessibility across the site; it is therefore necessary that the route is of suitable width 
and design to allow for the movement of buses. In order to promote sustainable transport, the bus route 
would be required at an early stage in the development to influence travel behaviour. Reference within the 
document to the provision of bus stops within a maximum walking distance of 400m is welcomed.  
The County Council is committed to working together with the District Council and the service providers to 
work towards the introduction of a bus service to serve development across Newton Abbot and will seek 
financial contributions from development towards achieving this. Early discussions have already taken place 
with Stagecoach regarding the vision for bus services across the town including at NA3. 
 
Drainage Strategy (Flood Risk) 
Para 3.49 (b) It is unclear which area this statement refers to – the area at the industrial estate or the area 
adjacent to it?  It should be explained as to why infiltration is not an option here given that the water will be 
discharging to the Aller Brook to the west of the site.  

 
Heritage Strategy (Historic Environment) 
The archaeological potential for the site is referenced in paragraph 3.64, but there is no strategy set out or 
reference to any mitigation measures that will be implemented, how any heritage assets with archaeological 
interest will be protected or enhanced by the development or how any heritage assets that are present may 
influence design or layout of the development of this area.  
A geophysical survey has been undertaken of a large part of the area but, to date, the County Historic 
Environment Team is unaware of any intrusive archaeological field evaluation being undertaken to test the 
efficacy of the survey and to enable an understanding of the significance of any heritage assets present that 
will be affected by development.  
The County Council therefore advise that any Masterplan for development, including Green Infrastructure, is 
supported and informed by the results of a full programme of archaeological work, namely the results of the 
geophysical survey and a field evaluation.  
 
Economy 
Employment space – Supportive of requirement for high quality employment space to be provided across the 
allocation including B1, B2 and B8 space. Newton Abbot has a large existing B8 offering; it should be ensured 

 
CHANGE – insert, ‘The County 
Council is committed to working 
together with the District Council 
and the service providers to work 
towards the introduction of a bus 
service to serve this development 
as part of a strategy for 
development across Newton 
Abbot and has underlined the 
importance of early main street 
delivery. 
 
Drainage Strategy amended 
following comments from NE 
 
 
CHANGE –Heritage Strategy 
amended accordingly  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Noted. 
 
 

126



9 
 

that any provision of B8 space is fully justified. There is a significant local demand for small scale B1 and B2 
units  
Renewable Energy – Local Plan aspiration to maximise opportunities for the generation on-site renewable 
energy is welcomed. It would be helpful for the framework to place a greater emphasis on the requirement to 
investigate the potential for inclusion of renewable at a domestic and community scale than it currently does. 
Reference could also be made to the inclusion of renewable energy and energy efficiency within building and 
public space. 
 
Minerals and Waste 
General - The document does not consider the overlap of the development areas with the Mineral 
Safeguarding Area or para 7.37 of the Local Plan which encourages pre-development extraction of sand and 
gravel. Clear advice should be included in the document on the requirement for the scope of prior extraction 
to be investigated as part of any planning application in accordance with policies M2 and M3 of Devon  
 
Minerals Plan 
General – The Framework Plan should include reference to Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan and the need 
for planning applications to include a Waste Audit Statement that addresses the sustainable management of 
waste from the construction and operational stages.  
 
Introduction - The Framework Plan should reference the relevant policies in the Devon Minerals Plan and 
Devon Waste Plan that form part of the development plan.  
 
Map (page 8) - The map should identify the Mineral Safeguarding Area (subject to an appropriate copyright 
statement).  
 

Key Challenges and Opportunities - Under ‘site features and ecology’, reference should be made to the fact 
that the site overlies Aller Gravels that are a potential mineral resource.  
 
SEA Screening Statement 
D Resource Use - It is incorrectly stated that the site is not within a Mineral Consultation Area. Almost all of the 
proposed development areas are within a Mineral Consultation Area.  
D Resource Use - Statement suggests that the draft framework directs employment land to the Mineral 
Safeguarding Area (MSA). This is incorrect as the proposed employment land allocations are all located outside 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MINERALS AND WASTE 
CHANGE – Include reference to 
policies M2 and M3 of Devon 
Minerals Plan.  Prior extraction 
provisions also referred to in Site 
Challenges section. 
 
CHANGE – Agree include 
reference to W4 
 
 
As above 
 
CHANGE – Include Mineral 
Consultation Area on Context 
Plan 
 
CHANGE – Agree. This change has 
been made. 
 
This matter has been addressed 
but the masterplan is not yet a 
Local Development Document. 
Revised SEA not included 
alongside the revised Masterplan. 

127



10 
 

of the MSA. Additionally, the document does not mention that a large proportion of the housing land 
allocations are within the MSA and should address the encouragement given by paragraph 7.37 of the 
Teignbridge Local Plan for prior extraction of the underlying mineral resource.  

Devon County 
Council (Part 2) 
 
 
 
 
 

Shared Space  
In comment no.2 of previous response, the County Council made comments regarding the Government’s 
‘Inclusive Transport Strategy’ published in July 2018 which raises concerns regarding the increased use of 
shared space schemes and the impact of this upon visually impaired people. As a result of this strategy, the 
County Council had been advised to pause the introduction and adoption of new shared space schemes.  
 
Since the submission of the previous response, further clarification has been provided by both the Transport 
and Planning Ministers stating that the advice given to pause all shared space scheme applies to areas of high 
traffic rather than to housing developments and residential streets. Whilst planning authorities need to ensure 
that all schemes are designed with the needs of different users in mind, the focus of the pause is on level-
surface schemes in areas with relatively large amounts of pedestrian and vehicular movement such as high 
streets and town centres.  
 
In terms of the implications of this upon the Wolborough allocation, shared surfaces in residential streets can, 
subject to all other matters being satisfactory, be included within the adoptable areas of proposed Section 38 
agreements. Until the results of the impending DfT research are known and this can be revisited, shared 
spaces within areas of high traffic such as town centres will not be included within the adoptable areas.  
 
Bus Services  
The County Council is supportive of the provision of a new or extended regular bus route to serve the 
development and provide links to the surrounding areas and town centre. It is anticipated that the through-
route will provide a suitable route for a bus service providing accessibility across the site; it is therefore 
necessary that the route is of suitable width and design to allow for the movement of buses. In order to 
promote sustainable transport, the bus route would be required at an early stage in the development to 
influence travel behaviour. Reference within the document to the provision of bus stops within a maximum 
walking distance of 400m is welcomed.  
 
The County Council is committed to working together with the District Council and the service providers to 
work towards the introduction of a bus service to serve development across Newton Abbot and will seek 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHANGE – Include in movement 
Strategy 

128



11 
 

financial contributions from development towards achieving this. Early discussions have already taken place 
with Stagecoach regarding the vision for bus services across the town including at NA3. 

Devon 
Countryside 
Access Forum 

No specific comments.  Many of the Framework policies and associated details accord with the Forum’s vision 
for sustainable transport and recreational access. 
Forwarded Forum’s position statements on planning and disability access to inform the future development of 
this site. 

Noted. 

PCL Planning 
(representing 
landowner to 
west of NA3 
allocation) 
 
 

Process 
Offer to work with the Council in order to redraft  
Development Framework fails to take into account evidence which underpins the planning application. 
Proposed masterplan is poor quality and has failed to secure effective engagement of client.   
It’s a draft DPD, not an SPD.   
 
 
 
 
Assessment of Significance St Mary’s Church, Wolborough should have been prepared ahead of Consultation 
Draft DFP 
 
 
 
 
Draft HRA does not consider information contained in ES submitted on behalf of our clients. Representation to 
the recent Devon County Council Greater Horseshoe Bat consultation document appended.  No significant 
impact upon the SAC can arise as result of Development on the NA3 site. 
 
 
 
Development Framework Map 
Employment land on Totnes Rd - Increase in the employment land adjacent to Totnes Rd creates a significant 
constraint on viability, is impractical, poorly located, creates inappropriate movement through the 
neighbourhood and be undeliverable at the scale and extent suggested.  Some employment on made-up land 
and closer to Abbotskerswell.  Housing pushed further up the slope onto land that is more difficult and more 
visible. 

 
Welcome.  We have fully engaged 
with the landowner and other 
stakeholders throughout 
production of the masterplan.  
This has included recent meetings 
about the content of the draft 
masterplan. 
 
The approach taken was agreed 
through careful dialogue with 
Historic England, who are 
members of the project team for 
the Assessment. 
 
This data was drawn on in 
preparing the draft masterplan, 
which the draft HRA 
subsequently responded to. 
 
 
 
CHANGE - Revised map includes 
shading to indicate that 
employment land could be 
provided elsewhere if an 

129



12 
 

 
Two access points from Totnes Road- Additional vehicle access from the site onto Totnes Road is not viable or 
necessary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Development Principles - Restricting land with a gradient no steeper than 1 in 6 is surprising as such 
development is common in Teignbridge.   
 
 
 
 
Movement Strategy 3.7–3.10 focus on road design and how this would relate to development.  This is 
important in order to create an integrated relationship between the two. 
Poor integration of main street in to developed areas.  Tangle of primary, secondary, tertiary streets does not 
set out a cogent design strategy for place design.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Density Strategy 

appropriate solution can be 
identified.  
We have seen no evidence to 
support a viability case.  The 
access points illustrate one way 
of serving all of Neighbourhood 
1.  It may be feasible to arrive at a 
layout with a single access point 
that meets the needs of all 
development uses. 
 
Objectives section amended to 
reflect scope for innovative 
approaches to steeper slopes, 
which is already addressed in the 
Density strategy and land use 
section.  
 
The illustrative masterplan 
responds to the importance of an 
integrated relationship between 
the main street and development 
parcels, following a series of 
workshops and discussions 
between designers and 
engineers, including  
representatives of the 
allocation’s main land owners.   
 
The illustrative road network 
reflects the topographic 
challenges of the site. 
 

130



13 
 

Higher density around Neighbourhood Hub. 25dph is a satisfactory device in itself for securing high quality 
townscape/ place making adjacent to link road, primary school and local centre.     
Difficult to understand from place making perspective. Suggest density levels should not be limited to low 
levels as higher densities can make better use of land. Higher density housing in the centre important in 
achieving this.    
Danger that exclusively non-residential areas at the heart of the neighbourhood will generate poor place-
making.  Creating a mixed-use centre including housing will help to secure a more rounded and balanced 
centre 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Landuse Strategy 
Net residential area - Reduces the overall developable area for residential across Anthony Rew’s landholding 
(over 6 hectares).  Significant reduction on housing contrary to allocation.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Landscape Strategy  
Landscape strategy around local centre result in fragmented place where road is separated from housing 
which is separated from local centre which is separated from school.  Simple standing back from Church 
outside areas of allocated for housing is not sound basis for credible focus.  
 
 

 
Description amended to reflect 
the scope for a high density of 
properties, even in low density 
character areas. 
 
Potential to accommodate 
residential uses within 
neighbourhood hub area 
reflected in housing objectives. 
 
Draft design codes not published 
with the revised masterplan in 
order to underline the flexibility 
that exists in relation to this and 
similar matters.   
 
The illustrative masterplan has 
been prepared with reference to 
more detailed analysis of the 
topography and historic 
environment context of the site.  
The masterplan is not 
prescriptive and recognises that 
innovative solutions to 
addressing these matters may 
result in additional development 
coming forward. 
 
Potential to accommodate 
residential uses within 
neighbourhood hub reflected 
further within the document.  A 

131



14 
 

 
 
 
 
Drainage Strategy - The reduction in area that is able to deal with drainage requirements associated with 
Wolborough Fen is questioned as are the proposed locations for attenuation on land adjacent to Totnes Road. 
Is there sufficient land between the development areas and the SSSI? Location of attenuation in 
Neighbourhood 1 is questioned. Is there sufficient water storage capacity in the suggested strategy? 
 
 
Heritage Strategy  
Suggest density not best tool for achieving good quality around the church.  Concerned moving the link road 
further south – away from church- will make it more prominent due to engineering works required in order to 
deal with topography.  
 
 
 
 
 
Main Street Design  
Link road alignment – moved 25 metres south for PCL’ suggested alignment. This will make construction more 
difficult make the road more visible in the landscape.  Change in alignment between proposed school and the 
woodland will make it more difficult to develop parcels to south.  East of woodland will result in cut and fill. 
Poor integration of main street into developed areas.  Tangle of Primary, secondary, tertiary streets does not 
set out a cogent design strategy for place design. 
Changes in alignment from that proposed by PCL are questioned. Focus in guidance is on road design rather 
than integration of road with development and forming quality public realm. 
 
 
 
 
Part 3 – Design Code  

Statement of Significance and 
Settings Assessment has been 
prepared in partnership with 
Historic England and has guided 
the revised masterplan. 
 
Drainage Strategy Principles 
agreed with Natural England 
 
 
 
The revised masterplan is now 
orientated towards density 
character, rather than specifically 
dwelling numbers.   A Statement 
of Significance and Settings 
Assessment has been prepared in 
partnership with Historic England 
and has guided the revised 
masterplan. 
 
The illustrative masterplan’s road 
alignment was developed as a 
result of a series of workshops 
and discussions between 
designers and engineers, 
including representatives of the 
allocation’s main land owners.  A 
Statement of Significance and 
Settings Assessment has been 
prepared in partnership with 
Historic England and has guided 

132



15 
 

Link Road character - Proposed guidance will not result in high quality street.  Central spine is about 1.5km 
long. The guidelines do not address different characters along length of corridor.  Illustrative section on page 
44 represents poor utilitarian solution. 
Connecting Street  – utilitarian design solution. 
Neighbourhood Hub 
Should be kept open for more detailed designed stage. Object to significant reduction in housing around Local 
Centre. 
Do not demonstrate how high quality environment developed in heart of neighbourhood. Central Spine 
isolated from development. Mixed uses and high quality. 
Neighbourhood 1 – concern regarding extent extent of employment. Inadequate sense of vision or quality of 
place. 
Neighbourhood 2 – concern about illustrative layout. 

the revised masterplan, including 
the road alignment. 
 
 
Design Code removed from 
document.  Detailed design 
across the allocation will need to 
respond to Local Plan policy and 
associated design guidance 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Turley (on 
behalf of CEG) 
(representing 
landowner to 
east of NA3 
allocation) 
 
 

The draft DFP needs to be as flexible as possible to be able to adapt to changing economic and social 
circumstances during the life of the development, and accommodate a masterplan in an application 
submission which is based on more detailed evidence than exists in the evidence base of the DFP.  This is 
certainly best fulfilled as a non-SPD guidance document which can be flexible, reviewed and revised if required 
as development progresses (if there is any need for revision as all.) 
 
 
 
 
 
Request the DFP is fundamentally re-drafted to reflect the emerging proposals on the CEG land at Langford 
Bridge Farm and address the emerging conflict in the two masterplans for the site, before providing  
opportunity for further review prior to adoption. 
 
Summary of suggested main changes –  

- Reduce scope of document, including removal of Design Code  and removal of Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan  

The Revised Masterplan has not 
been drafted with the intention 
of introducing policy.  It 
constitutes a masterplan that 
officers consider would be 
suitable in addressing the Local 
Plan requirement for one if 
submitted with planning 
applications at Wolborough.   
 
Masterplan has been re-drafted 
taking on board many of 
suggested changes  

133



16 
 

- Reduce amount of detail in ALL sections of document and make clear all masterplanning consideration 
can be subject to change at later stages  

- Reconsider balance of employment uses across the wider allocation 
- Remove requirement for 50m corridor within strategic flyway, include recognition that the indicative 

corridors may need to be refined at the planning stage and that alternative planning proposals will be 
considered  
 

Edit down and reduce the overall content and scope of the DFP, by 
- Ensuring the DFP does not contain untested and unjustified policies which is intended to be used to 

determine planning applications for development proposed in accordance with Policy NA3 
- Remove Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
- Remove of Employment section on page 17 
- Remove section which prescribes requirements where further detailed evidence will be submitted as 

part of a planning application on site (drainage, highways, landscape) 
- Status as Non-SPD guidance document and not an SPD 
- Remove Codes 
- Remove specific measurements within the detailed text and “Code” 
- DFP goes into a lot of detail. Ensure no repetition and no conflicting statements 
- Should be stated as illustrative and heavily caveated to allow for flexibility in compliance.   
- Applications may differ from DFP and be implemented as appropriate to location 
- Amend Density scopes  
- Removal of quantum indicated for electricity sub-station 
- Flexibility in delivery of infrastructure requirement 
- Indicative Flyway corridors may need to be refined 
- Remove or re-orientate location of strategic Cycle Route D 
- Indicate flood attenuation can be located within Parcel S2  
- Remove green link running north-south through Neighbourhood 4, to west of Kingskerswell Road 
- Remove all annotations of connecting streets, any specification of road widths. 

 
Further detailed comments provided in -  Appendix 3 Design Critique 
 
Infrastructure Schedule 
Comments on Employment, Housing, Through route, Open Spaces, Local Centre, Education. 

134



17 
 

Consider approach taken by DFP to attempt to prescribe and secure infrastructure fundamentally unlawful and 
will legally challenge the adoption of any document which includes these requirements. We request the 
deletion of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Employment Obligation section, from the draft DFP to enable 
to proceed to adoption. 
 
Separately, further detailed comments provided regarding the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

Vectos 
(representing 
landowner 
outside the 
allocation, to 
the south of 
Priory Road) 

Main Street Design 
Provide a more direct route between the A380 South Devon Link Road and the A381. Consistent with the route 
shown in the Local Plan  
Framework should consider;   
• Assessment of the impacts of routing through the development, both with and without the bridge crossing 
proposals in place committed through CIL 
• Revised assessment of highway infrastructure through the NA3 allocation 

Main Street Design agreed with 
Devon County Council and 
through a series of workshops 
with various transport engineers. 
 

Devon CPRE  
 
 

Process 
Given the sensitive and complex nature of developing NA3, recommend robust and comprehensive DPD 
should be produced, consulted on and examined by the Planning Inspectorate.  
Concerned about statements in paras 1.4 and 3.2 that “it may also be possible to bring forward development 
based on an alternative developer-led comprehensive masterplan for the whole allocation”. This would not 
meet the requirement to have an overarching set of detailed principles produced by the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) and endorsed by community consultation, to inform developers and to ensure that future 
development of Wolborough Barton is appropriate to its surroundings and contributes to the necessary 
infrastructure improvements. An LPA-produced DPD is essential to ensure a well thought out approach to 
the strategic development of this allocated site.    
 
Landscape Strategy – Welcomed 
Cirl Buntings – Further study needs to be undertaken to ascertain accurately the population which is present 
on NA3.  Paragraph 3.35 refers to habitat connectivity via the network of retained vegetation and the need to 
avoid and mitigate the impacts on Cirl Buntings. However, some of the land in NA3 has already been used in 
mitigation for the construction of the South Devon Link Road. How many times can payments be made to 
mitigate the loss of habitats for Cirl Buntings before there is no suitable land left for them? Further study 
needs to be undertaken to ascertain accurately the population which is present on NA3.  
 
 

The Revised Masterplan has not 
been drafted with the intention 
of introducing policy.  It 
constitutes a masterplan that 
officers consider would be 
suitable in addressing the Local 
Plan requirement for one if 
submitted with planning 
applications at Wolborough.   
 
 
 
 
Further studies will need to be 
provided at planning application 
stage. 
 
 
 
 

135



18 
 

Greater Horseshoe Bat Design Framework 
Teignbridge have prejudged the outcome of the South Hams SAC draft SPD by reducing the flyways from 500m 
to 50m. 
Support the aims outlined in para. 3.37 to support the conservation objectives of the South Hams SAC for the 
Greater Horseshoe Bats. Dark corridors and bat flyways (currently a minimum of 500m) are vital and must 
only be decided upon based on evidence “beyond all scientific doubt” (Lord Justice Underhill, Case No. 
C1/2015/0076). This is a very high test which must be applied to this DFP. The South Hams Special Area of 
Conservation Supplementary Planning Document remains in the preparatory stage and Devon CPRE would 
remind the Council that the current guidance is still in place and must be applied to the DFP, i.e. allow 
flyways 500 m wide.  
 
Para. 3.39 aims to “protect and optimise existing (and provide new) bat commuting and foraging habitat 
through the site to achieve overall connectivity.” There is nothing in the DFP to substantiate this statement. 
There is no optimising of bat commuting and foraging habitat. A 500-metre flyway through a dark sky site 
already exists and it is very difficult to comprehend how a reduction to 50 metres optimises a bat commuting 
route through a known pinch point in the flyway network. A good link for GHBs already exists between the 
Conitor Cave bat roost and NA3 and is very unlikely to be enhanced by development at ‘Neighbourhoods’ 1 
and 2. GHBs and other bat species already enjoy almost unlimited access to Decoy Woods and lake and the 
imposition of four 10 metre corridors through a large housing estate will certainly not optimise community 
habitat. 
 
Para. 3.39 says: “avoid light spill in bat corridors and foraging areas, i.e. achieve light levels of less than 0.5 
lux”. 
This is a laudable aim, but the narrowness of the proposed corridors will ensure that it is impossible to achieve 
especially in the secondary bat routes through the housing developments. Long term maintenance of this 

objective will be difficult due to residents installing exterior lighting and the Council’s difficulty in monitoring 
infringements . 
 
Drainage Strategy 
Illustrative photos used in DFP are misleading as no large expanses of open green land. On contrary 
topographically challenging. 
 

 
No objection from Natural 
England regarding the indicative 
Greater Horseshoe Bat strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TDC Drainage Officer has worked 
with Natural England to revise 
the Drainage Strategy and 
Monitoring Strategy 

136



19 
 

Comprehensive surveys are essential to make outcome of development on groundwater quality, quantity and 
relability better understood to ensure long term viability of the operation of Wolborough Fen as set out in Para 
3.43. 
3.48 No less than 6 people and/or organisations involved in ongoing maintance of the SUDS. There must be a 
single individual (person or individual) responsible for the six element who report to the Council at regular 
intervals. Relying on residents is particularly worrying question whether or such obligation legally enforceable 

or would be effective. Resources must be identified for the ongoing monitoring of the effectiveness 
of the drainage measures. 
 
Extract provided from Royal Haskoning DHV December 2016 a range of requirements and recommendations 
were made. para 2.1.2.1.  
 
The report set out the requirements for a drainage strategy in para. 2.1.3.5. The DFP has adopted the 
minimum monitoring and dataset recommendations described in the RH report. However, adopting minimum 
requirements will not provide a monitoring strategy that will uphold the high aspirations of that required in 
the RH report. It must surely be incumbent on TDC to adopt the highest level of protection envisioned in the 
RH report and include these standards within the Draft DFP, so that the aims of the drainage strategy and 
para. 3.43 for the Wolborough Fen SSSI can be met.  
 
Heritage Strategy 
The assessment by Historic England should be given greater weight in the DFP and more robust mitigation 
measures should be adopted if St Marys setting is to be adequately protected so that future generations can 
appreciate its significance in the landscape 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Further work has been carried 
out – Statement of significance 
and Settings Assessment for St 
Mary’s Church, Wolborough, 
Newton Abbot 
Work prepared in conjunction 
with Historic England.  
 
CHANGE – Responding to 
emerging work carried out as 
part of the St Mary’s Assessment, 
changes made to Heritage 
Strategy in revised Masterplan 
document 
 

137



20 
 

Main Street Design 
Early delivery of the link road between the A380 and the A381 should be a prerequisite of any development.  
Already the infrastructure in and around Newton Abbot is at breaking point; the volume of traffic using Coach 
Road and other lanes around Abbotskerswell is excessive, damaging the highway and private property, and 
putting pedestrians and cyclists at considerable risk. Any further increase in traffic would be disastrous. 
However, it is a road that cannot be extended to meet up with the A382 and thus, is likely to increase the 
pressure on the lanes to the north west of the A381 as drivers try to avoid Newton Abbot’s notorious traffic 
hold-ups. This detracts from its proposed use as a southern by-pass for the town. Thus it may not fulfil the 
policy in the Local Plan which states: “The provision of the road is critical to the creation of a sustainable 
transport network through the site and to improve the overall movement corridors across the town.” 

Devon County Council have commented previously that  “without certainty that the route can be delivered in 
its entirety at an early stage in the development of the allocation, the proposed development is considered to 
be unacceptable for traffic impact and air quality reasons towards the centre of Newton Abbot as well as for 
pedestrians and cycles.” 

The DFP needs to include a greater acknowledgement of the difficulties and propose solutions in securing an 
early delivery of the by-pass. 

The DFP seeks delivery of the 
through route at the earliest 
possible stage in order to address 
concerns surrounding the impact 
of increased traffic on local roads 
and accessibility across the 
allocation 
 

Devon Wildlife 
Trust 
 
 

HRA 
Disagree with conclusions in para 8.4, believe the allocations will result in adverse effects on integrity of south 
hams SAC. For following reasons: 
GHB Foraging Habitat 
Table 2 does not include ‘net loss of areas of GHB foraging habitat. Large areas of foraging habitat (mainly 
cattle grazed grassland) will be lost and replaced by development. HRA does not properly address mitigation 
for net loss of foraging habitat. 
As a minimum requirement, suggested similar wording used for foraging habitat ‘Design Principle’. DFP revised 
to show how no net loss of GHB foraging habitat will be achieved. In light of NPPF para 170, 174 expect LPA to 
press for a measurable ‘net gain’ in GHB foraging and commuting habitat. 
GHB commuting habitat connectivity 
DFP will adversely affect GHB commuting habitat and consequent GHB movement. 
On Land Use Plan residential development at area R9 and education land at area S2 creates a Pinch Point 
hindering GHB north-south movement along Predicted Flight Line. Further exacerbated by Main Street running 

 
 
 
No objection from Natural 
England regarding the indicative 
Greater Horseshoe Bat strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

138



21 
 

east-west. Revise Land Use Plan to remove potential Pinch Point by significantly setting back proposed 
development adjacent to GHB corridor addressing likely adverse effects of Main Street alignment. 
Strategic Flyway at area R17 narrow band of green space result in pinch Point for GHB movement. 
Para 3.40 -Width of ‘secondary corridors’ only 10 to 20 metres. Too narrow. Widths for ‘secondary corridors’ 
should be minimum 30 metres. 
Following should be increased to minimum of 30 metres: 
10 metre buffer between industrial units and hedge/tree in neighbourhood 1 
15 metre (min) buffer to existing woodland (page 60) 
15 metre (min) buffer to existing woodland (page 62) 
Wolborough Fen 
Uncertainty about whether land use proposals will adversely affect SSSI. DFP revised and development in this 
area significantly reduced or eliminated if this uncertainty cannot be resolved.  
 
GHB survey data 
LPA required to have sufficient information to make decision that proposed mitigation can be achieved. Bat 
survey reports produced in 2014 and 2015. Consider whether this is sound basis.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TDC Drainage Officer and Natural 
England have reviewed Drainage 
and Monitoring Strategy 
 
Noted.  This matter needs to be 
addressed through the planning 
application process. 
 

Newton Abbot 
Town Council 
 

Town Council totally accepts principle of development at NA3 as contained in Plan Teignbridge. It’s motivation 
is to ensure any development of the area is however delivered in responsible way that is not detrimental to 
the communities of Newton Abbot now, and in future. 
 
The Council wishes to raise its concerns regarding :- 
 

The timing of delivery of all infrastructure must be commensurate with the pressures the new development 
will have upon existing service delivery in Newton Abbot, i.e. prior to a large number of new houses being 
occupied, in particular:- 

 
 
 
 
 

- The link road is imperative if any adverse impact upon the town centre is going to be minimalised. A 
section of Wolborough Street (the A381) already has a recognised serious air quality issue and suffers 
from congestion.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

The revised masterplan proposes 
delivery of the through route at 
the earliest possible stage in 
order to address concerns 
surrounding the impact of 
increased traffic on local roads 
and accessibility across the 
allocation 
The delivery of the through route 
will divert traffic away from 
Newton Abbot Town Centre 

139



22 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
- Access across the site must be adequate for all users, pedestrians, cyclists, motorists and public 

transport. If this is not provided there will be a danger that the mistakes made at Hele Park will be 
repeated (where there were no footpaths provided to facilitate children walking to school) and the 
residents will become totally isolated from the rest of Newton Abbot; 
 

- The key to NA3 working will be convenient access for the public and businesses to and from the A380 
South Devon Highway. However, this is facilitated by a traffic light controlled single road bridge over 
the railway line. It is extremely important that a second bridge over the railway line is provided 
speeding up traffic movements. Access to the Torquay Road at the Penn Inn is also facilitated by a 
single lane tunnel at the opposite end of Kingskerswell Road, thus sending traffic in the other direction 
is also inadequate. 
 

Provision of educational facilities; community facilities and a small retail presence must also be delivered in a 
timely fashion to limit the requirement for residents to travel across Newton Abbot to access daily services. 
The least the Town Council would expect will be new primary and secondary school provision made, along 
with the sports and leisure facilities required for these schools, which can also be used by the community out 
of school hours.  Leisure, recreational and play facilities must also be delivered early in the development for 
the same reasons as outlined above; 

 
Ecology/Heritage – it is always going to be unpopular to build on green fields, therefore this development 
must be delivered sympathetically. In particular the Wolborough Fen needs protection; protection of the 
South Hams SAC; and rather than there being any threat to Decoy Country Park from this development, a 
conscious effort should be made to extend it so it may be enjoyed by the expanded population of Newton 
Abbot. 

therefore alleviating pressures 
from ‘through traffic’ on 
Wolborough Street and thus 
improving the air quality in this 
area. 
 
The Movement Strategy includes 
access for all users. Revised 
document shows more detail on 
cycle routes and bus routes 
 
The County Council is progressing 
options for addressing the single 
track Langford Bridge to increase 
capacity. 
 
 
 
Noted.  A proposed infrastructure 
schedule is included with the 
masterplan. 
 
 
 
 
The Ecology and Heritage 
Strategies of the Masterplan 
include associated mitigation 
proposals. 

Abbotskerswell 
Parish Council 

Support Council led masterplan 
 
Process 

 
 
 

140



23 
 

(together with 
WRA  
representing 
1,800 
residents) 

1.2 SPD will weaken TDC hand in ensuring its stated objectives are met. Additional time should be given for 
adopting the DFP as a DPD to help achieve right outcome for all stakeholders and biodiversity interests across 
the site. Substantial survey undertaken over an extended period in the time taken to produce a DPD would not 
delay development and final outcome is properly scrutinised by Planning Inspectorate, stakeholders and the 
public. 
 
1.3 Number of constraints and identified risks need to be addressed to provide complete picture. This must be 
acted upon and not merely “considered” 
 
 
1.4 “ bring forward development based on an alternative developer-led masterplan for the whole allocation”. 
Concerned that the validity of this masterplan could be superseded and replaced by developer led masterplan. 
 
 
 
 
1.6 “DFP informed by technical work “ – should be in public domain. 
 
 
Movement Strategy 
Concern Main Street is only 6.5 metres as will be a by-pass around town 
Early delivery of Link Road should be prerequisite. Traffic using coach Road and other lanes around 
Abbotskerswell is excessive and safety issue. 
Para 3.10 link road must come before any housing development. 
Coach Road – weight limit on this country lane 
No proposals have been considered to cope with the forecast increase in traffic along coach Road, Priory road 
and Stoneman’s Hill. This is not acceptable; firm proposals must be in place to adequately deal with this issue. 
 
 
Landscape (green infrastructure) Strategy 
Decoy Brake and Blackball Plantation should come into public ownership. Footpaths reinstated. Area currently 
used for motorcycle scrambling should be returned. 
3.34 Management Strategy – who is responsible for drafting it, financing and maintaining it in perpetuity? 

CHANGE – Development Plan 
Document preparation is now 
proposed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHANGE – new para 1.5 “it is also 
recognised that it may be 
possible to bring forward 
development based on an 
alternative developer-led 
comprehensive masterplan for 
the whole allocation, if produced 
with meaningful and continued 
engagement from stakeholders 
 
 
The masterplan seeks delivery of 
the through route at the earliest 
possible stage in order to address 
concerns surrounding the impact 
of increased traffic on local roads 
and accessibility across the 
allocation 
 
CHANGE - Page 15. Para 3.15 
regarding local road network 
 
 
 

141



24 
 

3.35 There are a number of breeding pairs on the site. Seeking mitigation contribution if current number of 
breeding pairs cannot be maintained on the site is not enough, this will deprive local residents and visitors of 
seeing these rare birds in their natural habitat. 
 
Greaterhorseshoe Bat Design Framework  
Teignbridge have prejudged the outcome of the South Hams SAC draft SPD by reducing the flyways from 500m 
to 50m. 50 metres is not acceptable, proper scientific evidence to support such a reduction in flyways over 
dark-sky open ground. No scale on plan shown on page 30 showing bat flyways to be able to judge the impact 
of eight crossing points traversing the link road 
No evidence in the DFP to support the statement on page 27 ‘extend upon the existing vegetation to enhance 
and increase wildlife habitat, particularly for greater horseshoe bats’. 
Highly unlikely that the mitigation measures proposed will achieve the conservation objectives for the South 
Hams special Area of conservation. They fall below the standard of “beyond reasonable scientific doubt” and 
therefore put in jeopardy the continued viability of the Special Area of Conservation. Development of the NA3 
site should not be considered until there is a thorough re-evaluation of all proposed measures with up to date, 
comprehensive data. 
 
Drainage Strategy 
Little account taken from reports submitted by Rigare on behalf of Devon wildlife Trust, Royal Haskoning (RH), 
WRA and APC. 
Illustrative photos used in DFP are misleading as no large expanses of open green land. On contrary 
topographically challenging. 
Comprehensive surveys are essential to make outcome of development on groundwater quality, quantity and 
relability better understood to ensure long term viability of the operation of Wolborough Fen as set out in Para 
3.43. 
3.48 No less than 6 people and/or organisations involved in ongoing maintance of the SUDS. There must be a 
single individual (person or individual) responsible for the six element who report to the Council at regular 
intervals. Relying on residents is particularly worrying question whether or such obligation legally enforceable 
or would be effective. 
Extract provided from Rigare March 2015 report. Report indicates at 7.17 that site should be assessed for its 
affinities to a Natura 2000 Code 91 Bog woodland.  It granted this would put the site amongst those most 
highly protected in the UK.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
No objection from Natural 
England regarding the Greater 
Horseshoe Bat design framework 
approach. 
CHANGE – Scale shown on every 
map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All background information 
including the Royal Haskoning 
and the Rigare Reports were 
supplied  to the multi-disciplinary 
team at WYG. Also Natural 
England are fully aware of the 
documents. TDC Drainage Officer 
worked together with Natural 
England and WYG to draw up the 
Drainage Strategy. Now the 
document has been revised 
following representation and 
further correspondence with 
Natural England.   
 

142



25 
 

Also extracts from Royal Haskoning Report 
 
The need for a management and maintenance company is referred to in the TDC DFP, but little detail is 
provided. The TDC DFP does not identify how maintenance of individual property soakaways and surface 
water drains, including SuDS will be enforced. Past personal experience with enforcement notices indicates 
that enforcement over a large housing estate will be almost impossible to achieve. This could jeopardise the 
effectiveness of any mitigation work.  
 
The TDC DFP has adopted the minimum monitoring and dataset recommendations described in the RH report. 
However, adopting minimum requirements will not provide a monitoring strategy that will uphold the high 
aspirations of that required in the RH report. It must surely be incumbent on TDC to adopt the highest level of 
protection envisioned in the RH report and include these standards within the Draft Development Framework 
Plan, so that all can see that the highest standard of evidence is required in order to determine development 
can proceed within the Wolborough Fen SSSI catchment. Anything less is unacceptable. 
 
Heritage Strategy 
Records from St Mary’s Church going back 1000 years, essential archaeological survey completed. 
 
Main Street Design 
Para 3.66 8% may not be ideal for mobility users. Hard to rationalise para 3.66 with 3.2”development parcels 
on slopes that are flatter than 1 in 6 metres in gradient”. “Embankment maximum gradient of 50% requiring 
further earth retaining design is through the Fen catchment” surely not in the Fen itself 
 
Utilities – existing utilities infrastructure inadequate. Companies forward capital projects do not contain 
identifiable plans for extending current network any time soon. 
Parking – remove permitted development rights from houses   
 
HRA – See letter as appendix 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agree challenging topography. 
Route chosen to minimise 
steepness of route. 

Wolborough 
Residents 
Association 
(together with 
APC 

Same response as Abbotskerswell Parish Council  

143



26 
 

representing 
1,800 
residents) 

Ogwell Parish 
Council 
 
 
 

Movement Strategy 

-A381 is already fragile route into the centre of Newton Abbot, prone to congestion at peak times and 
vulnerable to traffic jams because of the restricted width in Wolborough Street before it joins the A382, 
making it virtually impossible for HGVs to pass in opposite directions.  

 

-Need to take account of increased volume of construction traffic that will inevitably arise prior to the 
completion of properties for occupation. 

-LP states “provide vehicular route connecting A380 South Devon Link Road with A381”. The DFP does not 
reflect this as the eastern link is shown to Kingskerswell Road not the A380. The anticipated junction with the 
Kingskerswell Road does eventually connect with the A380 but only by turning right via a narrow bridge (over 
the main railway line) that is of necessity controlled by traffic lights. (Turning left is not an option as it takes 
traffic along narrow residential roads and underneath the railway line via a single track section.) It is our firm 
belief that this does not provide adequate access to the NA3 development either when completed or during 
the years of its construction. Development of this magnitude requires clear access at an early stage to the only 
dual carriageway in the area, namely the A380, because what is proposed will force the majority of traffic onto 
the A381, which is not capable of coping with the significant increase in volumes it will generate.  

-Vast majority of traffic using A381 will travel through centre of Newton Abbot whereas direct access to A380 
would have the twin advantages of allowing both NA3 traffic to by-pass it and also relieving some of existing 
pressure on the town centre road network.  

-At local level, apprehension that some increase in traffic will attempt to navigate through Ogwell between the 
A381 and the A383 at Hele using unsuitable country lanes (e.g. Ogwell Road, Croft Road and Chercombe Bridge 
Road). Some attempt should be made to address this issue.  

The delivery of the through route 
will divert traffic away from 
Newton Abbot Town Centre 
therefore alleviating pressures 
from ‘through traffic’ on 
Wolborough Street and thus 
improving the air quality in this 
area. 
 
This will be considered through 
the planning application – 
Construction Traffic Management 
Plan  
 
The revised masterplan proposes 
prompt delivery of the main 
street through the allocation, 
which will result in convenient 
access to the A380.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHANGE - Page 15. Para 3.15 
regarding local road network 

144



27 
 

 

Diocese of 
Exeter 

Heritage Strategy – seek to maximise any possibilities for enhancement of the Church rather than simply 
seeking to minimise the heritage ‘loss’. Enhance connectivity from and through the new community hub to the 
Church (so that the design and layout of the hub signals people towards the church and then enables them to 
access it by foot easily).  On the one hand visual framing from the south will be important. However, this needs 
to be achieved in tandem with, rather than at the expense of, increasing physical accessibility to the church for 
heritage-related and other community purposes.  Pedestrian access across Coach Road and on-site and off-site 
parking. 
Design Code - Neighbourhood hub is described as “mixed use pedestrian priority area […] as part of the area 
around Wolborough Barton Farm” and consideration should be given to including the church in that mixed use 
pedestrian priority area. This would mean that the church has benefits from measures to include, ‘good 
pedestrian and cycle access including safe and convenient crossing points, parking and public transport’. 
Services and facilities - rationale for location of primary community facilities being in neighbourhood 2 is 
evident but one consequence is that there will need to be clarity about how residents of other 
neighbourhoods (particularly 3 and 4) will access them in practical terms. What is true for the neighbourhood 
hub and the primary school in this regard is also true for the church. 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan - The trigger points for community facilities need to be brought forward as far as 
possible and strictly related to the start of any and all development included within NA3, so that there is no 
chance of early phases of development ‘not counting’ when it comes to calculating whether the relevant 
thresholds have been reached. 

Assessment of Significance 
report. 
Details will be included at 
planning application stage 
 
 
 
 
Design Code removed from 
document.   
 
 
Noted.  The revised masterplan 
promotes early connectivity 
across the site. 
 
The revised infrastructure 
schedule has been devised to 
promote prompt community 
facility provision. 

Newton Abbot 
CIC 

Should be DPD to ensure principles are adhered to as much as possible by future developers 

 

Vision – Welcome low density housing and green fields retained around Church 
 
Framework Plan - Local Plan states 10 hectares employment land should be delivered. Page 15 states “Approx 
7 ha of employment land across the site”. This is further confused by the schedule on page 71 which describes 
a minimum of 3½ ha of employment land. 

Movement Strategy - Concern over junction of new road on the East side. Although traffic will have  
opportunity to turn right along Kingskerswell Road to join the new South Devon Highway, any traffic going left 

CHANGE – Development Plan 
Document preparation is now 
proposed 
 
Noted. 
 
CHANGE – Page 13 updated to 
provide clarity 
 
 
The delivery of the through route 
will divert traffic away from 

145



28 
 

into Newton Abbot will join already congested narrow roads in Decoy, especially when Primary School children 
going to/coming out school. If traffic goes West to enter Newton Abbot, along Totnes Road, no road 
improvements in area to improve current congestion. New development will have major impact on amount of 
traffic entering Newton Abbot from either direction. 

 

Design Code – Neighbourhood Hub - Confusion regarding the ‘Neighbourhood Hub’. Page 71, schedule 
describes “community building” with “D1 or D2 uses totalling approximately 1250m2 within building provided 
as part of the neighbourhood hub”, built after completion of 300 dwellings. No mention of this, in description 
of neighbourhood hub pages 54/55 only describes hotel, farm shop, small outdoor square and employment 
buildings/workshops. No building set aside for local community for a meeting space, use for clubs. Shop also 
planned on East edge of development. Since this is major development, with no other local facilities, it is 
considered that a community facility is a major omission. Although there may be possible meeting spaces in 
the hotel, these will be hired out at commercial rents. No community-led building in development, serious 
concern. 

Newton Abbot Town Centre  
therefore alleviating pressures 
from ‘through traffic’ on 
Wolborough Street and thus 
improving the air quality in this 
area. 
 
Design Code removed from 
document.  Principles still 
applied. Use Teignbridge Design 
Guide is relevant instead. 
 

 
 
Comments from Individuals – grouped into themes 
 

Theme Summary of comments or issues Response or proposed change 

01 
Introduction 
 

Support preparation of a Council led masterplan  
 
Why principle already agreed?  Further public consultation needed. Infrastructure 
can’t cope. Reconsider allocation. Evidence for need for more houses.  Development 
needs to reflect the Vision and aspirations of local communities. Seems like a ‘done 
deal’ 
 
Should be a Development Plan Document 
 
 
Include plan on page 88 of Local Plan  
 

Noted. 
 
The principle of whether or not the development will take 
place has already been determined through the adoption 
of the Teignbridge Local Plan. 
 
 
CHANGE – Development Plan Document preparation is 
now proposed  
 
There has been considerable more evidence gathered 
since the Local Plan and the DFP reflects this 

146



29 
 

 
Include reference to Newton Abbot Neighbourhood Plan 
 
 
Building on landfill could be dangerous 
 
Retaining ag land. How can that be if building at least 1500 houses 

 
Reference was included on page 5 para 1.7. Included in 
Revised Masterplan on page 5 
 
All relevant organisations have been consulted 
 
CHANGE -Page 7 last bullet. Expand to make clearer 

02 Vision  
(Part 1) 

Concern houses won’t be affordable for local people.  Need restrictions on who can 
rent or buy the new houses   

Policy requirement of 20% affordable homes. Restricted to 
addressing local needs via section 106 agreement at 
planning application stage 

03 The 
Framework 
(part 2) 
 
 

Development Framework 
Well written but why coloured background on page 17 difficult to read. 
Support idea of ‘neighbourhoods’ and hope design of housing will reflect the area as 
hoped. 
Planning application been received for 3 out of 4 neighbourhoods but page 16 does 
not indicate which ones 
 
Council should insist on wider, visible green break to respect setting of Conservation 
Area 
 
Employment Land 
‘arms length interest’ not a term commonly used by public 
 
Concern that too many opt outs for employment land and may never happen. 
1300 houses would indicate 2600 job opportunities will be needed. How will this 
number be found locally? 
Have the travel to work distances been kept to a minimum in all Teignbridge 
developments since the Local Plan was approved? Have the appropriate number of 
jobs been created locally? If so, how many and where? 
 
Employment uses to the west is great mistake.  Will add to traffic congestion and air 
quality issues in town centre- Wolborough St 

 
CHANGE – colour of page. 
 
 
CHANGE – Introduction has been reshaped and this 
reference has been removed 
 
Buffer shown on Local Plan Policies Map 
 
 
 
CHANGE – Removed from Revised Masterplan 
 
The masterplan provides for a variety of employment land 
across the allocation. 
 
 
 
 
 
The revised masterplan recognises the potential for 
alternative approaches to employment land provision. 
 

147



30 
 

Land adjoining present cemetery is designated for ‘light industrial’. This could be 
residential care home.  ‘Imagine elderly person living in Care home with daily view 
from window of town’s cemetery!’  
 
As Business Manager for Newton Abbot College interested in methodology behind 
requirements for secondary school as part of plan.  
 

 
 
 
The education authority has identified a need for 
additional secondary education facilities. We are keen to 
work with the schools to identify the most appropriate 
solution for the town 

 Movement Strategy 
 
Public Transport 
Future bus route should be marked 
 
Langford Bridge 
Concern re traffic flows arising from the development.  Following completion of 
South Devon link road pressure and delays in and out of Abbotskerswell over railway 
bridge which is single lane and traffic light controlled and also along Priory Lane 
Development will cause massive increase in traffic over railway bridge causing big 
delays. Replace with wider two lane structure or connect straight on South Devon 
Link Road.  
Providing direct link to roundabout serving A380 slip road is surely better option 
Development must provide for second bridge via S106 
 
Totnes Road  
Neighbourhood 1 – access from Neighbourhood 1 onto Totnes road could become a 
dangerous junction and affect air quality by crawling traffic.  The stretch of road from 
end of Main Street where it joins the existing road near Cemetery, the Ogwell Cross 
roundabout, to be inadequate for the likely volume of traffic that will be produced. 
Two accesses onto Totnes Road very close together. Include traffic calming on Totnes 
Road 
 
Coach Road 
Road safety is an issue on Coach Road. Already dangerous for pedestrians and 
cyclists.  

 
 
 
See response from Devon County Council (Part 2) 
 
 
The County Council is progressing options for addressing 
the single track Langford Bridge to increase capacity. 
Langford Bridge is a Community Infrastructure Levy 
matter, not Section 106. 
 
 
 
 
 
A safety audit will be required which may result in some 
changes to the speed restrictions on Totnes Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
Road safety is always a careful consideration and 
constitutes material planning consideration. It is a fact that 
new development generates additional traffic and will 
impact on road safety. Once the Main Street is in place and 

148



31 
 

 
Coach Road obvious pedestrian/cycle route from new development into town centre, 
since all other routes are longer and involve steep climbs. Need coherent strategy to 
reduce traffic and increase pedestrian and cycle use on Coach Road 
 
Need improvements if going to use for vehicles as well as cycle/pedestrians 
 
Include traffic calming or reduction measures on Coach Road. Currently a rat run. 
Potential upside of NA3 development for local residents is to make Coach Road a 
“country lane” 
 
New road suggestions  
Cemetery Cross- Stonemans Hill – Priory Lane – South Devon highway. Series of 
roundabouts give access and exits to each of four neighbourhoods. 
 
Totnes Road – Bradley Lane via Bradley Park – adjacent to Steppes Meadow. Move 
lower football pitch and Bradley Lane will get upgraded service road 
 
More direct route between A380 and A381 as shown in Local Plan 
 
Need second bridge crossing over the railway line onto A380 
 
Move route away from Grade 1 Listed St Mary’s Church. A route that joins at 
Stonemans Hill (where footpath currently comes out) 
 
Remove speed bumps on Kingskerswell Road 
 
Construction traffic 
Build the Infrastructure / Main Street ahead of development 
 
Main Street will only be completed when Neighbourhoods 2,3 and 4 are completed. 
Considerable amount of time when construction traffic and half of allocated houses 
traffic will be accessing site from Totnes road side 

the resultant use of coach road is better understood 
provisions can be explored to ensure it is safe and suitable 
for the intended use.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The alignment indicated in the DFP for the main street has 
been carefully considered in terms of its primary function 
as a route to serve the development, but also divert traffic 
accessing the A380 from the A381 (or vice versa) from 
travelling through the centre of Newton Abbot. In order to 
achieve the latter, the route will need to be designed in a 
way that ensures it is a desirable alternative but that does 
not compromise connectivity throughout the 
development.  The route proposed through the revised 
masterplan is designed in such a way that does not have a 
significant adverse impact on the landscape or a negative 
impact on heritage assets. 
Speed bumps on KK Road installed for safety reasons. No 
plans to remove them. 
 
 
The DFP seeks delivery of the through route at the earliest 
possible stage in order to address concerns surrounding 
the impact of increased traffic on local roads and 
accessibility across the allocation 
 
 

149



32 
 

 
Construction traffic will use Bradley Road to access Coach Road 
 
Should set up a compulsory route for construction traffic via roundabout at Ogwell so 
vehicles aren’t tempted to use the most direct route 
 
The proposals ignore the impact the development will have on Wolborough Street 
which already suffers severely from traffic problems and excessive carbon emissions 
 
Already congestion issues going into Newton Abbot Town Centre from Ogwell Cross 
roundabout, this will be serverly increased by additional traffic flow.  Concern re 
traffic flows under railway bridge by Sainsburys 
 
Effectiveness of this road is limited because there is no means of providing a further 
connection on to A382 at Hele (thus linking the South Devon Link Road, the Totnes 
road, the Ashburton Road and Bovey Road at Forches Cross 
 
Parking 
Where will additional vehicles park when residents shop in Newton Abbot Town 
Centre? 
Much easier for NA3 residents to use willows where parking is free.  The Vision for 
Newton Abbot will therefore not be achieved.  

This will be considered through the planning application – 
Construction Traffic Management Plan  
 
The delivery of the through route will divert traffic away 
from Newton Abbot Town Centre therefore alleviating 
pressures from ‘through traffic’ on Wolborough Street and 
thus improving the air quality in this area. 
 
 
CHANGE - Para 3.15 of Revised masterplan includes 
reference to addressing local road network where 
necessary 
 
Not relevant to this masterplan.  Can be considered as part 
of Local Plan Review but connection considered unlikely to 
be feasible. 
 
 
Not part of this Masterplan. Town Centre regeneration 
developments will take account for adequate levels of 
parking. 

 Density Strategy 
Too many houses, using up lot of green space 
The reduction of the total number of houses is welcomed and a reflection of the 
complexities of the site.  As the complexities of the site become more apparent 
should reduce the number further to meet obligations for the area as set out in Local 
Plan e.g. respecting church, no impact on SSSI etc 

The adopted Local Plan Policy NA3 criteria c) requirement 
is to deliver at least 1,500 homes.  The revised masterplan 
reflects this. 

 Landuse Strategy 
MUGA detached from primary school. So lessons will be curtailed by necessary walk 
from the school to MUGA and back again.  Also, on fairly high ground should be on 
more level ground. 

 
The primary school site is of a sufficient size that the 
facilities required can be accommodated on-site.  It is 
therefore not reliant on off-site infrastructure.  I assume 
the MUGA is intended to be a community facility.   

150



33 
 

If MUGA goes ahead on high ground, flood lighting may be needed and cause great 
disruption to Greater Horseshoe Bat population. 

 Landscape (GI) Strategy 
Villages of Abbotskerswell and Kingskerswell will become part of Newton Abbot 
 
 
 
Need to include more references that the boundary with Abbotskerswell will be 
respected to ensure that the village retains its identity  
How much ‘new habitat will be created and enhanced in area/hectares? Will it just 
be a 2m strip either side of existing hedgerows or something more substantial like a 1 
hectare field? 
 
Strongly agree with creating high quality amenity spaces as the existing Decoy 
Country Play Area get extremely busy.   Need to be clearer on type of play space 
including both wet play and areas of play equipment for diverse age groups, toilets, 
possibly a café and parking. Only this will ensure a sufficient draw away from Decoy 
Country Park.  
 
All housing on edge of development should have integrated bat and bird boxes and 
where possible solar panels. Rainwater collected from gardens and flushing loos 
Concern no land reserved for cemetery extension 

 
Map on page 24 of Consultation Draft and page 20 of the 
Revised Draft shows ecological buffer and land retained in 
agricultural use which will be a buffer to development. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Detail on open space is included in the Infrastructure 
Schedule. See also para 3.43  
 
 
 
 

 Greater Horseshoe Bat Design Framework 
Flyways 
Para 3.40 Strategic flyways have been reduced from 500 metres to 50 metres. Has 50 
metres been scientifically proven to be sustainable? 
Bat corridor should be at least 50 metres and secondary corridors at least 20 metres 
wide 
Lighting 
Maintained at a sufficiently low level? 
Restrictions on lighting that housing, industrial units etc can install in the future to 
maintain the bat corridor 
Plans / studies / evidence 

 
 
Indicative Greater Horseshoe Bat framework supported by 
Natural England 
 
 
 
The impact of development at NA3 Wolborough on GHB 
has been considered and will be considered further.  As 
outlined on page 25. 
 

151



34 
 

If mitigation not deliverable elected Members must refuse the grant planning 
permission 
Exclude development in any areas near or adjacent to flyways 
University of Exeter identified that link road will have significant effect on GHBs 
Plans/studies should be part of this consultation. Should exclude all development 
until these documents are available for elected members and the public 
No evidence has been produced to indicate that mitigation strategies for GHBs are 
effective (this would include new mitigated areas, bridges, underpasses etc) 

 Drainage Strategy 
How will developers ensure methods they use are sustainable in long term? May silt 
up in future? How maintained?  
In extreme rainfall will Decoy lake rise? How will this be mitigated? 
Loss of land to act as a sponge when have intense and long period of rain. 
Is there sufficient sewage capacity? 
The Royal Haskoning report raised serious concerns around the movement or 
interference of the Fen 
Page 33 clauses 3.1 – 3.48 The acceptable standard for the maintenance of the 
Wolborough Fen SSSI should be ‘beyond all reasonable scientific doubt’. Drilling in 
the Fen catchment area will be detrimental. Drill holes often become aquifers 
Clause 3.48 suggests a number of different people/organisations will be responsible 
for various aspects of the SUDS maintenance. Should be one person taking 
responsibility that all six elements are properly undertaken at appropriate intervals 
and reports presented to Full Council. 
Considerable more work and investigation is necessary to cover, inter alia, the flood 
water and drainage problems. The results of any further tests must be made public 
and subject to professional scrutiny. 

The impact of the SUDs on local drainage has been 
considered. The ongoing maintenance of then will be the 
responsibility of an appropriate body.  Many solutions are 
low maintenance. 
 
A revised drainage strategy has been prepared in dialogue 
with Natural England and proposes a framework for 
further more detailed work through the planning 
application process. 

 Heritage Strategy 
Houses at 1, 2, 3 and 3A Coach Road are in Conservation Area and will be directly 
affected by development of Neighbourhood 2 
 
Enhance St Mary’s Church for the use of growing community. This may involve the 
layout of the community hub at Wolborough Barton Farm being sympathetic in its 

Further work has been carried out – Statement of 
significance and Settings Assessment for St Mary’s Church, 
Wolborough, Newton Abbot 
Work prepared in conjunction with Historic England.  
 

152



35 
 

relationship with church, including design language, car parking, signposting for all 
types of users and importantly easy crossing of Coach Road for pedestrians. (11) 
 
DFP concludes “moderate harm to the significance of “ Grade 1 Listed Church of St 
Mary . Historic England says development has ‘substantial harm’.  
 
Hotel not appropriate in this location. Should have small rooms for community use 
e.g scouts, guides, WI, exercise or craft groups. Small cinema. small restaurant 
 
Welcomes that the DFP demonstrates greater sensitivity and respects setting of St 
Mary’s and Conservation Area than previous planning applications.  If DFP combined 
with truly sympathetic designs of buildings constructed in the ‘Neighbourhood Hub’, 
that would help make the proposed development much more acceptable.  
 
Location of Primary School very overlooked by Church and will impact on rural 
setting. Green spaces that the school needs e.g. playing fields/forest school should 
be closer to Church than other buildings. 

CHANGE – Following work carried out on the emerging 
assessment of significance, changes made to Heritage 
Strategy in revised Masterplan document 
 

 Main Street Design  
Support ‘main street’ as it will go some way to avoid adding to inevitable further 
traffic chaos, in and around Newton Abbot 
 
The early delivery of the Main Street is not just essential but should be a pre-
requisite for any development. 
 
Will suffer from gridlock, aggravation and excessive carbon emissions. Part of it is 
running through valley with houses on each side. In short it will be another 
Wolborough Street 
 
Noise pollution – Main Street will cause significant noise nuisance for people living on 
slopes of Wolborough Conservation Area.  The prevailing south westerly winds and 
the topography of the area mean this a natural amphitheatre, amplifying any sounds. 
 

The intention of the Main Street is to serve as both a 
development road to access the various parcels of 
development, but also divert through traffic away from the 
town centre. 
 
 
 
Landscaping and positioning of buildings will need to be 
considered to mitigate any noise impact.  The road is 
intended to be speed limited so is not anticipated to cause 
significant noise pollution.  
 
 
The design of the through route will need to consider and 
include appropriate measures to reduce the impact upon 
air quality. Planning application for development will need 

153



36 
 

Main Street and its junctions will need to be designed to take considerable traffic 
flow and parking restriction along its whole length is necessary 
 
Main Street serves houses on both sides and will lead to major ‘cut and fill’ 
operations which will devastate the existing topography and produce housing layout 
which is overbearing and massively unattractive when viewed from Wolborough 
Conservation Area and St Mary’s church 
 
Concern Main street carriageway is to be only 6.5m width 
 
Concern Main Street will be a rat run between Torquay and Newton Abbot 
   
Conflicting description of key transport corridor and generous tree lined residential 
street 
 

Planned footpath and cyclepaths are commendable 

to demonstrate that the relevant junctions and local 
highway network will operate within capacity through a 
full transport assessment and traffic modelling. 
 
It is acknowledges that the construction of the road will 
require a certain amount of ‘cut and fill’ to ensure 
appropriate gradients and safe access can be achieved. 
However, the road will be designed in such a way that does 
not have significant adverse impact upon the landscape or 
on the listed building. 

04 Design 
Code  
(part 3) 
 
 

Neighbourhood hub 
- Set trigger for community space lower so delivered in timely fashion. 
- Should provide for whole of Newton Abbot not just this development. 
- Provide for youth – more recreational facilities, ability to learn new skills. 
- Need space for inhabitants to meet. Utilised by all ages, clubs and creative centres. 
- Newton Abbot Leisure Centre small swimming pool for growing community. 
- Support if provides things people need, shop, Post Office, restaurant, chemist 
- Hub next to Coach Road is distance from other Neighbourhoods which has 
implications for useage and financial viability of some facilities. Vehicular access from 
Neighbourhhod 1 to Stonemans Hill will probably help residents of that 
Neighbourhood to access the hub. 
- Part 4 includes reference to community building but not included on page 54-55 – 
cast doubt on how serious you are. 

Design Code (Part 3) removed from document.  
 
However, still requirement Local Plan Policy NA3 criteria 
(d) to provide social and community infrastructure 
including youth centre, local shops, community facilities 
and a site of 5 hectares for a 420 place primary school 
including early years provision and secondary school or 
other further education facility. 
 
Emerging Teignbridge Design Guide and Policy S2 in Local 
Plan 

 Neighbourhoods 
Neighbourhood 1 
Newton Abbot 66 pleased to see inclusion of formal playing fields. Ideal opportunity 
to work in partnership with the council to develop this aspect at early stage. 

Design Code (Part 3) removed from document.  
 
However, still requirement Local Plan Policy NA3 criteria 
(d) to provide social and community infrastructure 

154



37 
 

Concern regarding two access points off Totnes Road and Priory Lane (assume Priory 
Lane mistake and mean Cemetery Road from Abotskerswell?)  
Neighbourhood 2 
In Neighbourhood 2 at least half the allocated land is not only steep but also 
undulating in its topography, a unique and special characteristics of the area 
Page 88 of Local Plan (map) shows majority of land with Neighbourhood 2 as ‘Other 
green infrastructure’. DFP shows areas of residential. Why has this changed when 
landscape officer and historic England against this? 
Parking 
Minimum of 2 parking spaces per house as garages never used for cars and on street 
parking causes resentment. 

including youth centre, local shops, community facilities 
and a site of 5 hectares for a 420 place primary school 
including early years provision and secondary school or 
other further education facility. 
 
Emerging Teignbridge Design Guide and Policy S2 in Local 
Plan 
 

The Way 
Forward  
(part 4) 

Extremely important that Main Street is completed before substantial number of 
houses – say 200 – are constructed in Neighbourhoods 1 and 2. Ideally the whole 
development would start with Neighbourhood 4 and work westwards 
 
Include reference to Neighbourhood Facility in Neighbourhood 4. If facility is not a 
‘shell’ building for community use/ shop what will it be? 
 
Need for employment land is supported.  Reduced to 7 hectares on page 15,17 &25 
to just 3.5 hectares on page 71.  “Any shortfall to be delivered elsewhere” but no 
indication of where. TDC not serious about providing good employment 
opportunities.   

 
 
 
 
CHANGE – see Infrastructure Delivery Schedule 
 

SEA High standards of biodiversity and other environmental standards must be 
maintained. 

SEA not needed for guidance document. But requirements 
still fulfilled. 

HRA Very comprehensive document. Further survey effort needed for each 
neighbourhood area, which is good, still need take overall picture of bat and wildlife 
use for whole site. 

HRA not needed for guidance document. But requirements 
still fulfilled. 

 

155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 4 
 

PCL Planning Ltd, Registered Office: 1A Parliament Square, Parliament Street, Crediton, Devon, EX17 2AW 
Registered in England and Wales No. 8300933 VAT No. 923955793 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Fergus, 
 

 
 
Thank you for your email. It appears that there is a significant degree of 

misunderstanding between us. 
 

Neil Emery, who was present at the meeting, informs me that our team were 
quite clear that, regardless of the views that may be expressed relating to the 
understanding the historic context of the church, those views should not (and 

cannot) be used to justify an alteration of the boundaries of a site allocation. 
 

Given the output of the framework plan which followed (i.e. which seeks to vary 
the allocated areas), this can hardly be described as consensus.  I understand 
that the same discussion was had at the meeting last week. 

 
I will ask Neil to provide a more detailed response to the points of detail raised 

in your email.  I will also respond to some of the statements of fact which are 
not agreed.  However, in the meantime, there is no getting away from the point 
of principle that a non-DPD cannot alter the policies of the statutory development 

plan. 
 

You clearly do not appreciate the scale of the task in hand, it is not possible to 
‘work with the grain’ of the current draft to get to a position that would enable 
a DfP to be lawfully adopted/approved by the Council.  A more wholesale 

amendment would be required.   
 

Therefore, I have tried to summarise the points made in our correspondence to 
date on this point (including the Counsel’s Opinion) as a final attempt to avoid 

the need to lodge a legal challenge. 

PCL Planning Ltd 
13a-15a Old Park Avenue 
Exeter 
Devon 
EX1 3WD 
United Kingdom 
t: +44 (0)1392 363812 
www.pclplanning.co.uk 

Fergus Pate 
Principal Delivery Officer 
Teignbridge District Council 

Forde House 
Brunel Road 

Newton Abbot 
TQ12 4XX 

 
 
 

 
 

Your Ref 

Our Ref DS/PCL/1300 
Date   7th December 2018 

 

WOLBOROUGH BARTON -  17/01542/MAJ 
 

157

JQ001349_1
Typewritten text
Appendix C



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

PCL Planning Ltd, Registered Office: 1A Parliament Square, Parliament Street, Crediton, Devon, EX17 2AW 
Registered in England and Wales No. 8300933 VAT No. 923955793 

 

Needless to say, in the event that a legal challenge is necessary, we will draw 

this letter to the Court’s attention in the context of any discussion regarding 
costs. 

 
Why the DfP is Unlawful  
 

As we have explained on a number of occasions, the legislation is quite clear 
that if a document is produced that meets certain criteria, it must be prepared 

as a Development Plan Document.   
 
In this case, the relevant criteria are if a document  “contains statements 

regarding…the development and use of land which the local planning authority 
wish to encourage during any specified period …the allocation of sites for a 

particular type of development or use… “ or “development management and site 
allocation policies, which are intended to guide the determination of applications 
for planning permission” (see Regulations 5 and 6 of The Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012). 
 

If the DfP is intended to guide the “determination of applications for planning 
permission” or "a statement regarding…. the development of… land" it can only 

be lawfully prepared and adopted as a DPD with the result that the relevant 
consultation processes must be followed.   
 

It would not be lawful to adopt such a document by any other route: a DPD by 
any other name is still a DPD.  There is no way that this procedure can be 

circumvented. 
 
The DfP being pursued by the Council must be intended to “guide the 

determination of applications for planning permission” on this site.  Otherwise, 
the document has no function and would represent a considerable waste of 

resources. 
 
It as a matter of indisputable fact that the DfP seeks to change what has been 

allocated in the DPD in terms of the development boundaries, disposition of uses 
etc.  There is no getting around this without a complete reworking of the DfP.  

This issue cannot be solved through minor tweaks to the drafts or discussions 
about the historical context of the church. 
 

158



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

PCL Planning Ltd, Registered Office: 1A Parliament Square, Parliament Street, Crediton, Devon, EX17 2AW 
Registered in England and Wales No. 8300933 VAT No. 923955793 

 

Drawing the above together, the Council’s position only make sense if the 

intention is:  
 

1. to produce a DfP which is not consistent with the adopted policy; and 
2. use that DfP to effectively override the policies of the adopted 

development plan policy in the determination of planning applications. 

 
If I am wrong in the above assumptions, please could you explain: 

 
1. What status you consider the DfP would have in the determination of 

planning applications; 

2. Where the DfP departs from the adopted local plan policy, what weight 
you would give to the DfP and the statutory development plan policy 

respectively. 
 
In considering your response, please think about how this would play out in front 

of a Judge when being cross examined by a barrister.  Please be assured, this 
comment is not intended to come across as a threat.  However, I need you to 

very carefully and critically reconsider the Council’s position in the context of a 
potential legal challenge.  As noted below, if the Council continue as it intends, 

a judicial review is inevitable. 
 
I note that you intend to recommend that Members of the Planning Committee 

adopt the DfP. If you continue as proposed, we cannot stand with you for a 
number of reasons.  The principal reason is that a determination based on the 

DfP (i.e. an unlawful policy document) will be vulnerable to legal challenge.   
 
We appreciate that the course of least resistance may be to blindly follow the 

Council towards the adoption of the DfP and to give the Council everything it 
desires.  However, if we were to make an application in accordance with the 

adopted DfP and obtain planning permission, that planning permission would 
almost certainly be judicially reviewed. 
 

As you know, the local residents are primed and waiting to find another way to 
challenge the development of this allocated site.  There is no way that they 

would miss this opportunity in light of such a clear breach of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“the 2012 
Regulations”) particularly when there have been recent high profile Court 

159



Page 4 of 4 

PCL Planning Ltd, Registered Office: 1A Parliament Square, Parliament Street, Crediton, Devon, EX17 2AW 
Registered in England and Wales No. 8300933 VAT No. 923955793 

decisions on this exact point (see our Counsel’s opinion for details).  This is 

certainly not in anyone’s best interests. 

We cannot risk a judicial review of the grant of planning permission on our site. 
Therefore, if the Council will not reconsider its position regarding the lawfulness 
of the DfP, we will have no choice but to legally challenge the DfP ourselves. 

I acknowledge that you remain incredulous regarding our intention to lodge a 

legal challenge.  I can assure you that our intentions are genuine. It would a 
great pity for all involved if the Council continues in its current course simply 
because it doesn’t believe that a judicial review will be lodged. 

If, despite the contents of this letter (together with the numerous other letters 

that we have sent), the Council remains minded to proceed with the DfP as 
currently proposed, please let me know as soon as possible as my client will 
need to instruct his solicitors to start the Pre-Action Protocol procedure. 

Kind regards, 

 
For PCL Planning Ltd 

e:  

160



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

1

COUNCIL
CHAIRMAN: Cllr Avril Kerswell

DATE: 14 January 2019

REPORT OF: Martin Flitcroft, Chief Finance Officer

SUBJECT: Scheme of Members’ Allowances
and Members’ IT

PART I

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Council is recommended to:

a) Consider the recommendations made in the report of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel (Appendix I) and decide the Scheme of Members’ 
Allowances for the 2019/20 municipal year. 

b) Provide all Councillors with IT devices for the purpose of carrying out 
their District Council duties and remove the element for IT equipment 
from the Basic Allowance.

c) Thank the Independent Remuneration Panel for their report.

1. PURPOSE

1.1 In accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 Teignbridge District Council (TDC) reviews and publicises a 
scheme for the payment of Members’ allowances.  The last report from an 
Independent Panel was received by the Council on 25 January 2016.  The 
forthcoming elections in May provide a timely opportunity to review and for any 
changes to be in place for the new term.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 
require Councils to establish an Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) and 
to have regard to the recommendations made in relation to the Members’ 
Allowances scheme. 

2.2 Following the Strata Joint Scrutiny Committee on 31 May, the Strata Director’s 
report ‘Support of Councillor IT’ was taken to the Strata Joint Executive 
Committee (JEC) on 11 June 2018.  It highlighted the issues raised around 
Councillor IT equipment at Teignbridge and East Devon Councils and the 
challenges faced by Strata supporting Councillors’ privately owned equipment.  
At Exeter City Council, Councillors had been provided with iPads supported by 

161

Agenda Item 15



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

2

Strata, to enable them to access emails and various IT systems including 
Modern.gov.  A discussion was held at the meeting on the four available 
options outlined in the report. Representative Members considered the use of 
tablets for all its Members and ‘resolved that option 4 [Council provided 
hardware (tablet device)] be approved with implementation in May 2019.  
Councils would need to approve the budgets for this in their Council budgets 
for 2019/20.’

3. MAIN IMPLICATIONS – IRP report

3.1 Following the 2018 review of Members’ Allowances, the report of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) makes 6 recommendations to come 
into effect with the new term.  The full IRP report is attached as Appendix I of 
this report.

3.2 The main changes proposed by the Panel are:
 to increase the Basic Allowance by £500 – to ensure basic costs are 

covered;
 to replace future increases with Local Government pay award rather than 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) – TDC was the only authority in the 
benchmarking to use the index to increase allowances; 

 the updating of Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) multipliers – to 
identify appropriate differentials between various roles based on 
responsibility, accountability, time and effort;

 amending/clarifying of section 8 of the current Scheme of Members’ 
Allowances ‘Carers’ Rates’ – to assist those eligible to claim;

 updating of travel and subsistence claims – referred to in HMRC guidance; 
 the addition of a procedure for the payment of Special Responsibility 

Allowances during maternity or sick leave – in case of the need in the 
future. 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS – IRP report

4.1 The historic and proposed value of the Basic Allowance at TDC is shown in 
the table below.

Municipal year Basic Allowance % change previous year
2010/11 5,231
2011/12 4,969 -5.0%
2012/13 4,969  0.0%
2013/14 4,969  0.0%
2014/15 4,969  0.0%
2015/16 5,235  5.4%
2016/17 5,235  0.0%
2017/18 5,355  2.3%
2018/19 5,489  2.5%
2019/20 proposed by IRP 5,989  9.1%

162



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

3

4.2 The increase to 47 Councillors and an estimated CPI increase for the basic 
allowance to £5,627 has been budgeted for 2019/20.  By accepting the 
recommendations made by the Panel for the increase in the Basic Allowance 
and the changes to the multipliers for the Special Responsibility Allowances, 
there will be an additional cost to the annual revenue budget of £23,290.

4.3 Using CPI the Basic Allowance was increased by 2.3% in 2017 and 2.5% in 
2018.   A two year deal to employees was tabled by the National Employers 
for Local Government Services for 2018/19 and 2019/20 with a flat rate 
increase for the majority of grades of 2% in each year.  The Panel suggests 
from 2020 Members’ increases would be based on the percentage applied to 
the majority of Local Government grades.

4.4 The proposed replacement for section 8 ‘Carers’ Rates’, using wording 
contained in IRP report, is attached as Appendix II.  There have been no 
claims for the Carers’ Allowance so there is currently no budget for the 
allowance in 19/20.  Any cost from the dependants’ allowance is currently 
unknown, but would become a budget pressure if claims were received.

4.5 It is not anticipated the proposed changes to travel and subsistence will 
substantially impact the budget.  Neither will the transfer of SRA whilst a 
Councillor is on maternity or sick leave.

5. MAIN IMPLICATIONS - Members’ IT

5.1 The proposal from JEC for all Councillors’ to be provided with devices and IT 
support by Strata has been further investigated.  The chosen IT device would 
be used by all Councillors for all Teignbridge District Council duties, 
significantly increasing security and reducing the need for printing.

  
5.2 Strata recommend Apple iPads to those, including staff, whose main 

requirement from IT equipment is to be mobile, access emails and review 
attachments.  There is the option of a standard iPad (9.7”), a similar device 
provided to the Councillors by Exeter City Council, or the larger iPad Pro (A4 
size).  Strata advise for Councillors’ day to day use, accessing emails, internet 
browsing and minutes the standard iPad is sufficient.  For improved screen 
resolution, ease of use and detailed work the iPad pro would be more suitable.  
Alternatively laptops may also be considered.

 
5.3 Apple iPads are Strata’s preferred tablet option primarily due to increased 

security and reduced risk and because Android no longer offer a reliable, 
suitable, cheaper alternative.  The operating systems of an iPad (iOS) present 
a managed environment, providing full encryption enforced by Airwatch and 
regular Apple updates ensure the device is guarded against vulnerabilities.  All 
Strata systems are configured to work and integrate with iOS and Strata staff 
are trained to support and maintain the device.  

163



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

4

5.4 The functionality of the potential devices is summarised in the table below.

Laptop iPad (9.7") iPad Pro (A4)
Good For

Accessing Emails Accessing Emails Accessing Emails
Internet browsing Internet browsing Internet browsing

Office Based tasks Using purpose built Mobile 
Apps

Using purpose built Mobile 
Apps

Line of Business 
Systems via Global 
Desktop

Using touch applications Using touch applications

Working whilst sat down Standing up and using an App Transportable
Viewing documents Lightweight Viewing documents
Skype for Business Photos Photos
Bluetooth Connectivity Bluetooth Connectivity Bluetooth Connectivity 
Accessing Global 
Desktop Remote Security/Device Wipe Remote Security/Device Wipe

Offline Access to files Online or offline access to 
Modern.gov

Online or offline access to 
Modern.gov

USB based peripherals Device Tracking Device Tracking
Not Good For

Using touch applications Accessing Global Desktop Accessing Global Desktop
Quick access, due to 
login and security 

Using standard Line of 
Business Systems

Using standard Line of 
Business Systems

Working whilst standing Skype for Business Skype for Business
Photos Standing up and using an app

Can't do
Dedicated Mobile APPS Phone calls Phone calls
 USB based peripherals USB based peripherals 

    
5.5 The software and applications needed would be set up on the device by Strata 

before being passed to Councillors.  On an iPad this would include 
Modern.gov app, access to TDC emails through the Mail app, internet 
browser, SPARNET via the website, basic editing of Microsoft office 
documents and access to social media.  IT training would be provided to 
ensure the device can be used effectively.  

5.6 It is proposed Office 365 will be replaced.  Councillors will only be able to 
access their TDC emails on the device provided by TDC.  Councillors will be 
unable to use additional email accounts or their own apps on their Teignbridge 
device.  The device will have the benefit of increased security and if an iPad is 
lost or stolen, Strata are able to remotely remove data from the device.

5.7 The proposed iPads offer Wi-Fi connectivity only, although tethering (i.e. using 
internet access via a mobile phone) would be possible where the mobile data 
plan allows.  There are currently 10 Wi-Fi access points in Forde House, 2 of 
which are in the Council Chamber, which have a recommended 30 
connections, but a maximum of 128 each.  Modern.gov enables Councillors to 
work either offline or online.  Councillors would be able to connect to the TDC 
private Wi-Fi, rather than the public connection, which is only available to 

164



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

5

Strata managed devices.  It is likely Councillors would still need home 
broadband to be able to have online access at home.

5.8 If the recommendation is approved by Council, all hardware will be purchased 
before the elections and set up with the relevant applications by Strata before 
7 May.  IT training for all Councillors will be provided by Strata and completed 
by 10 May.  Existing Councillors standing for re-election are likely to be set up 
with a device and trained before May.  Strata will provide ongoing support, 
training and advice to Councillors and the Council provided device in 
accordance with their latest Business Plan.  Strata staff will only be able to 
deal with calls which have been logged, impromptu visits may not be 
accepted.  They can only deal with issues from the Strata office and are 
unable to make home visits.  Strata will not be responsible for a Councillor’s 
privately owned IT.

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS - Members’ IT

6.1 The cost, at the time of writing, of the two proposed models of iPads and 
laptops are set out below, based on 47 users and 49 devices (2 spares).  All 
Councillors would be given the same device.  The iPad pros with cases would 
cost in the region of an additional £27,000 compared to the standard devices.  
The initial purchase of the devices would be funded by existing IT capital 
budget and revenue contributions.

Description Unit price Total Year 1
iPad 9.7 32GB (Wi-Fi only) and case £275 £13,475 
or iPad pro (Wi-Fi only) and case £829 £40,621
or Laptop and case £625 £30,625
and monthly connection charge (ongoing) £5 £2,820

6.2 Paragraph 2 of the current Scheme of Members’ Allowances states members 
are required to meet the costs of their IT and broadband provision from the 
Basic Allowance.  This has historically been identified as £500.  If IT hardware 
is purchased and maintained by the Council, the Basic Allowance would be 
reduced annually by £400, retaining £100 as a provision for home broadband, 
as identified by the IRP.  The £400 would be retained by TDC to cover repairs, 
replacements, connection charges, software, licences and support by Strata.  
Councillors would no longer incur the costs relating to IT equipment and the 
reduction to the Basic Allowance reflects the transfer of responsibility to the 
authority.

6.3 The IT equipment is expected to last a minimum of 4 years but would not be 
replaced until the device was no longer fit for purpose.  Any accidental 
damage would need to be covered by the Councillor.  When a Councillor 
ceases being in office all hardware would need to be returned to TDC.  The 
Terms of Reference for elected Members would need to be updated to include 
an agreement for the use of IT equipment.

165



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

6

7. CONCLUSION

7.1 IRP report
The Council is recommended to thank the Independent Remuneration Panel 
for their time and report to assist Councillors in deciding the Scheme of 
Members’ Allowances for the 2019/20 municipal year.

Members’ IT 
7.2 At the Strata Joint Scrutiny Committee in May, the concern was minuted that 

the current policy for Councillors to purchase IT equipment from their basic 
allowance is a risk to a Councillors’ ability to function effectively.  Supplying all 
Councillors with IT equipment provides a greater opportunity for efficient 
working and is in line with the authority’s drive towards digitalisation.  It is a 
long term solution to reduce security risks and alleviate the majority of 
challenges faced by Strata in supporting Councillors.  All Councillor IT 
equipment would be aligned with up to date, transportable technology, 
configured by Strata thus enabling comprehensive support.  Sensitive data will 
be safeguarded, protecting Councillors, the Council and Strata.  The use of 
tablets at Exeter City Council has been very successful and East Devon 
Council are also intending to supply their Members with tablets supported by 
Strata.

Martin Flitcroft
Chief Finance Officer

Wards affected All
Contact for any more information Martin Flitcroft 01626 215246 or Clare Moors 01626 

215248
Background Papers (For Part I reports only) The Constitution

Independent Remuneration Panel Report
Strata Support of Councillor IT reports & minutes

Key Decision N/A
In Forward Plan N/A
In O&S Work Programme N/A
Community Impact Assessment attached: No
Appendices attached: I:  Report of IRP

II: Proposed amendment to section 8 of current 
Members’ Allowances scheme

166



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

7

Appendix I
Report of: Independent Remuneration Panel

Subject: 2018 Review of Members’ Allowances

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Council is recommended by the Independent Remuneration Panel to 
resolve with effect from 2nd May 2019 that:

1. The Basic Allowance payable to all Councillors increases from £5,489 to 
£5,989 for the municipal year;
 

2. CPI is removed and future increases in the Basic Allowance are linked to 
Local Government pay awards;

3. The Special Responsibility multipliers are updated as detailed in the 
report, including the introduction of an SRA for the Chair of Standards;

4. The Carers’ Allowance is renamed the ‘Dependants’ Allowance’ and 
updated as detailed in the report;

5. Rates and terms for travel and subsistence claims are updated as 
detailed in the report;

6. The scheme is amended to include a procedure for the payment of 
Special Responsibility Allowances during maternity or sick leave.

1. BACKGROUND

The Independent Panel operates under the provisions of the Local Authorities 
(Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The regulations state that an 
independent remuneration panel shall produce a report making recommendations 
and the authority shall have regard to the recommendations made before making or 
amending the Members’ Allowances Scheme.

2. PANEL MEMBERSHIP

2.1 Composition 
The Panel for 2018 consisted of five people, one from the voluntary and community 
sector, two representing business interests and two members of the public. 

2.2 The membership of the Panel is as follows: 
L Darbyshire – representing Teignbridge Council for Voluntary Services (Chair)
C Durowse – representing the business sector
L Howsam – representing the business sector 
M Millman – member of the public
D Stewart – member of the public

167



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

8

3. CONDUCT OF THE REVIEW 

3.1 Scope of the Review 
The Panel considered the current scheme of Members’ Allowances and revisited the 
areas identified in the last Panel report from the 2015 review.

3.2 Research and Findings
The Panel met on four separate occasions.  The Panel were provided with 
benchmarking for all of Teignbridge’s allowances against other local authorities and 
similar district councils as determined by CIPFA (The Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy).  Further information was requested by the Panel on 
specific areas.  The information was gathered from other local authorities, South 
West Council’s annual Members’ Allowance survey and other relevant bodies such 
as HMRC.  The Chair of the IRP also attended SW Council’s IRP Chairs’ meeting on 
allowances in June 2018.

All Councillors were invited to share their comments regarding levels of remuneration 
either in person or via email.  The Panel were disappointed with the level of response 
from Councillors, but would like formally to thank those who participated and 
contributed to the review. 
 
Interviews were conducted with: 
Cllr Christophers 
Cllr Clarance 
Cllr Ford
Cllr Hook 
Cllr Nutley 
Cllr Prowse 
Cllr Russell 
Cllr Wrigley

Emailed submissions were received from:
Cllr Haines
Cllr Lake

3.3 Scheme of Members’ Allowances
The Panel echoed the opinion of previous Panels that the Council’s Allowances 
Scheme should not discourage anyone from standing for public office on the grounds 
of cost.

3.3.1 Basic Allowance
The Basic Allowance is intended to acknowledge the time that all Councillors should 
spend attending meetings, dealing with constituency matters and representing the 
Council on external bodies, while recognising a voluntary element to their work.  It is 
also intended to cover expenditure incurred, such as IT equipment, internet access, 
stationery, postage and fuel when dealing with Ward matters.  

168



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

9

The Panel were conscious of rising costs and concluded the changes to the 
allowance are not reflective of the increases faced by Councillors, noting in 2011/12 
that the level was reduced from £5,231 to £4,969.  The median annual gross pay for 
all employed jobs in Teignbridge (produced by the National Statistics Office) had 
historically been used to calculate the allowance.  By revisiting the calculation, the 
2018/19 allowance of £5,489 fell short by £502.  The Panel recommend a one-off 
increase of £500, thereby increasing the allowance to £5,989 for the new municipal 
year to ensure that Councillors’ incidental costs are covered.

Included in the Basic Allowance is an element of IT allowance, which is identified as 
£500, of which the Panel identified £100 as provision for internet access.  In the 
event of any changes to the supply of IT equipment or IT support, the Basic 
Allowance will be reduced because the costs will no longer be incurred by 
Councillors.
 
The Panel is aware of the reluctance of elected Members to award themselves 
increases in allowances. The last review recommended that future increases should 
be linked to the Consumer Price Index (CPI) with a review of its use to be undertaken 
after four years, so that the newly elected Council in 2019, would not be bound by it. 
The Panel felt that it would be more appropriate for increases to be linked to Local 
Government officers’ pay, and it recommends the removal of the link to CPI.  

3.3.2 Special Responsibility Allowances
The 2013 Panel’s review made alterations to the multipliers for the Special 
Responsibility Allowances (SRAs) paid to Councillors for significant additional 
responsibilities. The Panel concluded that the proposed multipliers differentiate 
between the various roles and are representative of current responsibilities and 
workloads.

Special Responsibility Proposed 
Leader of Council Remain 3.5
Deputy Leader Remain 1.75
Executive Committee Remain 1.5
Chair of Planning Increase from 1.4 to 1.475
Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Remain 1.4
Chair of the Council Remain 1.0
Chair of Licensing Remain 0.75
Chair of Regulatory & Appeals Reduce from 0.6 to 0.5
Chair of Audit Scrutiny Remain 0.5
Vice Chair of Planning Remain 0.5
Vice Chair of the Council Reduce from 0.4 to 0.1
Deputy Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Reduce from 0.4 to 0.2
Vice Chair of Licensing Increase from 0.4 to 0.5
Vice Chair of Regulatory & Appeals Reduce from 0.25 to 0.2
Chair of Standards New 0.2 instead of £50 per meeting

The Panel acknowledged the growing relevance of the work of the Chair of 
Standards and agreed the Chair should be remunerated by a multiplier rather than 

169



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

10

claiming per meeting.  The multiplier is set to recognise the ongoing responsibility 
and increased workload of the role but recommend a review in 12 months’ time.

The current Members Allowance scheme states that only one SRA may be claimed 
by an individual councillor, with the exception of the Group Leader’s allowance.  The 
Panel were asked to consider the removal of the rule.  Although the decision was not 
unanimous the Panel resolved that the rule should remain unchanged as the 
distribution of Special Responsibility roles among all Councillors should be 
encouraged.  The Panel noted that the majority of councils used in the benchmarking 
process also enforce this rule.

In 2011 the Leader of the Council removed the Group Leaders’ allowance from the 
list of SRAs.  In 2014 the Panel recommended that it should be reintroduced and 
calculated by dividing the Basic Allowance by the total number of Councillors and 
multiplied by the number of Councillors in each group.  The Panel reviewed the 
arrangement and agreed that the Group Leaders’ Allowance should remain 
unchanged. In addition, because it is outside the committee structure, it should be 
excluded from the SRA remuneration rule.

Towards the end of the review, the issue of the absence of a procedure in the event 
of a Councillor with special responsibilities being unable to carry out their additional 
duties due to maternity leave or sickness, was highlighted by another council and   
the opportunity was taken to include this in the Teignbridge review. The Panel 
recommend that the scheme should be updated to recommend that for any period for 
which a Councillor is on maternity or sick leave, the SRA will cease and will be paid 
to the Councillor undertaking the additional duties, unless an SRA is already being 
claimed by that Councillor, in accordance with the SRA remuneration rule.

3.3.3 Co-optees’ Allowance
A Co-optees’ Allowance is payable to the independent members appointed to advise 
under the standards code.  The Panel considered that the Co-optees’ Allowance 
should be regarded as a token payment rather than reflecting an hourly rate.  As the 
service is partly voluntary and there have been no difficulties recruiting, the Panel 
resolved the allowance should remain unchanged.

3.3.4 Travel Allowance 
The Panel considered the current travel allowances for approved duties and 
recommends the allowance should be as the rates and rules set by HMRC and be 
automatically updated with HMRC changes. Claims are to be made within 1 month. 
The only change needed to the current rates is to reduce bicycles from 25p, to 
ensure that no tax liability arises.  

Car/van first 
10,000 miles

Car/van over 
10,000 miles

Passenger Motorcycles Bicycles

45p 25p 5p 24p 20p

The Panel would also like to take the opportunity to encourage Councillors to use 
greener methods of transport, such as public transport whenever practicable.  

170



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

11

Electric cars are included in the mileage rates and Councillors are eligible for the 
TDC cycle scheme.

3.3.5 Subsistence Allowance Claim Limits
Subsistence allowance may be claimed in connection with approved duties and 
should be submitted within 1 month.  The Panel recommends amending the 
allowance and adopting the rates and rules set by HMRC and to automatically 
update them in line with future HMRC changes.  Receipts must be provided to claim 
up to the following amounts:

Minimum journey time Maximum amount of meal allowance
5 hours £5
10 hours £10
15 hours (and ongoing at 8pm) £25

Where a scale rate of £5 or £10 is paid and the qualifying journey in respect of which 
it is paid lasts beyond 8pm, a supplementary rate of £10 can be paid to cover the 
additional expenses necessarily incurred as a result of working late.

3.3.6 Carers’ Allowance 
The Carers’ Allowance may be claimed when the care for a dependant has been 
engaged to enable a Councillor to carry out an approved duty.  The Panel believes 
that a robust allowance can play an important role in preventing the exclusion of any 
resident from standing at an election and thought it important to make suggestions to 
clarify the allowance and ensure that claiming it is not too onerous.  

The Panel felt that the current title implies that it relates only to the care of the elderly 
or sick, so would like to amend the name to the ‘Dependants’ Allowance’.  A 
dependant should be defined as a person needing the presence of a responsible 
adult including a child under the age of 14 years.  A dependant will either be a child 
of which the Councillor is the legal guardian or the spouse of the Councillor.  The 
care of the dependant does not necessarily have to be provided by a registered or 
professionally qualified provider, but it cannot be claimed for care carried out by a 
member of the same household.  In addition, it may not be claimed if the care is 
already paid for by another body or if claimed elsewhere.  A receipt would be 
required with the cost of the care, counter-signed by both the Councillor and the 
carer.  It was agreed that the allowance should contribute to reimbursing the cost of 
care but that it might not necessarily cover the whole cost.  A claim can be up to the 
NMW rate for aged 25+ per hour, automatically increasing as NMW increases.  If the 
actual hourly rate is lower, the actual sum paid would be reimbursed.  Special 
circumstances could be considered on an individual basis.

3.4 Previous Review 
The report of the last Panel requested a review in the future to seek evidence on the 
impact on Councillors’ work arising from The Care Act 2014 and work associated 
with attendance at Strata meetings.  The Panel concluded that no amendments were 
necessary for either of these areas. 

171



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

12

4. JUSTIFICATION FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

The Panel advises that its work is complete and makes the following 
recommendations: 

4.1 Basic Allowance 
The Basic Allowance payable to all Councillors should be increased by £500 from 
£5,489 to £5,989 from May 2019.

Panel’s rationale: The increase addresses additional expenditure, such as rising fuel 
costs, incurred by travel within their Ward, especially for those in rural areas. The 
increase of £500 will return the Basic Allowance to a level that ensures that such 
costs are adequately covered.  There is a growing public expectation that Councillors 
can be contacted at almost any time, and a fair Basic Allowance recognises the 
importance of their role and the good work most Councillors do for their electorate.

4.2 Annual increases to the Basic Allowance
The Panel recommends the removal of the link to CPI and that future increases be 
linked to Local Government officer pay awards applied at the start of each municipal 
year.

Panel’s rationale: It is difficult for Councillors to make decisions on their own 
remuneration, and the proposal to link the Basic Allowance to CPI removed this 
constraint.  The Panel now believes linking increases to officers’ pay is more 
appropriate but would still obviate the need and dilemma faced by Councillors when 
making annual decisions about their own remuneration. 

4.3 Special Responsibility Allowances 
The Panel suggests that the multipliers be updated as detailed in the report, including 
the introduction of a multiplier for the Chair of Standards.

Panel’s rationale: The proposed multipliers are a fairer reflection of work load and 
differentiate among the responsibilities of the various roles.

4.4 Carers’ Allowance 
The Panel recommends that the allowance be renamed the ‘Dependants’ Allowance’ 
and that it should updated as detailed in the report.

Panel’s rationale: Dependants’ Allowance is a more suitable description of the 
eligible claims.  The allowance should contribute to the costs incurred and, it is 
hoped, not discourage anyone with a dependant from standing as a Councillor.

4.5 Rates for travel and subsistence 
The travelling allowance and subsistence rates as recommended by HMRC should 
be used and automatically be updated in line with HMRC guidelines.

172



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

13

Panel’s rationale: These payments are not normally taxable because they are 
matched by an equivalent deduction for allowable expenditure.  They should be 
automatically updated to remain within HMRC rules.  

4.6 Procedure for payment of SRA during maternity or sick leave
The current scheme to be updated to include for any period for which a Councillor is 
on maternity or sick leave, the SRA will cease and will be paid to the Councillor 
undertaking the additional duties, unless another SRA is already being claimed, in 
accordance with the SRA remuneration rule.
Panel’s rationale:  The allowance is paid for the additional workload and 
responsibility which would not be undertaken by a Councillor whilst on leave.

5. CONCLUSION
The Panel concluded that their recommendations focus on providing fair 
remuneration for all Councillors.  

173



TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

14

Appendix II

Proposed amendment to section 8 of current Members’ Allowances Scheme

Dependants’ Allowance

The Dependants’ allowance may be claimed when a carer for a dependant has been 
engaged to enable a councillor to carry out an approved duty as defined in Appendix 
A.  [of the Members’ Allowances Scheme] 

A dependant is defined as a person needing the presence of a responsible adult, for 
example a child under the age of 14 years, or a person with a recognised physical or 
mental disability.  The dependant must reside with the councillor and either be a child 
of which the councillor is the legal guardian, or the spouse/civic partner of the 
councillor.
 
The allowance may not necessarily cover the whole cost of care but will provide the 
reimbursement of expenditure up to the current National Minimum Wage hourly rate 
for 25+.  If the actual hourly rate is lower, the actual sum paid would be reimbursed. 
The allowance will be paid for the duration of the approved duty, plus an allowance 
for up to one hour’s total travelling time before and after the meeting. 

The care of the dependant does not necessarily have to be provided by a registered 
or professionally qualified provider, but it cannot be claimed for care carried out by a 
member of the same household.  In addition, it may not be claimed if the care is 
already paid for by another body or if claimed elsewhere.  A receipt would be 
required with the cost of the care, counter-signed by both the councillor and the 
carer.  

Special circumstances could be considered on an individual basis.

The allowance will be updated annually in line with National Minimum Wage.

Payment of the allowance will be made under the powers of Section 111 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

174


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	9 Call-in of Executive decision Public Spaces Protection Order for Dog Control in Teignbridge
	Executive Report 4th December
	Extract Executive Minutes 4 December 2018

	10 Heart of the South West Joint Committee
	11 Council Tax Base 2019/20
	Report Council 14.1.19 appendix A ctb

	12 Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2019/20
	Appendix A -  Exec Report 04.12.18
	Council Tax Reduction Appendix B
	Appendix D BIA 2017-18 Review

	13 Council Tax Premium for long term empty
	Long term empty premium report to Exec 04.12.18 final, 04/12/2018 Executive
	CTPremium Appendix B

	14 Wolborough Development Plan Document
	Appendix A Revised Draft Wolborough Masterplan
	Appendix B - Wolborough masterplan constultation summary
	Appendix C - Applicant letter to Council

	15 Scheme of Members' Allowances and Members' IT

